

Dissertation

submitted for the degree of Dr. Agr.

'Field and Farm Size Optimization of Agricultural Ecosystems: Decision Making at the Local Government Level in Intensively Used Agricultural Lands in Germany'

Author: Amanda E. Eigner

Supervisor: Prof. Dr. E.-A. Nuppenau

2nd Supervisor: Prof. Dr. J. Aurbacher

Submitted on: November 15, 2017

Department of Agricultural and Environmental Policy at the Institute for Agricultural Policy and Market Research

Danksagung

An dieser Stelle möchte ich mich bei allen bedanken, die zur Erstellung der Arbeit in irgend einer Form beigetragen haben.

Zuallererst bedanke ich mich bei Herrn Professor Nuppenau, der mir trotz schwierigen Phasen während der Zeit als Doktorandin sein Vertrauen entgegen brachte. Er hat mir in seiner Rolle als wissenschaftlicher Mentor stets zum richtigen Zeitpunkt eine überschaubare Menge an hilfreichen Informationen gegeben und hat mich nach Ablauf des Stipendiums weiter gefördert.

In diesem Zuge bedanke ich mich bei den freundlichen Mitarbeiterinnen des Büros der zentralen Frauen- und Gleichstellungsbeauftragten für die Organisation und Aufrechterhaltung des Stipendiums zur Promotionsabschlussförderung.

Mein Dank gilt auch dem Präsidenten der Justus-Liebig Universität, der für die Vergabe des Stipendiums verantwortlich ist. Des weiteren bin ich dem Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung, unter dessen Schirmherrschaft das JAGUAR-Projekt finanziert wurde, in dessem Rahmen ich die Tätigkeit als wissenschaftliche Mitarbeiterin aufgenommen habe, zu Dank verpflichtet.

Bei Herrn Professor Aurbacher bedanke ich mich für die Unterstützung bei technischen Fragestellungen hinsichtlich der Modellierung. Durch die intensiven Diskussionen konnte ich außerdem wichtige methodologische Entscheidungen treffen.

Ein wichtiger Teil der Arbeit entwickelte sich aus Gesprächen innerhalb der Arbeitsgruppe, des Instituts, des Projekt-Teams oder der Zusammenarbeit mit anderen Instituten. Ich möchte mich bei allen Kollegen bedanken, mit denen ich Gedanken und Anregungen austauschen konnte. Der Austausch und der Umgang miteinander schufen eine sehr gute Arbeitsatmosphäre. Besonderer Dank gilt Keiko Sasaki, die mir dabei half die ökologische Komponente der Arbeit zu veranschaulichen.

Schließlich gilt mein ganzer Dank meiner Familie, die in vielen Stunden die Betreuung meines Kindes übernahmen und die mir seit der Elternzeit halfen, einen produktiven Arbeitsplatz zu schaffen.

Gießen, den 15.11.2017

Amanda Eigner

Eidesstattliche Erklärung

Ich versichere, dass ich die vorliegende Arbeit selbständig verfasst und keine anderen als die angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel verwendet habe, alle Ausführungen, die anderen Schriften wörtlich oder sinngemäß entnommen wurden, kenntlich gemacht sind und die Arbeit in gleicher oder ähnlicher Form noch keiner anderen Prüfungsbehörde vorgelegt hat. Ich stimme zu, dass die vorliegende Arbeit mit einer Anti-Plagiatssoftware überprüft werden darf.

Gießen, den 15.11.2017

Abstract

In recent decades, species diversity has been greatly reduced within agro-ecosystems, although political efforts to protect biodiversity exist (Batàry et al., 2015; Pe'er et al., 2014). The aim of this study is to show the spatial effects of long-term farming decisions regarding field and farm sizes in order to improve political impact analyses on biodiversity protection. The concept of socio-ecological resilience has a systemic and dynamic view that considers several interrelated scales and domains. Changes in one domain-scale combination might trigger others and lead to an irreversible regime shift throughout the whole socio-economic system (Kinzig et al., 2006) that is often less desired by society (Matthews and Selman, 2006). By applying this concept, our economic model creates relationships with other domains in order to get a comprehensive view of the socio-ecological system of the case study. In a sequence of linear mixed integer and non-linear programming models it covers spatial and temporal dimensions of structural change processes by considering economies of size. Farmers of three different farm types decide on their livestock production, the cultivation of crops and flowering strips, as well as their field and farm sizes. Using our innovative approach, the cropping and field size results were spatially translated via GIS. Based on the resulting maps, three different spatial biodiversity indicators were calculated and analyzed. The model was applied to a small municipality within intensively used agricultural lands in Hesse and tested three alternate political incentive schemes. Two of them were inspired by the new CAP reform 2020 and the results showed that for our case study, both were ineffective with respect to habitat quality. Moreover, the new CAP reform even accelerated structural change processes and led to a more homogeneous landscape with larger fields and fewer farms. In the third policy design, alleviation of structural change and the establishment of many more semi-natural habitats through incentive-based payment schemes led to higher levels of biotic diversity. Dairy farmers quit the agricultural sector in all simulated futures. This had impacts on the labour market and might influence population dynamics in rural areas. The interplay of spatial scales may shift dynamic agro-ecosystems into other ones, where they might be locked in and less resilient against perturbations (Walker et al., 2004). Therefore, political impact analyses need to consider economic long-term decisions at the farm scale and their spatial meaning at the field scale. Both scales interact and have impacts on the landscape scale.

Table of Contents

Lis	t of I	Figures	3	IX
Lis	t of T	Fables		XII
Lis	t of <i>I</i>	Abbrev	riations	xv
1.	Intro 1.1. 1.2. 1.3.	ductio Loss of Researc Study s	n f species diversity in agricultural landscapes	1 1 4 5
2.	State 2.1. 2.2. 2.3. 2.4.	e of the Theore 2.1.1. 2.1.2. 2.1.3. Concep Analyti Method 2.4.1. 2.4.2.	e art and model frameworks tical background Biodiversity and human well-being Resilience theory Socio-ecological resilience otual framework biological background clandscape-oriented agricultural modeling approaches clandscape-oriented agricultural modeling approaches clandscape and models clandscape pattern optimization models clandscape pattern optimization models clandscape approach clandscape approach clandscape approach cland temporal model assumptions cl	7 7 9 10 13 15 18 18 19 21 24 26 29 29 31 33
	2.5.	CAP 20	20 in short	37
3.	Res 3.1.	Socio-e 3.1.1. 3.1.2. 3.1.3.	Site ecological system of the case study Location and land cover: the ecological domain Population and demographic change: the socio-cultural domain Economy and agriculture: the economic domain	39 39 39 40 42

	3.2.	Agricul	Itural production system of the case study
		3.2.1.	Farm types and sizes
		3.2.2.	Crop production and prices
		3.2.3.	Livestock keeping
		3.2.4.	Soil treatments and yield levels
		3.2.5.	Field structure
		3.2.6.	Farm labour
		3.2.7.	Revenue and variable costs of production
		3.2.8.	Governmental payments and measurement participation
		3.2.9.	Energetic biomass production
		3.2.10.	Land tenure
л	EOI		rm ontimization at landagang goola
4.		AJ. Га Model	content in GAMS language 52
	4.1.		Sete
		4.1.1.	Sets
	4.0	4.1.2.	variables
	4.2.		Iteration model formulations
		4.2.1.	
		4.2.2.	Linear programming iterations
			4.2.2.1. Objective function
			4.2.2.2. Resource constraints
			4.2.2.3. Biophysical and legal constraints
			4.2.2.4. Livestock keeping
			4.2.2.5. Grassland constraints
			4.2.2.6. Equality constraints
		4.2.3.	Non-linear programming iteration
			4.2.3.1. Economies of size
			4.2.3.2. Objective function
			4.2.3.3. Resource constraints
			4.2.3.4. Land rentals and neighboring effects
		4.2.4.	Alternate political incentive schemes
			4.2.4.1. Mathematical implementation
			4.2.4.2. Iteration sequences
	4.3.	Spatial	model application: impacts on biodiversity indicators
5.	Res	ults	98
	5.1.	Critical	thresholds
		5.1.1.	Farm type losses
		5.1.2	Farm closures
		5.1.3	Increasing field sizes 109
	5.2	Stylized	d maps of agricultural lands in Wöllstadt
	53	Biodive	ersity indicators
	5.5.	531	Cron diversity 121
		5.5.1.	

		5.3.2. 5.3.3.	Semi-natural habitats	124 128
6.	Soc 6.1. 6.2. 6.3.	io-ecol The new Politica Modeli 6.3.1. 6.3.2. 6.3.3. 6.3.4. 6.3.5.	ogical resilience of the case study w basin of attraction al implications ng restrictions and development chances Structural change Land market Spatial aspects Policy designs Ecological model interlinkages	131 131 133 137 137 139 141 142 144
7.	Sum	nmary		147
Bil	oliog	raphy		151
Ар	pend	lix		XVII
Α.	Data	a: Land	scape transformation	XVII
В.	Data	a: Mode	el parameters	XIX
C.	Data	a: Farm	sizes	XXI
D.	Data	a: Grair	n price volatilities	XXII
Ε.	Data	a: Crop	prices	XXIV
F. Data: Fodder crops		XXV		
G.	Data	a: Crop	yields	XXVI
Н.	Data	a: Labo	ur coefficients	XXVIII
I.	Data	a: Proxi	imity functions	ΧΙΧ
J.	Data	a: EoS	Approximations	XXXI
К.	K. Data: Financial and cost coefficients XX			XXXIII
L.	L. Results: Land use patterns XX			XXXIV
М.	M. Results: Grassland farms X			XXXVII

N.	Results: Total gross margins	XXXVIII
0.	Results: Feeding practices	XL
P.	Results: Labour	XLII
Q.	Results: Biodiversity indicators	XLIX

List of Figures

2.1.	A: Domain-scale combinations and their interaction possibilities (arrows). B:	
	Critical domain-scale interactions of four case studies (solid lines indicate cascad-	
	ing effects in all case studies, whereas the dotted lines indicate cascading effects $(1, 2)$	10
• •	in two case studies) (Kinzig et al., 2006).	12
2.2.	Potential regime shifts at different domains and scales as well as interactions	
	among them. Boxes represent potential regime shifts, while arrows show interre-	
	lations among them. The black box indicates the starting point of our analysis.	
	Gray boxes indicate variables with defined critical thresholds related to our case	
	study. The figure is adapted from Kinzig et al. (2006)	16
2.3.	Our methodological framework in comparison to the ProLand model.	19
2.4.	Average labour requirements of all crops in the model depending on field size.	
	Data refer to an engine power of 120 KW (received from Ktbl on request)	32
2.5.	Overview of the consecutive model iterations and graphical representation of the	
	model results	36
31	Land use in Wetterau county in 2011 Source: own man based on Schlagkatatster	
5.11	ALKIS and ATKIS data provided by the 'Hessischen Landesamt für Umwelt und	
	Geologie' (HLUG)	41
3.2	Average farm size development in Germany (1979-2010) Source: Statistisches	
0.2.	Bundesamt (2013)	46
3.3.	Time series for grain prices: Darmstadt district (2000/01 - 2014/15). Source: Ktbl	10
0.01	(2016)	48
3.4.	The municipality Wöllstadt with its field structures in 1945. Source: Orthophotos	10
	received from HLUG.	51
3.5.	The municipality Wöllstadt with its field structures in 1970. Source: Orthophotos	01
	received from HLUG.	51
3.6.	The municipality Wöllstadt with its field structures in 2017. Source: GoogleMaps	
	(2017-01-19).	52
3.7.	Agricultural field structure in Wöllstadt (2011). <i>Left:</i> Original land parcels; <i>right:</i>	
	Land parcels after editing (see text). Source: GIS data received from HLUG	53
4.1.	Overview of the iteration procedures to simulate structural change processes at the	
	field, farm, and municipality levels. Dotted arrows indicate information transfer	
	and solid arrows indicate iteration results.	65
4.2.	Execution logic for modeling alternate political incentive schemes	93

5.1.	Stylized land use and field size results of the 1st iteration of the baseline model.	114
52	Farmers fields are scattered within the agricultural area of the study site Stylized land use and field size results of the 2nd (left) and 4th (right) iterations	114
5.2.	of the baseline model. Fields are perfectly consolidated: numbers mark each farm.	117
5.3.	Stylized land use and field size results of the 2nd iterations of the alternate policy	117
	designs: CAP I (left), CAP II (middle), and 'nature-focused' (right). Fields are	
	perfectly consolidated; numbers mark each farm.	119
5.4.	Stylized land use and field size results of the 4th iterations of the alternate policy	
	designs: CAP I (left), CAP II (middle), and 'nature-focused' (right). Fields are	
	perfectly consolidated; numbers mark each farm	120
5.5.	Spatially explicit Simpson's diversity index calculation for each iteration of the	
	baseline model (left: 1st iteration, middle: 2nd iteration, right: 4th iteration).	
	Source: author's own results.	123
5.6.	Spatially explicit semi-natural habitat index calculation for each iteration of the	
	baseline model (<i>left:</i> 1st iteration, <i>middle:</i> 2nd iteration, <i>right:</i> 4th iteration).	105
57	Source: author's own results.	125
5.7.	baseline model (left: 1st iteration, middle: 2nd iteration, right: 4th iteration)	
	Source: author's own results	130
		100
6.1.	Main variables of the possible interactions between different domains and scales	
	including a feedback loop at the ecological patch scale. Figure adapted from	
	Kinzig et al. (2006)	145
A.1.	Landscape transformation via GIS: aggregated farms and rectangular stylized	
	decision units within the study area.	XVIII
D 1		
D.1.	Density functions for grain prices: Darmstadt district (2000/01 - 2014/15). Source:	vviii
	$\mathbf{K}(D) (2010). \ldots \ldots$	ллш
Q.1.	Spatially explicit Simpson's diversity index calculation for the 2nd (<i>left</i>) and 4th	
	iterations (right) of CAP I	L
Q.2.	Spatially explicit Simpson's diversity index calculation for the 2nd (left) and 4th	
~ •	iterations (<i>right</i>) of CAP II.	LI
Q.3.	Spatially explicit Simpson's diversity index calculation for the 2nd (<i>left</i>) and 4th	T TT
0.4	iterations (<i>right</i>) of the 'nature-focused' policy design.	LII
Q.4.	spatially explicit semi-natural nabitat index calculation for the 2nd (<i>left</i>) and 4th iterations (right) of CARI	ттт
0.5	Spatially explicit semi-natural habitat index calculation for the 2nd (left) and 4th	LIII
Q.J.	iterations (right) of CAP II	LIV
0.6	Spatially explicit semi-natural habitat index calculation for the 2nd (<i>left</i>) and 4th	
×	iterations (<i>right</i>) of the 'nature-focused' policy design.	LV
Q.7.	Spatially explicit number of patches index calculation for the 2nd (<i>left</i>) and 4th	
-	iterations (<i>right</i>) of CAP I.	LVI

Q.8.	Spatially explicit number of patches index calculation for the 2nd (left) and 4th
	iterations (<i>right</i>) of CAP II
Q.9.	Spatially explicit number of patches index calculation for the 2nd (left) and 4th
	iterations (right) of the 'nature-focused' policy design

List of Tables

3.1.	Proportions of farm types in Wetterau county regarding their economic orientation for 2003, 2007, and 2010 (%). Source: Statistische Ämter des Bundes und der	
	Länder (2013b); Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2012j,j)	45
3.2.	Land use in Wöllstadt and the Wetterau county in ha and % (2011). Source: GIS	
	data (Schlagkatasterdaten) received from HLUG	48
3.3.	Descriptive statistics for grain price time series of the Darmstadt district (2000/01	
	- 2014/15). Source: (Ktbl, 2016)	49
3.4.	Financial model capacity parameters: liquid monetary amounts per farm size	55
4.1.	Model sets: declarations and descriptions	60
4.2.	Model variables: declarations, types, and descriptions.	62
4.3.	Policy designs with respective parameter dimensions	89
5.1.	Comparison between the land use results of the baseline model and the policy	
	design models with respect to the reference point and the 4th model iterations.	100
5.0	Values are written as percentages of the agricultural area in Wöllstadt.	100
5.2.	Comparison of all model runs with respect to the total gross margins (TGMs) at	107
5.2	the municipality level in Euros.	107
5.5. 5 4	Average field sizes of the baseline model per farm in ha.	110
5.4.	Amount of farms and average farm and field sizes of all model runs at the	110
55	municipality level in na	112
5.5.	level compared to HLUC data of the calibration year (2011)	115
56	Simpson's diversity indicators of the baseline model and alternate policy designs:	115
5.0.	descriptive statistics of stylized mans based on pixel data	122
57	Semi-natural habitats of the baseline model and alternate policy designs $(\%)$:	122
5.7.	descriptive statistics of stylized mans based on pixel data	126
58	Number of patches in the baseline model and alternate policy designs: descriptive	120
5.0.	statistics of stylized maps based on pixel data	128
		120
B.1.	Model parameters: scalars and their units, values, and references	XX
C.1.	Initial farm sizes of the baseline model and field lengths of the stylized rectangular	
	farms	XXI
E.1.	Crop prices used as parameters for the model in Euros/dt. their year of collection.	
	regional scale, and references.	XXIV

Fodder crops and their nutritional contents. Source: LfL (2017)	XXV
Yield levels used as parameters for the model in dt per ha, their year of collection, regional scale, and references.	XXVII
Labour coefficients of the model activities in Akh/ha or stable place and year for different field sizes and livestock keeping activities. Source: Ktbl (2013a,b)	XXVIII
Proximity functions for each crop: machine costs per labour hour. Calculated based on data from Ktbl (2013a)	XXIX XXX
Labour requirement equations for each crop: labour hours per ha approximated for an average field size of 3 ha. Calculations based on data from Ktbl (2013a).	XXXII
Financial and cost coefficients of the model activities. Source: Ktbl (2013a,b)	XXXIII
Baseline land use results of the linear programming iterations as a % of the cropping area at the municipality level compared to statistical data of the calibration year (received from HLUG).	XXXIV
Land use results of the linear programming iterations as a % of the cropping area at the municipality level for the sensitivity analysis on grain prices Land use results of the linear programming iterations as a % of the cropping area at the municipality level for the sensitivity analysis on higher and lower land rent	XXXV
prices	XXXV XXXVI
Farms with permanent grassland in ha and distribution to farm types. Results are the same for the baseline model as well as for the sensitivity analyses on lower and his here land most.	VVVVIII
Farms with permanent grassland in ha from the 1st iteration of the sensitivity analysis on grain prices and distribution to farm types.	XXXVII
Total gross margins (TGMs) of the 1st and 2nd iterations of the baseline model per farm in Euros.	XXXVIII
Total gross margins (TGMs) of the 4th iteration of the baseline model per farm in Euros.	XXXIX
Feeding practices of all pig fattening farms for the linear programming iterations. Feeding practices of all dairy farms for the linear programming iterations	XL XLI
Off-farm and hired labour per farm for the 1st iteration of the baseline model Off-farm and hired labour per farm for the 2nd iteration of the baseline model Off-farm and hired labour per farm for the 4th iteration of the baseline model	XLII XLIII XLIV
	Yield levels used as parameters for the model in dt per ha, their year of collection, regional scale, and references

Off-farm and hired labour per farm for the 1st iteration of the sensitivity analysis
on grain prices
Off-farm and hired labour per farm for the 2nd iteration of the sensitivity analysis
on grain prices
Off-farm and hired labour per farm for the 4th iteration of the sensitivity analysis
on grain prices.
Farm sizes in ha and off-farm labour in hours of the 4th iteration of the alternate
policy designs.

List of Abbreviations

	ABM	Agent-based	model
--	-----	-------------	-------

- AES Agri-environmental schemes
- ANP Agri-nature premium
- CAP Common agricultural policy
- CBD Convention on Biological Diversity
- DC Direct costs
- DM Dry matter
- DP Direct payments
- EFA Ecological focus area
- EoS Economies of size
- ES Ecosystem services
- GAMS General algebraic modeling system
- GIS Geographical information system
- HALM Hessisches Programm für Agrarumwelt- und Landschaftspflegemaßnahmen

HLUG Hessisches Landesamt für Umwelt und Geologie

- KW Kilowatts
- MC Machine costs
- MW Megawatts
- MWh Megawatts per hour
- NABU Naturschutzbund
- SC Service costs

- SES Socio-ecological system
- SP Sustainability premium
- WTO World Trade Organization

Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1. Loss of species diversity in agricultural landscapes

Where have all the flowers gone?' is the beginning of an American pop song written by Peter Seeger and later translated into German known under the title 'Weißt du wo die Blumen sind?'. The song is against war in which, after flowers, girls, men, soldiers, and finally the graveyards also disappear. Although the topic of this work is somewhat different from war, the song text reveals some inspiring notions. It indicates that at the beginning of a horrible development, aesthetic values, having a deep meaning for individual sensations, vanish first and have to make way for overriding aims. The view of cultural landscapes are often shaped by aesthetic, romantic, and historical ideas and therefore inherit high cultural values. However, when taking a walk through rural areas where agricultural production dominates land use, these ideas and expectations are often not met. Instead of enjoying the sound of busy insects, singing birds, or the beauty of plentiful butterflies and sweet-smelling flowers while walking along naturally shaped ditches surrounded by alley trees and idyllic lush pastures and cornfields, agrarian deserts with monoculture and only a few natural landscape elements that provide shelter and food for a diverse fauna open up. What we often actually smell is diesel from big machinery, pesticides, and fertilizer, giving space only for the intended and economically valuable crops.

Over the last decades, one third of the breeding bird species have disappeared from German landscapes, and farmland birds are affected most severely (Wahl et al., 2015). Besides birds, populations of other species also continue to decrease. As an example, Sorg et al. (2013) found out that the biomass of fluctuating insects declined by more than 75% between 1989 and 2013 in a nature conservation area near Krefeld, which is close to the border of the Netherlands. Insects not only deliver essential ecosystem services such as pollination or pest control but also serve as fodder for birds and other predators. As another example, in central Germany, the regional species pool of vascular plants declined by 23% since 1950 (Meyer et al., 2013). Mammals are

also affected by high extinction rates. The population of hares has declined by 50% within the last ten years (Wildtierschutz Deutschland e.V., 2015). The list of species extinction is long and cannot be presented here. There is a general trend to biotic homogenization, which means that specialists are gradually displaced by generalists with yet unknown impacts on future ecological and evolutionary processes (Julliard et al., 2004; Olden et al., 2004).

First countermeasures for decreasing environmental quality and its associated biodiversity loss in Europe were already implemented on behalf of the MacSharry reform of the common agricultural policy (CAP) in 1992 in the shape of so called agri-environmental schemes (AES). At the same time, CAP reforms promoted farm productivity and a higher efficiency through farm modernization (Burrell, 2009). This endeavor is grounded in increasing competition pressures originating from liberalization processes that are advanced by the World Trade Organization (WTO). Whilst political countermeasures against environmental degradation failed (Kleijn et al., 2006), farm productivity goals were reached by utilizing economies of size (EoS). Larger fields lead to lower costs and thus increase productivity (Johnston and Mellor, 1961). Hötker and Leuschner (2014) hold agricultural field consolidation accountable for many habitat type changes, which led to an intended homogeneity and thus simplification of landscapes. The main reasons for biodiversity losses are agricultural intensification (Hendrickx et al., 2007; Bengtsson et al., 2005; Tscharntke et al., 2005; Fuller et al., 2005), the loss of extensively used grassland, fallow ground, other habitat types (Settele et al., 2010; Benton et al., 2003; Sanderson et al., 2009; Batàry et al., 2010; Cornulier et al., 2010; Wahl et al., 2015), and the decline of landscape heterogeneity (Hendrickx et al., 2007; Sanderson et al., 2009; Batàry et al., 2010; Vandermeer, 2011; Tscharntke et al., 2011; Doxa et al., 2012).

The new 'CAP towards 2020' reform seems to put a high priority on environmental issues (European Commission, 2013). However, in the public debate the new reform is discussed controversially. There is a lot of concern that the new CAP reform follows a green-washing strategy (Matthews, 2013), which would imply that the European Commission is sustainable with respect to their mission to be steeled for market competition without being serious about environmentally destructive economies. In any case, improving ecosystem services and species diversity has not yet been effectively addressed by the CAP reforms (Batàry et al., 2015; Pe'er et al., 2014). Against warnings of the German scientific advisory board for biodiversity and genetic resources to reduce landscape elements such as hedges, natural habitats, field strips, or fallow land to less than 7% of the agricultural area (Gerowitt et al., 2012), the new 'CAP towards 2020' reform planned only 5% of these semi-natural habitats, which are implemented as so called 'ecological focus areas' (EFAs). On these EFAs, certain crop types and cropping management

practices are even allowed¹. The German advisory board further emphasized the importance of diversifying agricultural production (*ibid.*). Especially with respect to climatic changes, diverse or mosaic landscapes that offer habitat requirements for species are urgently needed. In earlier times, temperature changed in comparable dimensions, and species could react easily either through dispersion or through microclimatic variations. Nowadays habitat fragmentation hampers these strategies and climatic change could in fact be fatal for biodiversity (Pearce-Higgins et al., 2015).

Following the new crop diversity strategy of the 'CAP towards 2020' reform, in most regions not many farmers are supposed to change their crop rotation schemes (European Commission, 2016). For example, in the Wetterau county in central Germany, which is an agriculturally intensified area, the main crops in 2010 were wheat (45%), rapeseed (13%), and barley (7%) (Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt, 2012j). The most intensively producing municipality within the Wetterau county cultivates 51% wheat, 16% sugar beets and 11% rapeseed as main crops. Even there farmers easily fulfill the new crop diversification plans of the EC council without being forced to change their usual crop rotation schemes. Similar criticism arose for EFAs. A new study of Lakner and Bosse (2016) showed that the implementation of EFAs has high deadweight effects.

Academics have been developed sustainability indicators with the aim to improve natural resource management and policy (Woodhouse et al., 2000). However, by means of effectiveness, resource management ought to change from a rather relativistic to an absolute view including absolute limits. The gap between what is known to be done in order to improve the allocation of natural resources and natural life-supporting systems, and what has actually been done rises, and normative aspects of humans' impacts on the ecological system should not be excluded from the scientific agenda. Small political steps in the right direction are positive but won't improve the situation and won't stop the system from collapsing (Fischer et al., 2007).

First political attempts to set absolute limits on critical biodiversity thresholds for Germany were made in 2010 by the Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation, Building and Nuclear Safety (BMBU). The BMBU (2010) summarized all catastrophic phenomena regarding biodiversity losses on the basis of several indicators describing the status of flora and fauna. They found that eleven of thirteen biodiversity indicators are far beyond what is required to reach the desired biodiversity goals of the CBD.

¹Annex X of the supplementing Regulation (EU) No. 1307/2013 of the European Parliament

1.2. Research objectives

The aim of our study is to analyze spatial impacts of political incentive schemes. Using GIS, we seek to show local landscape dynamics induced by farmers' decision making and the impacts on biodiversity. Within the ecological impact assessment, we focus on pollinators such as bees who deliver important ecosystem services. The spatial representation of farmers' decision making is characterized by the following:

- field and farm sizes.
- cropping changes.
- participation in environmental measurements in the mode of flowering strips.

Our case study is a municipality within an intensified agricultural area in Hesse, Germany. Particularly in intensified areas, political measurements to enhance biodiversity in agro-ecosystems are not effectively implemented (Batàry et al., 2015). Temporal planning plays a crucial role in political targeting since long-term processes may undermine biodiversity goals (Beunen et al., 2013). Therefore, we take into account structural change as a slow but concurrent social and economic process. It will be modeled by considering incentives to use economies of size.

This leads us to the hypothesis that the new CAP 2020 reform does not match with the goal of enhancing biodiversity due to structural change within the study site. Our research questions are further formulated as follows:

- 1. To what extent is the socio-ecological system of our case study influenced by the new CAP 2020 reform?
- 2. How efficient is the CAP 2020 reform with respect to the intended European biodiversity targets within the study site?
- 3. Is a restructure of governmental payments in order to improve biodiversity protection within the research area superior?

The research questions are further divided into several secondary questions, which we will address before we set up our conceptual and analytical framework. They are summarized in the following:

1. Why is it necessary to sustain biotic diversity within agricultural farmlands?

- 2. Which processes within socio-ecological systems need to be considered for governmental impact assessments on biotic diversity?
- 3. How can farmers' decisions technically be linked with the field and landscape level?

1.3. Study structure

Chapter two starts with theoretical concepts about the connectivity between biodiversity and human well-being. It elaborates on resilience thinking since we regard agricultural systems as being part of social and cultural systems. Since we emphasize biodiversity protection, resilience thinking within socio-ecological systems forms the conceptual and analytical framework of our study. The following part of the chapter covers our methodological background. It summarizes philosophies of landscape-oriented agricultural modeling approaches that strive to assess governmental impacts on human-environmental systems and leads to a synthesis upon which our applied modeling approach is based. In the last part of the chapter we summarize the common agricultural policy (CAP) reform towards 2020 in short.

Chapter three is dedicated to our research area. It outlines the socio-ecological system of our case study with respect to the conceptual framework of the previous chapter. In doing so, it depicts the ecological, socio-cultural, and economic domain of the case study. Afterwards, an overview of the agricultural production system is given. It builds the data foundation for our mathematical model.

In chapter four our mathematical model is finally described in detail. The first section starts with explanations regarding the model content as well as the programming language used. The mathematical model formulations are presented in the second section. Our three alternate political incentive schemes are delineated therein. They are aligned towards the CAP 2020 reform and other more radical policy suggestions. The third section covers the description of our chosen biodiversity indicators that we will apply to measure changes in biodiversity in order to assess the political impacts of our three different policy designs.

Chapter five gives an overview of the model results. Results are evaluated with respect to our analytical framework and are set in relation to findings of other authors. After that, simulated spatial land use patterns are visualized and presented. They form the sandbox for our spatially

explicit biodiversity indicator calculations, which are analyzed at the end of the chapter.

In chapter six, we classify our findings in a broader context and contrast them with respect to our conceptual framework. Further clues on changes in biotic diversity due to political control within the study site are given here. Thereafter we outline methodological issues within the given framework conditions. At the end of this chapter, research needs and model proposals are elaborated.

The last chapter summarizes our work and gives final conclusions.

2 State of the art and model frameworks

This chapter is concerned with theoretical foundations of human-environmental systems and practical sides of their modeling applications. In the first section, theoretical concepts about biodiversity and the connection with human well-being are depicted. Thereafter, resilience theory within socio-ecological systems is considered. Based on the socio-ecological resilience theory, the conceptual framework of our model has been developed. It leads us to our analytical framework against which we are going to evaluate our model results (in chapter five). The fourth section outlines the methodological background of landscape-oriented agricultural modeling approaches. After a literature review that summarizes several modeling techniques, we develop our modeling approache. It is a synthesis of the presented model approaches. The fifth section gives a short overview of the new common agricultural policy (CAP) reform 2020. It delivers an orientation for the development of three alternate policy schemes, which we will apply to our model.

2.1. Theoretical background

2.1.1. Biodiversity and human well-being

Academics involved in human-environmental disciplines often capture the impact of natural resources and processes on human well-being through the concept of ecosystem services (ES) established by the *Millennium Ecosystem Assessment* founded in 2001. It considers nature as an important and essential provider of basic living conditions from which humans benefit. The intention of the ES concept was to operationalize essential natural processes for humans' natural resource use due to critical resource depletion and degradation processes occurring around the globe. This ought to shift attention onto the preservation of natural resources and ecosystems (Millenium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005). However, some conflicts with respect to definitions

and the usefulness of the ES concept exist (De Groot et al., 2010). Mainly ecologists are critical of the connotation that nature provides its services *for* humans. They would rather talk about ecosystem functions that maintain the ecosystem and all living species therein. This directs the focus onto the natural system as a whole, which operates due to biotic diversity (Spangenberg and Settele, 2010).

Conceptual and methodological uncertainties about how to address natural systems and how to connect ES with biodiversity remain (Kremen, 2005). This is mainly caused by big knowledge gaps in underlying biological processes and due to interdisciplinary communication issues between social and natural scientists when it comes to the valuation of ES (Bockstael et al., 1995; Noss, 2007; Jackson et al., 2007; Meinard and Grill, 2011). Nevertheless, there are agreements about the supporting function of biotic diversity on food production and other ES, such as nutrient cycling, pollination, pest control, and cultural recreation (Millenium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005).

Biodiversity as such is not easy to grasp (Duelli, 1997). The multidimensional notion of biodiversity is reflected in a huge variety of indicators measuring biodiversity. One hundred highly diverse indicators are nominated for the evaluation of the 2020 goals of the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) (Pereira et al., 2013). By increasing one of these indicators, another might decrease (Mouysset et al., 2012). Most attention and protection is given to charismatic species. The decision about which biodiversity indicator to take depends on certain basic framework conditions of the study under investigation and is additionally influenced by intrinsic values (Metrick and Weitzman, 1998)¹. In order to overcome normative biases, other ecological concepts with broader views have been developed. They have the notion of not knowing everything about the functioning of ecosystems and the living species therein. The concept of ecological memory, for example, considers the health of whole ecosystems and assumes that their functioning maintains the provision of services upon which humans depend (Bengtsson et al., 2003). The health of ecosystems strongly depends on regulatory processes, and the ability to self-organize is the highest predictor for the delivery of ES (Müller, 2005; Kay, 1993).

Connected to ecosystem health are other concepts such as ecological integrity or resilience. Ecological integrity as a general principle strives to prevent unspecific ecological risks by protecting ecosystem patterns and processes (Barkmann et al., 2001). Ecological patterns and processes are strongly interlinked and mutually adapted, which makes the system more efficient in generating ES (Müller, 2005; MacCann, 2000; Ives and Carpender, 2007; Keesing et al., 2010; Tilman et al., 2002). The older an ecosystem is, the more disparate biotic and abiotic patterns emerge. The more numerous and diverse these patterns are, the more complex their interactions are and the higher

¹This is then called the *Noah's Ark problem*.

the degree of information (Forman and Godron, 1986) is. Therefore, '[...] the appropriate level of biodiversity is a necessary condition for the sustainability of any managed system' (Perrings, 1998, p. 514). This goes hand in hand with the insurance hypothesis claiming that high biodiversity levels keep ecosystems functioning (Naeem and Li, 1997).

2.1.2. Resilience theory

The resilience theory evolved in the early eighties and was significantly shaped by C.S. Holling. Holling (1973) challenged the usefulness of traditional equilibrium-oriented and quantitative analyses of ecological systems. He suggested focusing on the behavior of ecological systems and their elements. According to that, the total number of species or the change in numbers should not be the focus, but rather what kind of conditions are needed for the probability of species survival. Holling [*ibid*.] considered resilience and stability as two unique characteristics of ecological systems as a result of evolutionary strategies and defines them as follows: 'Resilience determines the persistence of relationships within a system and is a measure of the ability of these systems to absorb changes of state variables, driving variables, and parameters, and still persist' and: 'Stability [...] is the ability of a system to return to an equilibrium state after a temporary disturbance' (Holling, 1973, p. 17).

Ecological systems can have high resilience, but a low stability and vice versa. The higher the heterogeneity in space and time, the higher the resilience. Management approaches adapted to the resilience theory need a shift in perspective since they do not predict the future in numbers of species left. They rather assess the capacity to absorb and accommodate future events (Holling, 1973). Ecological models need to be open and consider heterogeneity in time and space where unexpected events occur. Studies confirm that the lower the diversity of a system is, the lower the capacity to recover and the lower the ecological resilience is (Bengtsson et al., 2003).

Gunderson and Holling (2001) supplemented the resilience theory with the concept of adaptive cycles. They claim that an ecological system passes through a typical two-dimensional cycle visualized as a recumbent eight. The two dimensions are stored capital and connectedness. Depending on the starting point and direction, four phases follow upon each other: (a) an exploitation phase, in which stored capital and connectedness are low but increasing, (b) a conservation phase, where stored capital and connectedness are highest, (c) a release phase, where stored capital decreases to the utmost and connectedness drops, and (d) a reorganization phase, where the stored capital again accumulates, having a low connectedness. As such, the resilience theory is free of normative aspects. It tries to quantify the state of an ecosystem and whether the

ecosystem remains in that state, or how far it is from switching into another one (Brand and Jax, 2007).

In social, economical, and environmental science, resilience theory is often mixed up with the normative concept of sustainability and is further used in a broader perspective in order to to analyze socio-ecological systems at multiple scales (Cumming, 2011; Folke, 2006). Due to its use in several scientific disciplines, a clear distinction between ecological resilience and social-ecological resilience has to be made. Ecological resilience is a well and precisely defined concept for applications in ecological science. On the contrary, socio-ecological resilience, which is used in interdisciplinary studies, does not claim to be quantifiable and has a rather vague conceptual framework including normative connotations (Brand and Jax, 2007).

2.1.3. Socio-ecological resilience

Matthews and Selman (2006) used resilience thinking to combine human and natural aspects by focusing on the landscape as a multifunctional and holistic entity that underlies intrinsic dynamic and cyclic changes as described in Gunderson and Holling (2001). Landscapes are created through human practices and particularly through agricultural land management. Therefore, landscape changes are driven by natural pressures, social and economic needs, unconscious actions (e.g. demographic trends or human-induced climatic changes), and human perceptions of how landscapes should look. As a result, today's cultural landscapes are characterized by agricultural land intensification or rural abandonment, both leading to landscape homogenization and perceived cultural value losses within the society. According to that, Matthews and Selman (2006) differentiated between virtuous and vicious cycles, meaning desired and undesired basins of attractions. They promoted modeling approaches should take into account economic, social, and natural components interacting with each other. The authors suggested modeling policy impacts and how far they stabilize socio-ecological systems or whether they lead them into other (virtuous) basins of attraction.

The concept of socio-ecological resilience combines resilience theory with socio-ecological systems. It has the capacity to shift the manner of thinking about economic-ecology dynamics from an equilibrium paradigm to a broader view of system interactions at multiple scales that operate around instead of at an equilibrium (Anderies et al., 2006). The concept of socio-ecological resilience is in its infancy but bears lessons from management practices since it reveals important parts of system dynamics. Socio-ecological systems (SES) are open systems that permanently adapt to material, energy, and information flows. They are determined by human and natural

components (Berkes et al., 2003).

Walker et al. (2004) borrowed the adaptive cycle concept of resilience theory and transferred it to SES in order to contribute to sustainability research. They assumed that an SES passes through dynamic development phases regarding stored capital and connectedness, i.e. without changes in the framework conditions, and moves within its so-called *basin of attraction*. Precariousness as one of the components making up a basin of attraction is defined as the distance of the current state of the system from a threshold limiting the basin. The probability to cross a critical threshold is determined by the resistance of a system, which can be understood as the depth component of the basin. The level of the system's (social) ability to control the components of a basin without leading it to another one is defined as adaptability. Transformability is the capacity of a basin to transform into a totally new and desired system. Within a so-called stability landscape, several basins that are separated by their thresholds can exist. Scales above or below a considered variable influence the dynamic behavior of SES, which is referred to as panarchy.

SESes need clear definitions of their state variables with regard to location and level as well as their connections. In order to measure changes in the resilience of a socio-ecological system, a reference system is needed (Cumming, 2011). However, numbers for the components of a stability landscape are often not quantifiable or even understood completely, and the location as well as thresholds of a current state (regime) are not known. Thresholds are hard to define since they underlie altering processes of slowly changing variables at higher levels of ecological self-organization, on stochastic events outside of the system, and on dynamics within and between the sub-systems (Scheffer and Carpenter, 2003; Carpenter, 2003). Interrelations across ecological, social, and economical domains may lead to changes in or passings of thresholds (Walker and Meyers, 2004). Every kind of connectivity changes within ecosystems affect the socio-ecological resilience of a system. A full description of an SES and its current location within a basin of attraction according to its components in order to measure the socio-ecological resilience is challenging and has not yet been reached (Cumming, 2011). More detailed information is needed in order to understand forces and feedbacks that might trigger regime shifts. Models that take into account network structures at multiple scales and domains are required in order to gain more insights into the dynamics of SES (Anderies et al., 2006).



Figure 2.1.: A: Domain-scale combinations and their interaction possibilities (arrows). B: Critical domain-scale interactions of four case studies (solid lines indicate cascading effects in all case studies, whereas the dotted lines indicate cascading effects in two case studies) (Kinzig et al., 2006).

2.2. Conceptual framework

The systemic view regarding the delivery of ES is one strategic level of implementing a political impact assessment within our study. It requires a holistic understanding of human-environmental systems. The other strategic level of conducting our political impact assessment refers to the systematic and technical procedure in which we focus on the spatial translation of farmers' short and long-term decisions. This procedure will be described in more detail in section 2.4.2 after a comprehensive literature review of practical modeling applications in section 2.4.1. In the following, conceptual framework suggestions of socio-ecological systems are presented. These conceptual frameworks deliver practical guidance to define thresholds and system components of our case study.

With respect to the research questions, we test whether the new CAP 2020 reform is capable of leading the system of our case study into a desired basin of attraction. As described above, a switch from one to another basin of attraction is determined by the resilience of an SES. Therefore, a conceptual framework that allows one to operationalize resilience thinking is required. What has been 'desired' is aligned to the German national indicator report of the BMBU (2015). According to that report, only 66% of the biodiversity target within agricultural land was reached in 2008. The political aim was to reach 100% by the year 2015. Newest results showed that in 2011, the biodiversity indicator level had even decreased to 56% (BMBU, 2015). Since then the BMBU has not released an updated version of the German national indicator report. We take these numbers as a benchmark. Assuming that the target is reached at the one hundred percent mark, biodiversity indicators need to increase at rather high rates in order to reach the biodiversity targets.

However, which variables drive the system into a desired state? Ecological and social systems are intertwined, and the conditions of resilient systems need to be examined. The socio-ecological resilience concept is targeted to deliver a holistic view of human-environmental systems (Fischer et al., 2007; Perrings, 1998). With the concept of socio-ecological resilience, several domains and scales of a system are addressed (Walker et al., 2004). They are delineated in the following.

Kinzig et al. (2006) used the socio-ecological resilience theory to develop a conceptual framework that focuses on regime shifts and cascading effects. They considered interrelated scales with respect to their ecological, economic, and sociocultural domains. Within a domain, influences on the dynamics of SES at three scales can occur:

- small scale (patches).
- the medium scale (farms, managed entities).
- the large scale (regions).

All possible interactions between scales and domains are depicted in figure 2.1 (A). Within one domain-scale combination (gray box), changes can occur without leading to a regime shift. However, if a critical threshold is reached, domain-scale regime shifts can induce a regime shift in the whole system, which results in a new basin of attraction.

The authors characterized the current state of a system with a few main variables that were defined by simplistic thresholds. Thresholds were, for example, a certain commodity system, the level of farm debt, the size of the rural population, or the area of soil salinity. For practical reasons, the systems under investigation was defined by a manageable number of state variables. These variables determined the current location of the SES within a basin of attraction. If a threshold was reached, a regime shift followed. The authors defined a regime shift as '[...] any drastic change in the properties of a system resulting from smaller perturbations or smooth changes in independent controlling variables [...]' (Kinzig et al., 2006, pp.2). In analyzing several case studies, they found that at most five (of nine) domain-scale combinations occurred in which regime shifts took place (see figure 2.1 B). This amount of regime shifts always led to a new regime of the whole SES and was less desired than the regime before and irreversible (hysteresis effect). The authors further found out that a single domain-scale regime shift can lead to a cascading effect, resulting in a new basin of attraction. Interrelated ecological regime shifts took place at the 'patch' scale, whereas economic regime shifts happened at the medium ('farm') scale. Regime shifts at the regional scale, however, occurred in all three domains. Large-scale changes within the socio-cultural domain have been much faster than large-scale changes within the ecological system. Therefore, feedbacks from social systems onto ecological systems might appear to be time delayed. On the other hand, small-scale changes within the socio-cultural system have often been slow. In order to understand the behavior of SES, short as well as long-term perspectives of socio-ecological systems need to be taken into account (Kinzig et al., 2006).

According to these findings we focus on the critical domain-scale combinations of figure 2.1 (B). The following scales are addressed:

• the field scale by recognizing of field sizes, which determine field margins.

- the farm scale by taking into account farmers' decisions on cropping patterns, farm and field sizes, as well as the participation in environmental measurements in form of flowering strips.
- the landscape scale by considering the interaction between several farms and farm types as well as by assessing impacts on biotic diversity.

In order to capture long-term effects on biodiversity, structural change processes as slowly changing variables within the economic domain are also considered. The following domains are addressed:

- the ecological domain via the calculation of spatial biodiversity indicators.
- the economic domain by simulating farm optimizations.
- the socio-cultural domain by taking into account farm type developments and labour possibilities within the agricultural sector.

Equipped with these aspects and the basic conceptual framework of socio-ecological resilience, our study shows possible future cascading effects of policy changes leading to regime shifts before they actually happen. A regime shift within a domain and scale is defined as a change in the respective variables so that a critical threshold is reached. These thresholds are dynamic and are affected by the state of other variables below or above the considered variable (Walker et al., 2004). Due to knowledge and information gaps, science has lacked adequate models to identify and define critical thresholds until now. Arbitrary threshold assumptions are made based on available data, and focus is put on the regime shifts that follow (Kinzig et al., 2006; Cumming, 2011). In the next section, we will define our critical thresholds.

2.3. Analytical framework

The economic argument at the farm scale is a slowly changing process of structural change induced by the exploitation of economies of size (EoS). EoS are defined as an average (fixed) cost reduction per unit of production due to an increase in farm size (Duffy, 2009). Larger farms have lower per unit costs than smaller farms (Chavas and Barham, 2007). In order to increase labour productivity, technical progress is needed. Therefore, EoS are often accompanied by capital-intensive investments and a lower complexity in production steps. This also includes spatial attributes such as field structures (Chavas, 2008). EoS have successfully increased land



Figure 2.2.: Potential regime shifts at different domains and scales as well as interactions among them. Boxes represent potential regime shifts, while arrows show interrelations among them. The black box indicates the starting point of our analysis. Gray boxes indicate variables with defined critical thresholds related to our case study. The figure is adapted from Kinzig et al. (2006).

and labour productivity through land consolidation and farm specialization (Johnston and Mellor, 1961; Chavas, 2008). Expensive machinery is only profitable if scale enlargements are feasible (De Roest et al., 2017). This is the starting point of our analysis.

Figure 2.2 summarizes the potential regime shifts of our case study and their interactions. These are simplistically formulated potential shifts in a certain direction (e.g. from 'high' to 'low'). With this figure we want to show interrelations among the observed domain-scale combinations and link them with biodiversity, which is our target value. We identified seven domain-scale combinations that may directly or indirectly affect biodiversity. For three of these combinations, we defined critical threshold levels. They are indicated as gray boxes and are subsequently defined as driving variables for which we will evaluate their trajectories.

Kinzig et al. (2006) have deducted critical thresholds from historical observations. In one of the case studies² analyzed, they found that a critical threshold within the socio-cultural domain was reached when the number of farming enterprises declined from 23,000 to 8,000 between the late 1960s and 2003. In parallel, from the beginning of the 1970s, consolidation and amalgamation of farms took place, which led to increasing land and water degradations (Walker and Salt, 2006, chapter 2). At around the same time in Germany, between 1975 and 1990, the indicator for biotic diversity on farmland of the national report fell from the one hundred percent mark by around 20%. It arrived at a state far below the target value from where it could not recover up to now BMBU (2015). Between 1979 and 1991, the amount of farms in Germany reduced by around 30% (Statistisches Bundesamt, 2013). On the basis of these historical values and the case study mentioned above, we define the critical threshold with respect to the amount of farms. The critical threshold is reached if one-third of the farms of our case study close down.

As noted before, farm growth is the starting point of our analysis (see the black box of figure 2.2). On the one hand, if farms grow bigger (due to EoS), field sizes increase at the 'patch' scale. The critical threshold at the 'patch' scale is reached if average field sizes increase more than double. Unfortunately, neither in general nor at the local level was information about historical changes in field sizes available. However, farm size increased by 83% between 1979 and 1991 (Statistisches Bundesamt, 2013). Brady et al. (2012) and others assumed a correlation between farm and field size. By including an additional buffer (of 17%) this value seems to be legitimated.

The critical threshold at the farm scale is linked to the degree of specialization. In Hesse, the specialization of farms is already high (Berger, 2012). If farms become more specialized while mixed farm types disappear, fewer crop types might be cultivated at the 'patch' scale. As specialization processes weaken the economic resilience of farms due to greater risk exposures (De Roest et al., 2017), each loss of farm type crosses the critical threshold at the farm scale.

Regionally, both effects at the economic 'patch' scale may lead to lower landscape heterogeneity and therefore reduce biodiversity within the ecological domain. A less heterogeneous landscape as well as low biodiversity may also lead to a reduction in rural population since the landscape is less attractive. It no longer represent cultural values (Manos et al., 2013). If farms close down due to farm size changes, at the regional scale, the amount of rural population might decrease (Knickel et al., 2017). By using EoS and simplifying farm structures with respect to their types, less farm labour might be required since fewer farms remain as potential employers. This, too, may lead to a reduction of the rural population.

² 'The Western Australian Wheatbelt'

With this systemic view of the three different domains and scales, we try to get deeper insights into background processes that occur within the landscape of our study site. In considering interrelated regime shifts, we will delineate possible scenarios in the case study that depict different political incentive schemes.

2.4. Methodological background

The theoretical background covers the conceptual and analytical framework of our study. It combines a systematic approach with several domains and scales and is the first strategic level of conducting a comprehensive political impact assessment. The second strategic level for the political impact assessment focuses on the temporal and spatial scale. Therein the methodological base for our case study is developed, which will be outlined in the following sections.

2.4.1. Landscape-oriented agricultural modeling approaches

Interdisciplinary modeling approaches associated with agricultural production are widely used in human-environmental research (Kissinger and William, 2010). A huge amount of applications exist and to review all of them would be far beyond the scope of our work. Reviews can be found in Rossing et al. (2007), where they focused on integrative modeling approaches, in Barthel et al. (2012) with the focus on climate change and water resources, in Kragt et al. (2016) with the main emphasis on bio-economic modeling, or in Kanter et al. (2016) who summarized all kinds of trade-off analyses within the agro-ecological context regarding their tools, parameters, and methods.

Bio-economic farm models stress economic farming decisions and the effects on ecosystems, which enable them to assess policy changes and technological developments (Jones et al., 2016). There is a vast variety with respect to the spatial scale (from the global to the local and even the field scale), the farming decision model type (e.g. linear programming or agent-based models), and the temporal scale (different types of stochastic and dynamic models) (Janssen and van Ittersum, 2007).

The following sections are dedicated to applied economic process-based agricultural modeling approaches, which put the landscape at the core of their research. In order to narrow the literature review, we focus on economic models being part of some selected interdisciplinary modeling approaches mainly conducted in Germany. We outline the differences between the chosen approaches with respect to their agricultural system modeling and particular attention is given to the spatial scale.



Figure 2.3.: Our methodological framework in comparison to the ProLand model.

2.4.1.1. ProLand model

As part of a project on the development of land use concepts for peripheral regions³, the Justus-Liebig University of Giessen employed more than 30 researchers from thirteen institutes working either in the Faculty of Biology and Chemistry or the Faculty of Agricultural Sciences, Nutritional Sciences, and Environmental Management. From 1997 to 2005, the Institute of Agricultural Business Operations, one of the latter faculties, was commissioned to develop a spatially explicit land use model in order to predict land use patterns with respect to technological and political developments: the ProLand model (Möller et al., 1998). The Aar watershed in central Germany was taken as the research area, representing a marginal region that faces land abandonment and demographic decline. Several scenarios about the effects of policy interventions or changes in socio-economic, technical, or natural conditions were applied (Weinmann et al., 2006; Schroers, 2005; Möller et al., 2000). For further calculations, the resulting land use maps were transferred to abiotic and biotic models (Weber et al., 2001; Fohrer et al., 2002). Waldhardt et al. (2010) applied the ProLand model to the Wetterau region in Hesse. They used ProLand in order to calculate normative scenarios based on the results of ecological models.

³Sonderforschungsbereich 299: Landnutzungskonzepte für periphere Regionen.

ProLand produces agricultural and silvicultural land use patterns based on bio-physical and socio-economic characteristics. With respect to graphical implementation, ProLand is a GISbased⁴, comparative-static, and deterministic economic simulation model that is suitable for raster or vector elements as decision units. Depending on the size of the research area, it works with 25 m by 25 m grid cells (Weinmann et al., 2006). For each grid cell, it chooses the optimal land use by maximizing the land rent. This procedure, however, causes friction since the land rent theory does not represent the actual value of the land (Czyzewski and Matuszczak, 2016). There is evidence that agricultural subsidies, for example, increase land rents and reward land owners instead of farmers (Patton et al., 2008; Ciaian and Kancs, 2012). Intrinsic land values such as recreational and visual values partly determine land rents (Wasson et al., 2013; Delbeq et al., 2014). Taking the land rent as a single decision criterion for land use does not seem appropriate. By working at the regional scale on maximizing land rent per pixel, the modeling design abstracts from the agricultural farm level. The farm level, though, is the crucial scale where decisions are made and is affected by individual resource availabilities and socio-economic factors (Kenny, 2017)⁵. In ProLand, interrelations between farms and microeconomic coordination processes within farming homesteads that drive land management are not considered. The authors argue that this is necessary for stressing spatial aspects and for improving interfaces with natural science models (Schroers, 2005). However, we challenge this argument and have developed a model that integrates economical and spatial land use decisions by taking into account the field, farm, and regional scale.

Figure 2.3 shows a comparison between our framework and the methodological framework of ProLand. In ProLand, simulations take place at the field level, where revenue and cost calculations on the base of socio-economic and biophysical factors lead to a certain land use type that maximizes the land rent within each grid cell (Weinmann, 2002; Schroers, 2005). In Fohrer et al. (2002), different field sizes were taken as input parameters for modeling production costs with the ProLand model. Farming decisions on field sizes were not simulated, though. On the contrary, our approach transfers spatial landscape characteristics into spatial decision units⁶ and operates at the field, farm, and landscape scale. The spatial decision units have certain land uses (cropping patterns), field sizes defined by $a_i \times b_i$), and farm sizes ($a_i \times B_j$). a_i of Fig. 2.3 defines the length of a field and b_i the field width. Based on mathematical optimization routines, we use an iterative process to calculate field and farm sizes separately but not independently from each other. First of all, the model calculates the optimal land use and field sizes under the given (predefined)

⁴Geographical information system

⁵Farm models will be described in the next sections.

⁶For all calculations, ArcGIS from ESRI group is used.
farm sizes. After that, our model optimizes the farm sizes under the given (preprocessed) land use decisions. How this will be conducted and which model outputs will be transferred to the next iteration will be shown in section 2.4.2 after a detailed description of the farm scale. Therefore, it is necessary to look into the literature on farm models, based on which we will develop our model.

2.4.1.2. Farm models

Farm models can be used in interdisciplinary modeling approaches that investigate humanenvironmental interrelations in taking into account farmers' decisions (Jones et al., 2016). In order to simulate farmers' decision making at the farm level, mathematical programming models are often used (Wossink et al., 1992). Simple linear programming models maximize a linear function by calculating the optimal combination of a set of variables subject to linear inequality and equality resource constraints (Dantzig, 1963).

According to Hazell and Norton (1986, pp. 10-11) a simple linear programming farm model that maximizes the total gross margin Z can be written as follows:

$$Z = \sum_{j=1}^{n} c_j x_j = max!$$
 (2.1)

such that

$$b_i \ge \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} x_j \tag{2.2}$$

and

$$x_j \ge 0, \tag{2.3}$$

where

- x_j is the level of land use activity for n numbers of activities (j = 1, 2, ..., n).
- c_j is the gross margin of one unit of the *jth* activity.
- a_{ij} is the demand of the *i*th resource required to produce one unit of the *j*th activity.
- b_i is the resource endowment for m numbers of resources (i = 1, 2, ..., m).

Depending on the model complexity, several variables with more than one index can be optimized in order to maximize the target value. The elements of i and j cover the components of any optimization problem. In GAMS⁷, the modeling software we used, they are summarized as 'sets'

⁷General Algebraic Modeling Software

(Rosenthal, 2017).

One example of a spatially simple representation of land use is the 'Landschaftsmodell Kraichgau'. It describes the effects of land management on the profitability of farms, soil erosion, nitrate depletion, and habitat quality according to different political scenarios. It was developed by Dabbert et al. (1999). The approach includes socio-economic as well as biotic and abiotic aspects, which were modeled by corresponding disciplines. As ProLand, it operated with a geographical information system (GIS), which served as interface between the interdisciplinary modules of the model complex. In order to unify data exchange, the spatial reference units of all models were 50 m by 50 m grid cells. The modeling concept was strongly influenced by landscape planning views, emphasizing the visualization of results and scenarios at the spatial scale (Herrmann, 2000). The economic module as part of the whole model complex was based on a comparative static linear programming approach. It aggregated farms of several municipalities and calculated the optimal land use decisions of the grouped (average) farmers. The land use results were allocated based on biophysical or stochastic models (Dabbert et al., 1999). Aurbacher and Dabbert (2011) enhanced the allocation of (economic) land use results with a Markov chain approach in combination with a minimum cross entropy approach. In order to cover soil erosion variability, conventional farming practices were extended by more environmentally friendly soil treatment practices, and nitrate balances were computed based on land use results. As it is conventional in such optimization models, maximization of total income of all aggregated farms was taken as an objective function. Large areas were homogenized, which led to a high spatial imprecision regarding farm management decisions and practices. Landscape and field structures were not considered at all. However, within the same research area but for two smaller case studies, Aurbacher (2010) developed a linear optimization model at the farm scale that took into account the field scale in order to calculate production costs of different field shapes.

Kenny (2017, pp. 5) noted, that '[...] some element of spatially explicit mapping is especially important for any farm model seeking to integrate considerations of natural capital.' Since spatial scales between socio-economic decisions and the provision of environmental services and biodiversity do not match in these kinds of modeling approaches (Mottet et al., 2005), environmental effects such as carbon sequestration or groundwater strains were investigated (see for example Barthel et al. (2012)). These ES do not occur within the same location where the actual agricultural management takes place.

Several attempts to overcome these spatial mismatches were made with continuously improving

results. One example is a spatial application of a linear programming model that was developed by Kächele (1999). He showed that it is possible to connect economic land use results with ecological models on a very accurate spatial scale if enough data is available. On behalf of a project, the author developed a decision support system for stakeholders within the context of severe conflicts between land users and conservationists. The research area was the German national park 'Lower Odra Valley', where, along with total reservation areas without any human interventions, grassland production mainly takes place. The study included 23 farms that cultivated 334 agricultural fields. A survey of all farms was conducted in order to gather information about the location of each farmer's fields and other production factors such as holding capacities, capital, and contracts. The developed MODAM model (multiple objective decision support tool for agroecosystem management) simulated the optimal amount and allocation of nature preservation areas by considering their spatial allocation. The author applied multiple goal programming, and economic income maximization was constrained by ecological preservation goals. The ecological goals were a certain amount of land and connected area for conservation purposes. However, the land belonged to farmers. In order to find the best solution, income losses of farmers were minimized through spatial considerations of conservation land that farmers were forced to enact. Each field was represented by a polygon of the underlying GIS-database, and land use scenarios were visualized (see also Kächele and Dabbert (2002)).

The background of the MODAM model was very specific. For example, typical agri-environmental schemes (AES) such as political conservation incentives were not implemented. Schönhart et al. (2011) developed a spatially explicit farm model including AES and applied it to a small (550 ha) research area in Austria. They used linear programming techniques in order to assess the cost effectiveness of AES within their case study (in total 430 fields and 20 farms). For each farm, land use activities were optimized with a mixed integer linear programming model chosen from a pre-processed selection of crop rotations⁸ that caused certain effects on soil and climate. The authors focused on landscape development and appearance, which is why fields were regarded as landscape elements in their actual shape and location. By accounting for different land use types such as crops, orchard meadows, and grasslands, and different intensification levels of these land use types, they applied a Shannon-Wiener index in order to measure landscape heterogeneity. AES were limited to management practices that reduce nitrogen loads, soil loss, and soil organic carbon emissions to protect water and soil, and mitigate climate change. Happe et al. (2004) applied another method. They used agent-based models to allocate land use results. In doing so, they added information of land ownership and transportation costs in order to distribute land use results

⁸These crop rotations were based on historical observations.

to pixels. The different approaches can be divided into top-down and bottom-up approaches. While the latter approach requires high levels of information and data acquisition, the former ones are often used to allocate land use results to larger areas. Only a few studies considered field size changes, although farmed landscapes have experienced severe changes due to increasing agricultural production units (Hötker and Leuschner, 2014).

The examples above showed that it is possible to conduct spatially explicit political impact assessments based on farm models. However, these farm models did not consider interrelations between farmers, and land use activities were the only driver of landscape changes. Our approach considers structural change processes, and changes in farm and field sizes represent additional aspects of landscape developments.

2.4.1.3. Agent-based models

Matthews and Selman (2006) suggest using agent-based models (ABMs) in order to to understand underlying dynamic processes of socio-ecological systems. In ABMs the landscape can be seen as a system that evolves out of the interaction of its users and components. It has no equilibrium state that the system adapts or tends to (Kay et al., 1999). Furthermore, by linking the dynamics of farm structures, ABMs cover important parts of structural change and landscape processes (Schouten et al., 2013). Their inherit conceptual framework is based on spatial farm interconnections (Verburg and Veldkamp, 2005). Parker et al. (2003) gave an overview of agent-based land use models, and An (2012) summarized ABMs linked with coupled human and natural systems.

ABMs enable users to depict farms as heterogeneous entities with respect to different variables such as capital, asset structure, contracts, management capacities, individual adoption costs, or even to bounded rationality issues (Ligtenberg et al., 2001). Interrelations between farmers are explicitly taken into account and directly influence the farmers' behaviors (Verburg and Veldkamp, 2005). The advantages of these bottom-up farm behavior models are that - in theory - many current and complex conditions regardless of the region can be integrated (An, 2012). When a large number of individual farmers are chosen, a huge amount of data is necessary to run the simulations and utilize these potentials (Murray-Rust et al., 2014). Another strength of applying ABMs in agricultural economics is to show how differently heterogeneous farmers behave based on similar external changes such as prices or political incentives. Therefore, the dynamics of structural change can be delineated more adequately (Uthes et al., 2011).

An important cornerstone for ABM applications in landscape-related agro-ecological science

was laid by Balmann and his working group at the Leibniz Institute of Agricultural Development. Balmann (1997) investigated the dynamics and complexity of structural change process within the agricultural sector by working on path dependencies. In Balmann (1999), he showed how sunk costs affect structural change and the implementation of economies of size in regions where small family farms dominated large scale farms. These first modeling efforts served as a basis for the development of the AgriPoliS model, which is used to show structural change processes. It takes into account farm size changes, farm exits, and land use changes (Happe et al., 2004). In AgriPoliS, farmers (agents) decide independently from each other on their production choices, investments, and land rentals. They are connected through product and factor markets. Farming decisions are modeled using linear programming tools such as multi-integer programming with the objective of maximizing household income. AgriPoliS models the land rent market with auction mechanisms through which it ties together all agents⁹.

Regarding space, AgriPoliS works with a stylistic landscape of grid cells with equally sized plots, which can have different possible land use types (e.g. grassland, arable land, forest, or roads). In addition to the land use structure, ownership and land quality attributes can be included. Transportation costs are determined by the distance between the location of the farm and the managed plot. In Happe et al. (2004), the farmsteads were randomly distributed, and transportation costs were calculated with an Euclidean distance function.

AgriPoliS was applied to several (developed) regions, and research questions related to policy switches affecting farms in different manners creating varying adaptation strategies among farmers (Balmann et al., 2001; Happe et al., 2006; Schnicke et al., 2007; Happe et al., 2008; Uthes et al., 2011). Therein the focus was the complexity of agents (farmers) and their long-run production adjustments. Brady et al. (2012) extended the AgriPoliS model in order to conduct a spatially explicit nature conservation study. They focused on how policy affects farmers' decisions on land use differently depending on farm types and spatial heterogeneity. Furthermore, they elaborated different effects on biodiversity and ecosystem services. The research area comprised two low-intensive regions in Sweden. In the study, the field level was addressed through plots as basic elements of an artificial landscape grid. The plots were kept constant during the simulations and only ownership changed. Several plots of the same type (e.g. arable land) formed a land block, which was later fixed and addressed in order to allocate cropping results. An algorithm minimized costs by allocating each farmer's crop production to fields, i.e. for minimizing production costs. Therefore, the initially created farm blocks formed the spatial field size constraint of the respective farmers. After the standard procedure of AgriPoliS, farm sizes changed subject

⁹For more information about land markets in ABMs, see Kellermann et al. (2008).

to agents' decisions, which led to field size changes. The authors assumed a positive correlation between farm and field sizes. Together with a Shannon-Wiener index measuring the diversity of land use types, field sizes formed a landscape indicator. The model was applied to three different political scenarios: coupled production (Agenda 2000), decoupled production (CAP reform 2005), and a reduction of DP by 30%. Results showed significant impacts on the landscape mosaic, biodiversity, and ecosystem services that differ between the regions. In a similar application, Happe et al. (2011) investigated abiotic environmental effects. Both studies showed the importance of considering complex interactions between farmers and the dynamics of structural change in order to promote biodiversity and ES. Nonetheless, linear landscape elements as part of agricultural fields were not considered. However, due to the use of grid cells, important linear landscape elements such as field margins or strips along field edges are missing.

Linear landscape elements can serve as niches for certain species that contribute to the delivery of ecosystem services within agricultural landscapes (Zhang et al., 2007; Davies and Pullin, 2007; Hinsley and Bellamy, 2000). Therefore, spatial maps including such landscape elements are required for biodiversity assessments at the regional scale (Van der Zanden et al., 2013; Meyer et al., 2012). A lot of literature about the impact of the intensive margin of agricultural production on biodiversity and ES are present but only few studies about the 'extensive' margin exist (Rizzo et al., 2013). Extensive margins of agricultural lands are supposed to comprise natural elements and field sizes (Antle and McGuckin, 1993). Linear artificial landscape elements such as flowering strips are often the only landscape structures in highly intensified agricultural areas (Bengtsson et al., 2003). Although they provide habitat for insects and facilitate pollination (Geert et al., 2010) we rarely see them. In order to account for potential insect and pollinator habitats, our model includes the cultivation of flowering strips, implemented AES. According to HALM guidelines¹⁰, flowering strips need to have at least a width of 5 m, a minimum area of 0.1 ha, and a maximum area of 1 ha. Modeling such field characteristics requires a greater spatial awareness of the field scale. In the following section, examples of optimization models that take into account spatial field and landscape characteristics are presented.

2.4.1.4. Field and landscape pattern optimization models

Following suggestions of Hanf (1994), models with the focus on landscape patterns should transform spatial units into decision units. Non-dimensional economic models are not sufficient

¹⁰Hessian program for agri-environmental and landscape measures ('Hessisches Programm f
ür Agrarumwelt- und Landschaftspflegema
ßnahmen'

for modeling landscape interaction.

From this perspective, Wossink et al. (1998) searched for optimal wildlife conservation at lowest costs. Their modeling approach included decision making at the farm level and the spatial extent and location of nature conservation measures within fields (sprayed vs. unsprayed field margins). They followed a landscape-centered spatial approach. The ecological benefits of different disposals of unsprayed field margins were calculated and compared to the costs. Through the assessment of an ecological network, a wildlife cost function at the landscape level was delineated. The authors used a simplified and stylized landscape digitized with GIS, and for the baseline scenario they randomly distributed crops and field margins. Normative scenarios were developed in order to ensure species dispersion. By taking into account the economic preferences of farmers, land use patterns for minimal costs were calculated. They found that selective control of field margins through farmers' preferences leads to win-win situations.

A French research team further developed a model appreciating this basic approach. They investigated agricultural landscape changes and the impacts on biodiversity. With their approach, both landscape appearance (e.g. landscape mosaic and networks) and dynamics on farm structure (induced by policies) were addressed. The configuration and composition of certain landscape elements (depending on the habitat of focal species) was used to assess population dynamics (Gaucherel et al., 2010). The farm-based mathematical optimization model was linked to three spatial scales: the field, farm, and landscape scale (Havlík et al., 2008).

The modeling approach was applied to intensively used farmland in France, where the abundance of the Little Bustard (*Tetrax tetrax*) has decreased. The model first calculated the optimal reserve for the Little Bustard and used the simulated landscape appearance as a normative scenario in order to test how it can be achieved with lowest costs. Moreover, the authors developed positive scenarios with political incentives for farmers and compared the outcomes in terms of conservation achievement and governmental payments. The underlying economic model was a mixed integer linear programming model, which optimized the sum of all farms' gross margins within a stylized landscape. Abiotic factors of each field (e.g. soil or slope) influenced farmers' land use decisions. Each farm had a similar size with similar amounts of fields lying adjacent to each other. The authors divided the farms into two different farm types: crop and mixed dairy farms. The decision variables consisted of crop rotations. The political framework referred to the CAP reform of 2003 with 10% obligatory set-aside area and the voluntary participation of farmers in AES (permanent and temporary grassland and alfalfa production). The AES are possible habitat elements for the Little Bustard. At the regional scale, the spatial extent of land use and habitat measures determined the habitat quality and the conservation success of the Little Bustard. The spatial analysis was conducted using Ripley K and L functions, which count for a combination of densities and distances of habitat patches. In another work, they focused on optimal policy strategies in the form of contracts (Bamière et al., 2011) and auction schemes (Bamière et al., 2013) in order to reach desired landscape structures.

In another alternative approach, Cong et al. (2016) investigated spatial aspects of farming with respect to the provision of ecosystem services (ES). They assumed that farmers conserve certain habitats on their fields purposely for the need of crop pollination, which increased the yield up to a certain threshold. Habitat configuration and composition served as indicators for crop pollination. Individual farmers were represented within a landscape of grid cells where each farmer had the same size of land and amount of fields. Farmers had perfectly consolidated fields and the same production conditions. The field was the smallest decision unit and was represented by a grid cell. In order to model crop pollination, the optimization model included a feedback loop that linked yields with pollination. The higher the distance between the field and the habitat was, the less 'yield' was positively influenced. Since the parameters for yield effects originating from the presence of pollinators are difficult to measure from an ecological point of view, yield efficiency was changed in a sensitivity analysis. The authors calculated the optimal allocation of habitat measures¹¹ for individual farmers at the farm scale and compared the results to those at the landscape scale, where they optimized the total profit of all farms.

Results showed that landscape management enhances the efficiency of ES management. Habitat dispersion was much higher in the landscape management scenario than in the farm scale management scenario (individual farm optimization). At the farm scale, farmers aggregated habitat measures in the very middle of their farmland so that they profit the most from ES provision. If modeled at the landscape scale, habitat measures became more dispersed over the whole landscape. Note that the quality of the ES provider (scale and mobility) effected the habitat configuration.

With their analysis, Cong et al. (2016) pointed out that synergies between habitat conservation and agricultural production are too weakly considered in policy and landscape management. Having the intention to promote biodiversity protection is not enough. The search for win-win situations should be examined. The authors showed that habitat dispersion supports the provision of some intermediate ecosystem services such as pollination or pest control but effects of other ES were limited. Up to now, interactions between farmers as well as aspects of structural change were not considered in the models. Practical applications are scarce and not yet well adapted to real landscape parameters.

¹¹Farmers had an obligation to dedicate 5 % of their land to 'habitat areas'.

2.4.2. Applied modeling approach

In the following sections, our modeling approach is described in more detail. It is a synthesis of several modeling approaches described above.

2.4.2.1. FOLAS model: a synthesis

The literature review of human-environmental modeling approaches revealed important system components that need to be captured. Commonalities in the models described above (except for the ProLand model) are the simulation of farmers' land use decisions; they address the farm scale. Our approach is also based on farm optimization in mode of mathematical programming models. By implication, promoting biodiversity on agriculturally used land needs to consider farmers as decision-making units and spatially explicit biological processes in order to delineate a nature production function at the landscape scale (Nuppenau and Helmer, 2007). In order to account for farmers' spatial decisions, optimization routines must be applied in an interactive way. This investigation will show how it can be done.

The modeling approach is landscape oriented and particularly takes into account the spatial distribution of farmers' decisions. In order to account for variations in the behavior of individual farmers as decision units, it includes some agent-based modeling aspects since it divides between farmers. Farms are treated differently with respect to their production capacities (farm sizes, financial capital, and livestock husbandry capacity) and production modes. Three different farm types are modeled:

- arable farms.
- pig-fattening combined with arable farming.
- dairy production combined with arable farming.

Field sizes play a central role in landscape complexity since they effect the landscape mosaic, patterns, and processes (Antle and McGuckin, 1993). Depending on the species involved, the field scale is crucial for biodiversity conservation (Gaucherel et al., 2010). Therefore, a closer look at field sizes is also relevant. Farmers apparently decide on sizes and fields. These kind of decisions are much slower than choosing appropriate cropping patterns for the next year. Our approach covers long-term decisions by considering structural change. Most field and landscape pattern optimization models do not yet explicitly consider structural change processes (e.g. Havlík et al. (2008); Cong et al. (2016)), since this requires modeling farm interrelations. Our approach

captures farm interrelation through the exchange of land (consolidation) and land leases between neighbouring farmers. Therefore, farm size enlargements and farm closings can be modeled with our approach. As a limitation, interactions between different social groups or institutions and social networks are not captured with our model, albeit they play an important role in socioecological systems (Adger, 2000). In order to spatially reflect structural change, our model stylizes the actual landscape through landscape simplification measures (see fig. 2.3). The simplified landscape and the modeling results are visualized via GIS. In doing so, our model follows a certain execution logic, which is outlined in the next subsection in more detail.

In view of the political impact assessment, new political measurements can be tested with respect to their capability to provide a habitat for rich biodiversity. Habitat loss and isolation mainly threaten farmland biodiversity (Benton et al., 2003; Watling and Donnelly, 2006). Although they are hardly represented in agricultural areas (Bengtsson et al., 2003), semi-natural habitats promote species abundance (Hendrickx et al., 2007) and are of great importance in order to maintain ES such as pollination (Kremen, 2005; Klein et al., 2007). The dispersal distance between habitat patches depends on the land use matrix (Roland et al., 2000). For bees and smaller insects, the travel radius is much smaller than for birds, for example. According to Jauker et al. (2009), a radius of around 250 m can be used as buffer zone for the abundance of bees and hoverflies within agricultural lands. For our study, we chose three different spatial biodiversity indicators and applied them accordingly. The biodiversity indicators encompass (1) the total area of semi-natural habitats defined as grassland and flowering strips within a buffer zone, (2) the Simpson's diversity index in order to account for cropping diversity, and (3) the number of patches/fields within a buffer zone targeting the landscape structure.

With these aspects, the field, farm, and landscape scales are taken into account. In addressing the three domains mentioned in section 2.2, potential regime shifts are delineated based on the analytical framework (see figure 2.2). This allows us to develop a comprehensive picture of the case study and deduct possible futures. Our applied modeling approach captures the following:

- the farm scale using optimization models.
- spatial aspects of landscape pattern models.
- farm interrelations.
- structural change processes.
- far-reaching spatial decisions on field sizes.
- farm sizes.

- flowering strips as an example of linear semi-natural landscape elements.
- spatially explicit biodiversity indicators.

In the following sections, our model is shortened to 'FOLAS' (Farm Optimization at LAndscape Scale).

2.4.2.2. Spatial and temporal model assumptions

In FOLAS, short and long-term decisions are modeled. Short term decisions refer to cropping decisions each farmer makes at the beginning of a cropping year. A core issue for our modeling approach is to consider structural change within the agricultural sector. This determines the time scale of our model. For the present study a comparative static approach is chosen, where several discrete points in time are compared to each other. FOLAS captures a long time period in which a farm might close down, reduce, or expand its production in terms of farm size. With respect to long-term decisions, investments play a key role in mathematical programming approaches. However, in this work, investment activities are not modeled since this would outgrow the temporal and financial scale of our study. Based on the new farm sizes, new field size decisions are made. Changes in field sizes are modeled by explicitly taking into account EoS as a driver of structural change. Structural change is typified by farm and field sizes, cropping patterns, and the variety of farm types. For modeling EoS, we made some assumptions regarding the equipment of farmers' machine power. Within the time span of a model run, each farmer was given the same engine power of 120 KW. Therefore, the observed mechanical equipment of farmers served as productivity boundaries. The level of machine power determined the labour requirement per field size. It showed how strong existing machinery power can be exploited by increasing field sizes. In fig 2.4 the average labour requirements (depending on the field size) with engine power of 120 KW is depicted. With this machine power set as baseline, EoS can mainly be exploited between farm sizes of 1 - 10 ha.

The FOLAS model run consists of four model iterations and use information from the previous iterations. Each one is linked to the next one via the transfer of output data, which leads to a stepwise solution. The four iterations contain short and long-term decisions of farmers and underlie certain spatial and temporal assumptions, which are delineated in the following paragraphs.

• 1st Iteration: land use decisions are modeled assuming a dispersed location of all farmers' fields. Therefore statistical information about farm size and types, as well as field sizes and



Figure 2.4.: Average labour requirements of all crops in the model depending on field size. Data refer to an engine power of 120 KW (received from Ktbl on request).

livestock keeping of the case study for the calibration year (2011), were used as orientation. It was sufficient to set up the basic model parameter structure. FOLAS most efficiently allocates the total amount of grassland (due to statistical information) to the farms by maximizing the total gross margin at the municipality level. This is done since we assume that farm structures with their grassland proportions evolved due to path dependency in an optimal manner. Results on grassland proportions per farm are transferred to the next iteration.

- **2nd Iteration**: In order to use economies of size and economics of transport, farmers require fields located next to each other so that field enlargements are possible. According to these efforts we assume that farmers exchange their fields until they reach full consolidation. This might take several years. However, the grassland proportions from the 1st iteration stay the same for each farmer; albeit the location of the grassland can change. Cropping results, information about the participation in AES, and livestock keeping are passed on to the next iteration.
- **3rd Iteration**: After consolidation, farmers are capable of renting out lands to their neighbouring farms in order to further exploit EoS by increasing farm and field sizes. FOLAS optimizes the amount and size of the farms with respect to labour savings by creating bigger fields. Therefore, land use proportions of the former iteration are fixed, and EoS

are modeled explicitly. In order to model EoS for each crop type, a proximity function of labour per field size based on Ktbl data was calculated. As suggested by Nuppenau and Helmer (2007), approximations in order to receive computable were applied. The resulting functions per arable crop were included in the model to calculate labour requirements for each crop and field. Detailed mathematical model formulations follow in section 4.2.3.1.

• **4th Iteration**: Farming activities including crops, livestock keeping, and AES are modeled again to check how farmers adapt to the new land capacities calculated in the previous model step. This model run is necessary since it checks whether farmers use their new lands or rent them out again. In this case the former iteration would not lead to an optimal farm size.

FOLAS maximizes the total gross margin at the municipality level and assumes Kaldor-Hicks compensations. This enables the model to distribute certain cropping patterns such as grassland or sugar beets to single farms in an optimal manner. Since single farm data is often missing and restrictions at the farm scale make the model less flexible at the landscape level, a strict landscape scope is pursued.

When land exchange mechanisms are included in the modeling process (2nd iteration) and farm interactions take place (3rd iteration), maximization at the municipality level implies that those farmers who are able to increase the total gross margin of all farms (the most), will survive. From a short-term perspective, this would mean that farmers give up farming only because they do not contribute to the total gross margin of the farming community, which is rather unrealistic. But considering a much longer time span (with the current hassles of farmers facing global markets with increasing competitive pressures and the lack of farm successors) this assumption has a more solid basis. In order to show long-term labour flows between agricultural and other sectors as well as due to important socio-cultural regime shifts represented by population developments, off-farm work is modeled from a macroeconomic perspective¹². It applies to each iteration.

2.4.2.3. Simplification of spatial outlay and the modeling approach

In our study, farmers are the decision-making units. We translate farming decisions into spatial units, though. The landscape serves as a spatial interface between the economic and ecological domain (Bockstael et al., 1995), not only with respect to the land use activities of farmers, but also with respect to overarching farming decisions of field and farm sizes (Nuppenau and Helmer,

¹²Off-farm labour is not modeled in the sense of household economics since the contribution of off-farm work to total farm utility is not the focus of the study.

2007). Besides cropping and livestock patterns, they also decide on field and farm sizes. As already indicated in figure 2.3, the landscape is stylized as coherent rectangles. These have a certain length and width and represent the fields and farms, respectively. Figure 2.5 gives an overview of the consecutive model iterations and their graphical representations. The starting point is an image of a real landscape at the left edge of the figure. In preparation for land transformation into rectangles, the fields within the study area were aggregated to bigger spatial units. Each spatial unit represents one agricultural farm (farm B_1 and B_2 in figure 2.5).

This procedure is based on general trends within mainstream agriculture, where full consolidation by exchanging land is seen as a golden standard for crop production¹³. In doing so, spatial conditions such as roads, streams, and housing areas were taken into account, insofar as they do not belong to the agricultural area and aggregation over these spatial units is unfavorable. Due to this procedure, the farm size depends on spatial aggregation possibilities, and each farm differs with respect to its size. Within a farm, aggregation over fields is assumed to be possible and also sought by the farmer due to utilization of EoS. In the next step, farm types were allocated randomly to the farm outlet. Since from public statistics no information about land ownership or farmstead locations was available, it had to be done this way¹⁴. Based on the spatial farm consolidation, achieved farm sizes were taken as the baseline for the modeling procedure in the 1st iteration (see B_i^* of figure 2.5, where j is the number of farms (j = 1, 2, ..., n)).

In order to model land rentals, artificially aggregated farm units were simplified to rectangles. These rectangles have the same size as the previous aggregated spatial farm units. In the 3rd iteration, neighbouring farms enlarge their cropping area and use EoS since the neighbouring fields have shapes similar to their own fields. These farms are assumed to be willing to rent land from the other farm and are modeled as described in section 4.2.3.4. In order to display farm size changes, the rectangles of farms are located next to each other and have the same edge, which is defined as the field length a_i of the respective farms. The farms are assumed to arrange all of their fields next to each other and therefore only one field length per farm exists. In this way, farms are stringed together, and farm size changes can occur through parallel shifts of the farm edge of two neighbouring farms (change in B_j). The field length stays the same while the sum of all field widths (b_i) may change for one farm after the 3rd iteration. Based on the new farm sizes, new field sizes and farming activities are calculated within the last iteration. The resulting map of the aggregation procedure as well as the stylized rectangles of the case study can be found in Appendix A.

¹³Research into the development of software enabling agricultural floor exchange exists and gets even remunerated (Agrarzeitung, 2013).

¹⁴In projects this might be different.

The first iteration is calibrated to the current agricultural landscape. It assumes scattered fields that are allocated randomly throughout the farmland. This is simulated by restricting the upper limit of the field size variable to an observed average of our case study. Since land amalgamation is not yet realized, EoS through field merging cannot be exploited, and fields are smaller. The output of the farm optimization model for each field b_i comprises the cultivated crop ('crop'), field size ('fdsize'), and flowering strip ('fs'). These variables refer to the field scale. For example, the first variable indicates which crop is cultivated on that specific field. $B_{j,'ql'}$ is the grassland proportion of farm B_j . It is the central variable of the first iteration and will be fixed for all following iterations. The underlying assumption is that regardless of field consolidation processes, the proportion of grassland per farm should not be subject to change. However, the location of grassland after consolidation (the 2nd iteration) may change. In the 2nd iteration, consolidation of farmland is assumed. Farmers are able to exploit EoS and fields get bigger. Based on the grassland proportions of the previous model run and without restrictions on the field size variable, new model output is produced: $b_{j,'crop'}$, $b_{j,'fdsize'}$, $b_{j,'fs'}$ and $b_{j,'gl'}$. The latter variable for grassland ('gl') now refers to the field and indicates whether it is managed as grassland or not. Within the 3rd iteration, the farm size B_i is simulated. Therefore, the model output of the 2nd iteration is taken as input. The new farm sizes (together with the grassland proportions of the farms $B_{j,'gl'}$) serve as the basis for the newly simulated field scale variables in iteration four $(b_{j,'crop'}, b_{j,'fdsize'}, b_{j,'fdsize'})$ $b_{j,'fs'}$ and $b_{j,'gl'}$). Results show the land use patterns after structural change processes.

During the iterations, the model provides information on farm and field size changes as well as on land use and flowering strips for each farm. Results are collected and semi-automatically transferred to GIS. The field size results need to be translated into field widths with a respective coordinate for GIS presentation. Basically two python scripts were developed: one to generate rectangles representing farms and one to generate fields and their cropping patterns. In order to generate the rectangles, information about length and width of each farm was used with coordinates for the central points. The fields were generated by first calculating the coordinates for the points on both sides of each farm width, and second we created polygons out of those points as well as concurrently transferred the correct cropping patterns. The results for the 1st, 2nd, and 4th iterations were mapped. They contain farm and field sizes as well as land use information on crops and flowering strips.



2. State of the art and model frameworks

2.5. CAP 2020 in short

In farming decisions, political incentives play a crucial role (Ewert et al., 2005, 2011; Mandryk et al., 2012). Since our model is calibrated to the year 2011, the past CAP reform (decoupled payments and agri-environmental schemes) was set as the baseline. As we intended to test the achievements of the 'CAP towards 2020' reform with respect to the biodiversity targets of the EC, policy interventions were introduced by applying parts of the new CAP reform. Additionally, due to critical responses to the new measurements (Lakner and Bosse, 2016, e.g.), an alternative political incentive scheme was tested. It covers a fully restructured governmental payment scheme. The different policies applied in the model will be described in section 4.2 before the results of the policy choices are presented. In the following, the new CAP reform is described roughly. It gives an overview of the main characteristics of the current incentive structures of the European Commission. Detailed information can be found in the utilized references.

In 2013, the Council of the EC agreed upon the new CAP Reform 2014-2020. Therein, they seek to support a 'sustainable' agricultural production with respect to economic (food security, globalization, price volatilities, etc.), ecological (e.g. biodiversity, soil and water quality, and climate change), and territorial (e.g. demographic changes and urban migration) aspects (European Commission, 2013). Its financial framework in order to fulfill theses promises is around 400 billion EUR for 2014-2020, paid by European citizens. This budget is separated into direct payments (DP) of the first pillar and rural development schemes, which form the second pillar. Around one quarter of the money is dedicated to the second pillar and also contains the budget for agri-environmental schemes (AES).

One of the main novelties of the new CAP 2014-2020 reform is the so-called mandatory greening component of the first pillar. 30% of the DP are coupled with environmentally friendly measures covering the following:

- a crop diversification strategy.
- the preservation of permanent grassland.
- 5% ecological focus areas (EFAs).

The crop diversification strategy provides that farms bigger than 10 ha need to grow at least two different crop types. Farms larger than 30 ha need to grow at least three crop types, provided that not more than 95% of the arable land is covered by the two main crops. The main crop is restricted to cover not more than 75% of the arable land. For the EFAs, a farmer has to dedicate

5% of agricultural area in order to get the mandatory DP. Therefore, a bunch of measures from fallow land to landscape elements (single trees, hedges, etc.) were determined by the EC council. The measurements are weighted according to their natural capital. Weighting factors¹⁵ are used in order to calculate the actual area.

Another novelty is the opportunity to use DP in order to support small and medium-sized farms. The German implementation of the new CAP reform makes use of this redistributive payment and pays 50 EUR/ha for the first 30 ha, and 30 EUR/ha for the following 16 ha farmland. Farmers below the age of 40 receive an additional payment¹⁶.

The second pillar of the CAP supports the rural areas. Besides the provision of AES, it includes investment funding as well as development projects for municipalities. They ought to increase the attractiveness of rural areas for tourism and the population living therein.

¹⁵Fixed in Annex X of the supplementing Regulation (EU) No. 1307/2013 of the European Parliament. ¹⁶44 Euros per ha for five years and 90 ha.

B Research site

The first section of this chapter is dedicated to the description of the socio-ecological system of our study site. We adapt the socio-ecological resilience approach to our rural study region in order to meet our conceptual framework (see figure 2.2 of the previous chapter). Since we are investigating the effects of agricultural production at all three domains (with the respective scales), the study site is screened according to the ecological, socio-cultural, and economic domains. Afterwards, particular interest is given to the agricultural production system of our case study. This second section is further used in order to refer to the chosen values for the model parameters of the baseline model and of the sensitivity anaylses.

3.1. Socio-ecological system of the case study

3.1.1. Location and land cover: the ecological domain

Hesse consists of three administrative districts: Darmstadt, Kassel, and Giessen. Wetterau county belongs to the Darmstadt district. The study site is a small municipality named Wöllstadt and is located in the middle of the most intensively cropped agricultural area of Wetterau county in central Hesse, Germany. It has an area of 15.38 km².

Fig. 3.1 shows the Wetterau region. As can be seen, in the eastern part of the Wetterau region as well as in a small strip of the westernmost Wetterau area, the landscape is covered with a mix of forest, agricultural, and residential areas. In the middle, there is an elongated strip from the north to the south where predominantly agricultural production takes place. The study site is outlined in red and lies in the midst of this highly agriculturally used area.

Wetterau county is well known for its intensive agricultural production, with an agricultural area of 53%, followed by 29% forest cover in 2010. Infrastructure and housing area contribute around 7% each to the land cover of Wetterau county, the rest being water bodies (1.2%), recreational area (0.8%), and other areas (Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt, 2012b). Due to highly fertile

loess soils, which evolved in the Tertiary Period and reach a depth of up to twenty meters, good climatic conditions, and plenty of water bodies, Wetterau has been used for agricultural production for more than two thousand years (Wetterauische Gesellschaft, 2012; Waldhardt et al., 2010). Consequently, Wetterau counts for one of the oldest cultural landscapes in Europe.

According to Bundesamt für Naturschutz (2012), smaller conservation areas totaling 1.5% are scattered within Wetterau. Moreover, bird protection areas encompass 11.6% of the total Wetterau area, whereas 4.4% are dedicated to FFH¹ areas. FFH areas belong to the European protected Natura2000 network of indigenous habitats². Therein, agricultural production is subject to stricter nature conservation requirements.

Compared to Wetterau county, Wöllstadt has an even higher area of agricultural production (81%). In Wöllstadt, only 1.1% is covered with forest. There is no land that belongs to the Natura2000 network. Housing and infrastructure together cover almost 15% of the area in Wöllstadt, the rest being water bodies (1.5%), recreation area (1%), and other areas (Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt, 2012a).

The geo-physical conditions and historical land use characteristics have prepared the ground for the intensively used agricultural lands of our case study. The ecological domain is confronted with a low land cover heterogeneity. Less then 5% of the landscape is used for something other than agricultural purposes or housing. There is no conservation area at all. Only a few semi-natural landscape elements exist, which deliver wildlife habitats. In our research area, a poor basis for the abundance of species diversity as well as for the delivery of ES is prevalent.

3.1.2. Population and demographic change: the socio-cultural domain

In 2011, Hesse hosted a population of around six million people, of which two thirds were in the Darmstadt district. Within this district, the Wetterau county is the second largest county with respect to the inhabitants with almost three hundred thousand people (Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt, 2012b). As we search for possible futures of our case study, we need to look into the dynamics of demographic change within and around the research area. The population structure in Hesse has developed in different directions. While the population in rural areas dramatically decreased, it increased in cities or regions adjacent to urban centers. The reasons for this development in Hesse were the insufficient supply of care facilities, price increases of mobility

¹Flora-fauna habitat

²FFH guideline 92/43/EWG and Bird Directive 79/409/EWG



Figure 3.1.: Land use in Wetterau county in 2011. Source: own map based on Schlagkatatster, ALKIS, and ATKIS data provided by the 'Hessischen Landesamt für Umwelt und Geologie' (HLUG).

services, a lack of medical and social supply structures, the absence of economic potential, and an increasing importance of urban lifestyles (Mager, 2011).

Wetterau county attracts more people and exhibited a population increase of 19% between 1987 and 2011 due to its closeness to Frankfurt a. M. (Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt, 2012b). According to HMWVL (2011), the positive demographic change in Wetterau county continues, and the population will further increase by 5% by 2030.

Wöllstadt is a small municipality with only 6,153 inhabitants (Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt, 2012a). With respect to demographic change processes, negative population trends are registered. Between 2008 and 2011, population decreased by 1.8% (Statistische Ämter des Bundes und der Länder, 2013a). Afterwards, the number of inhabitants decreased by 0.5%. According to newest estimations, population will further decrease by 7.1% until 2030 (Bertelsmann Stiftung, 2014).

Within the socio-cultural domain of our case study, we are faced with a declining population. Population decline is an issue that is also addressed in the new CAP reform. Through investments and development plans, the EC tries to strengthen rural areas in order to support the livelihoods of the rural population (European Commission, 2013). With regard to our conceptual framework, we try to show whether this negative population trend is boosted, mitigated, stopped, or affected by the new CAP reform at all. As socio-ecological systems are linked together through several domain-scale combinations and cascading effects, modeling the farm scale also may give insights into the socio-cultural domain at the regional scale (see figure 2.2).

3.1.3. Economy and agriculture: the economic domain

At the level of the federal state of Hesse, the agricultural sector plays only a minor role, contributing 0.4% to the total gross value in 2012. Financial services contributed the most to the total gross value with 35%, followed by public services (21%), production industry (20%), transport and trade sector (20%), and the construction industry with around 4%. However, at the level of Wetterau county, the agricultural sector contributed 6.2% to the total gross value and played a major role within Wetterau county. The construction industry followed with 4.3%, public services with 3.5%, financial services with 3.1%, production industry with 3.0%, and transportation and trade with 2.9% (Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt, 2014a).

Although agriculture is an important part of the economy within our case study, the average agricultural net wage is at a low level compared to other sectors. In 2010, the total average gross wage of Wetterau county was 29,725 Euros per year (Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt, 2014b). After deductions, the average net wage was around 18,900 Euros, which resulted in an average net

wage of 1,575 Euros per month or 9.8 Euros per hour. This hourly net wage is taken as off-farm wages for the model. The gross wage for the agricultural, silvicultural, and fishery sector is much lower with 16,350 Euro per year in 2010 (Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt, 2014b).

In order to reduce risk and for other lifestyle reasons, income resources are diversified, and many farms are managed as part-time farms (Hansson et al., 2013). Hesse is one of the German states with the highest agricultural area under part-time farming (35% in 2010) (Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt, 2013). The average size of part-time farms is 23.6 ha, which differs highly throughout the regions (Mawick et al., 2011). In Wetterau county, 63% of the farms are part-time farms (Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt, 2012a). Under these conditions in Wetterau county, 72% of all farms have an uncertain farm succession, and the average age of most farmers in Hesse lies between 45 and 64 (Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt, 2012j). Due to the 'Hessische Landgüterordnung' from 1947, after succession, there is no legal obligation to split land property into partial plots. Instead, farmland can be passed on to only one heir, and compensation for the coheirs is regulated by law. Fields keep their sizes without getting smaller throughout time. Nevertheless, most farms with a size of 50 ha or smaller do not have a secure farm succession in Hesse (Mawick et al., 2011).

In Wöllstadt, agricultural production with respect to area is even higher in relative terms³. Within the economic domain of our case study, farmers face an insecure farm succession and predominantly part-time farming (40%) (Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt, 2012a). With the prevalent agricultural practices, farming is in most cases not the only income source since more attractive ones (with higher wages) exist. In the coming years, structural change can be expected, which might lead to a regime shift within the economic domain at the farm scale. This domain-scale regime shift may trigger other domain-scale combinations, and a new regime of the socio-ecological system might evolve. In the following section, a closer look at the agricultural production system is taken. It also serves as a basis for our model calibration.

3.2. Agricultural production system of the case study

Parameters presented in this section refer to fixed values and constitute model data in order to calculate endogenous model variables, which we are going to present in the next chapter. Since the model was calibrated according to spatial land use data from the 'Hessische Landesamt für Umwelt

³See land use distributions from Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2012a) and Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2012b) above.

und Geologie' (HLUG) from 2011, most statistical data was collected from the agricultural census in 2010. If possible, statistics were collected at the level of the study site. However, due to data protection regulations, in some cases only information at the county or district level was available. All statistical values used as parameters in the model are summarized in Appendix B.1 unless specified differently at the spot. With the aim of presenting a comprehensive picture of the study site, some statistical values were compared to different spatial scales including the federal state, district, county, and municipality levels.

3.2.1. Farm types and sizes

In our model we include different farm types. Therefore, a closer look at the farm types within the study region is needed.

The officially established classification system organizes agricultural farms according to their common economic orientation: (1) arable farms producing, for instance, cereals, pulses, oil fruits, root crops, and vegetables among other crops; (2) horticultural farms; (3) permanent crop farms (e.g. wine); (4) grazing livestock farms (e.g cattle, goats, or sheep); (5) processing farms (e.g. pig-fattening or poultry); and three different mixed farm types: (6) mixed plant production, (7) mixed livestock production, and (8) plant plus livestock-producing farms (Statistisches Bundesamt, 2012).

In table 3.1, the proportions of farm types and their changes over time for Wetterau county are charted. Therein, arable farms had the highest relevance and covered more than 50% of the agricultural area in 2010, followed by plant and livestock-producing farms (23.1%) and grazing livestock farms (22.2%). Horticultural and permanent farms as well as mixed plant producing farms cover only a small area within the Wetterau county. With respect to the percentage of farms, these three farm types became less important over time. In 2010, 1% of the farm types were processing farms covering 1% of the total area. For comparison, in 2003, the same proportion of farms increased fivefold. Mixed livestock production farms have also increased their production area from 0.7 to 1.2%, although the farm proportion sunk from 1.4 to 1.3%. These trends indicate an increase in farm sizes.

There are differences within the classification thresholds and counting units, which makes comparisons over time difficult. From the beginning of the '70s, the German classification criterion was the operating income⁴. If 50% of the operating income was earned through horticulture, the farm belonged to type two. However, in 2003, the European classification system was applied,

⁴Before, the classification was based on the size of the agricultural area under cultivation.

Table 3.1.: Proportions of farm types in Wetterau county regarding their economic orientation for 2003, 2007, and 2010 (%). Source: Statistische Ämter des Bundes und der Länder (2013b); Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2012j,i)

	Share in Wetterau county [%]						
Farm type	2003		2007		2010		
	Farms	Area	Farms	Area	Farms	Area	
Arable farms	48.0	55.9	48.2	55.9	47.8	50.2	
Horticulture	5.6	0.6	4.7	0.6	3.8	0.4*	
Permanent farms	4.4	0.3	2.0	0.3	2.4	0.3	
Grazing livestock	18.8	19.0	22.8	19.7	22.0	22.2	
Processing farms	1.0	0.2	1.2	0.4	1.0	1.0	
Mixed plant production	4.5	3.2	4.8	4.0	3.1	1.6	
Mixed livestock production	1.4	0.7	1.6	1.2	1.3	1.2	
Plant and livestock production	16.4	20.0	14.7	19.0	18.5	23.1*	

*Imprecise values due to incomplete data in Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2012j).

and the threshold for the classification criterion rose to 75% (Blumöhr et al., 2006; Statistisches Bundesamt, 2012; BMELV, 2012). Since 2010, the standard output⁵ has been used. Due to that, a separate consideration of livestock farming will be conducted later in this section.

The average farm sizes in Germany increased from around 15 ha in 1979 to 56 ha in 2010, and the amount of farms more than halved during this time (see fig. 3.2) (Statistisches Bundesamt, 2013). An even stronger trend can be found in Hesse. From almost 91,000 farms in 1971 only 18,000 in 2010 remained (Mawick et al., 2011). Concentration and specialization processes within the agricultural sector in Hesse have been observed, and mainly single production systems, such as pig fattening or purely arable farming prevail (Berger, 2012).

Within Wetterau county, 988 agricultural farms cultivate an area of more than 525 km² agricultural lands. Of these, half of all farms have a farm size between 20 and 100 ha. Only 15% cultivate more than 100 ha agricultural area, and the remaining 35% less than 20 ha (Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt, 2012a).

In Wöllstadt, 25 farms cultivate 1,432 ha agricultural area. 20 farms are arable, four produce plants and livestock, and one is a horticultural farm. The proportion of farms in Wöllstadt that cultivate more than 50 ha is 44%, which is even higher than the average for Wetterau county (37%). 80% of the farms in Wöllstadt have an area between 20 and 100 ha. Two farms cultivate total areas larger than 200 ha (Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt, 2012a), which indicates the agriculturally intensified production situation of the study site. There is only one farm in Wöllstadt that has an area less than five ha (Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt, 2012i), which might be the

⁵Gross value of agricultural products using farm-gate prices without subtracting variable costs.



Figure 3.2.: Average farm size development in Germany (1979-2010). Source: Statistisches Bundesamt (2013).

horticultural farm⁶. This farm will be excluded from the modeling process.

3.2.2. Crop production and prices

In table 3.2 the percentage of cultivated crops in Wöllstadt are compared to the percentage crop area within Wetterau county.

For both regional levels, wheat is the most important crop. However in Wöllstadt, wheat production is particularly pronounced with 52% of the total agricultural area. Sugar beet production also plays an outstanding role in Wöllstadt with more than 16% compared to 5.5% land cover in Wetterau county. Rapeseed production in Wöllstadt and Wetterau county have similar proportions with around 11%. In Wöllstadt, the area of permanent grassland is much lower (5%) than in Wetterau county (24%). The proportion of potato production in Wöllstadt is more than twice as much as in Wetterau county. Due to one horse farm, oat production is relatively high in Wöllstadt⁷. However, silo maize production is much lower in Wöllstadt compared to the county level. Particularly apparent is the absence of forest land in the study site, which is already low in the entire Wetterau county. The emphasis on wheat, sugar beet, and potato production shows excellent soil conditions and again mirrors the intensive agricultural land use in Wöllstadt.

Crop prices are highly volatile throughout the year as well as annually. In figure 3.3, time series of grain prices between 2000/01 and 2014/15 for the Darmstadt district are depicted based on data from Ktbl (2016)⁸. As visible in the graph, grain prices are highly correlated. Density functions of the grain prices show a skewed distribution to the left (see Appendix D), leading to a lower median than mean value (see table 3.3). Farmers within our research area face volatile prices. The mean values for grain prices lie between 12.8 Euros/dt (triticale) and 14.6 Euros/dt (maize) with standard deviations of around 4.5 Euros/dt. For model calibration, relatively high crop prices, having the same level as the mean values plus one standard deviation are taken⁹. In order to check for model robustness, a sensitivity analysis is conducted with the median values for grain crops.

For model calibration, average crop prices of the Darmstadt district are taken from Ktbl (2016). For some crops such as grass silage and hay coming from permanent grassland, silo maize for biogas plants, corn cob mixes, and corn maize, data from the same Ktbl database was not available, and other sources needed to be found. In Appendix E, all land use activities included in the model, as well as their prices, year, regional level and data sources, are presented in a tabular form.

⁶Horticultural farms have an average size of only 6.8 ha (Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt, 2012f).

⁷Expert interview with the responsible farmer.

⁸Prices on lower spatial level were not available.

⁹This is adapted to crop prices of the calibration year 2011.

Crop	Wöllstadt [ha] (%)	Wetterau county [ha] (%)
Winter wheat	627 (51.7)	19,593 (36.1)
Sugar beets	199 (16.4)	2,985 (5.5)
Rapeseed	129 (10.6)	5,804 (10.7)
Winter barley	95 (7.9)	2,990 (5.5)
Permanent grassland	60 (5.0)	13,132 (24.1)
Potatoes	28 (2.3)	606 (1.1)
Oats	16 (1.3)	378 (0.7)
Rye	16 (1.3)	401 (0.7)
Fallow	9 (0.7)	338 (0.6)
Silo maize	8 (0.6)	2,484 (4.6)
Grasses (silage)	6 (0.5)	525 (1.0)
Corn maize	5 (0.4)	1,055 (1.9)
Triticale	3 (0.2)	357 (0.7)
Winter oats	3 (0.2)	3 (0.0)
Vegetables	2 (0.1)	130 (0.2)
Strawberries	2 (0.1)	67 (0.1)
Mixed grains	2 (0.1)	7 (0.0)
Forest land	0 (0)	791 (1.5)
Miscellaneous	4 (0.3)	2,697 (5.0)

Table 3.2.: 1	Land use in Wöllsta	lt and the `	Wetterau	county i	in ha a	and %	(2011).	Source:	GIS	data
(Schlagkatasterdater) received	from HL	JUG						



Figure 3.3.: Time series for grain prices: Darmstadt district (2000/01 - 2014/15). Source: Ktbl (2016).

Crop	Min [Euros/dt]	Mean [Euros/dt]	Max [Euros/dt]	Sd [Euros/dt]	Median [Euros/dt]
Wheat	8.76	14.07	22.67	4.69	12.29
Barley	8.90	13.96	22.07	4.43	13.74
Rye	7.59	13.21	20.85	4.65	12.72
Triticale	7.84	12.80	20.57	4.38	11.90
Maize	8.90	14.63	21.39	4.25	14.28

Table 3.3.: Descriptive statistics for grain price time series of the Darmstadt district (2000/01 - 2014/15)

3.2.3. Livestock keeping

Numbers for Hesse show an increase in the average amount of livestock per farm (Mawick et al., 2011). Between 1970 and 2010, the amount of cattle farms decreased by almost 94%, while the number of cattle decreased only by around 58%. Within the same time period, milk yield increased by more than 50%. This shows an intensification of milk and cattle production. Similar trends can be found for pig-fattening and pig-breeding farms. While in 1983 only 3% of all pigs were kept in farms with more than 100 stable places, in 2010, 64% were kept in such farms. Actually, in 2010, 42% of all pigs were kept in farms with more than 200 stable places. However, with respect to the total number of pigs in Hesse, between 1999 and 2010, there is a reduction of breeding sows (- 30%), while pig-fattening increased by 103% during this time (Mawick et al., 2011).

In Wetterau county, around 60% of the agricultural farms keep livestock. Among these farms, 60% still own cattle, and 40% own pigs. The average amount of livestock per farm is around 60 for cattle and 98 for pigs.

In the case study, four out of 25 farms keep 53 cattle, and five farms keep 401 pigs (Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt, 2012a). In Wöllstadt livestock keeping is not yet very intensified compared to the state average. Compared to the county level, cattle keeping is underrepresented, while pig fattening is emphasized. The type of livestock keeping (e.g. dairy, breeding, fattening) in Wöllstadt is not apparent from statistics. Therefore the most common mode of livestock keeping in Hesse was chosen for the model. For cattle keeping, this is dairy farming, and for pig farming, the most common mode is pig fattening (Mawick et al., 2011). In the model, four plant and dairy producing farms, each having 25 stable places and five plant and pig-fattening farms having 30 stable places¹⁰ are modeled. According to husbandry methods for dairy, loose-housing stables with solid manure and for pig fattening, slatted floor, are assumed in the model.

¹⁰2.8 pigs per stable place and year.

3.2.4. Soil treatments and yield levels

In Hesse, almost 90% of the farms cultivate their soils with conventional soil tillage, which is ploughing. With respect to the agricultural area, 57% is ploughed and 37% cultivated with conserving soil treatments (e.g. harrowing or with cultivators). The other area is cultivated with direct sowing. In Darmstadt district, 88% of the farms apply conventional soil tillage, which covers 55% of the agricultural area. 45% of the area is cultivated using conserving soil treatments (Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt, 2012h). In the model it is assumed that farmers plough their fields conventionally.

Wetterau county has one of the highest yield units with 61¹¹ compared to other counties of Hesse (Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt, 2012b). The average yield for the main crop types in Hesse (winter wheat, rapeseed, and sugar beets) more than doubled between the fifties and 2010. Further, the average silo maize yield doubled between 1950 and 1980. Since 1980, silo maize yield has fluctuated around the same level (Mawick et al., 2011).

Yield data for the calibration year are summarized in Appendix G. For the model, average crop yields are gathered at the county level from Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2012d). Since not all yields for the crops included in the model are covered with this reference, some crop yield levels are gathered at the district level from the Ktbl database (Ktbl, 2016).

3.2.5. Field structure

The field structure of Wöllstadt has a relatively uniform appearance. In 1945, on average, arable fields were smaller than in 1970 (compare fig. 3.4 and fig. 3.5). As can be seen, urban areas increased at the expense of agricultural areas. This trend has continued into the present year as apparent in fig. 3.6. On the orthophotos, the typical rectangular shape of fields is visible. Rectangular field shapes allow for simplified and cost-reduced cultivation practices.

For the spatially explicit modeling, GIS data from the HLUG about field and landscape structure in Wöllstadt is analyzed (see fig. 3.7). Since one of the central variables is field size, it needs to be compared to the current and actual field sizes. GIS data only show small field units with regard to the ownership and do not contain information about user rights. The field sizes from GIS did not fit to the actual cultivation units. They have an average size of 1.6 ha. In order to asses the size of

¹¹Range: 0 - 100.

3. Research site



Figure 3.4.: The municipality Wöllstadt with its field structures in 1945. Source: Orthophotos received from HLUG.



Figure 3.5.: The municipality Wöllstadt with its field structures in 1970. Source: Orthophotos received from HLUG.

3. Research site



Figure 3.6.: The municipality Wöllstadt with its field structures in 2017. Source: GoogleMaps (2017-01-19).

the current cultivation units, GIS data is edited by aggregating polygons¹². Thereby tracks smaller than management roads, which are usually 3 m wide, were deleted, and the fields became bigger (see fig. 3.7, right). After this data adjustment, the average field size was 4.2 ha and reflected the current field structure more accurately.

 $^{^{12}}$ Up to 2.9 m gap between fields.





3.2.6. Farm labour

In 2010, 67% of the agricultural labour force in Wetterau county was provided by family labourers (Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt, 2012j). The labour force in Wöllstadt consists of 57.5% family, 35% foreign, and 7.5% seasonal labourers. The total labour force in Wöllstadt was around 40 labour units ¹³ in 2010. Of these, 23 labour units were delivered by family labourers (Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt, 2012i).

For the model, these family labour units were allocated evenly to each farm. It is assumed that only 50% of the family labour capacity is purely spent for crop and livestock-correlated production steps. The other 50% is needed for office work such as paperwork and farm communication. The total family labour capacity for field and stable work was 997 hours of a typical farm per year. Foreign labour hours can be bought for a gross wage expenditure of 15.5 Euros per hour¹⁴. Seasonal labourers could be hired for the minimum wage of 7.40 Euros per hour in 2011¹⁵. These values are taken as respective parameters for the model.

Labour requirements per ha depend on several parameters such as land use type, field size, distance between farm and field, and the degree of mechanization. For the model, the level of engine power is 120 KW (see section 2.4.2.2), and the distance between farm and field is assumed to be one ha due to field consolidation assumed by the modeling approach. The Ktbl database (Ktbl, 2013a) offers data on labour requirements for several land use activities for two, five, and ten ha. Depending on the modeling step, the model uses labour input coefficients as summarized in Appendix H. One exception is the input requirement for fallow land. Since fallow land is small and typically not used to exploit EoS, the labour coefficient refers to the smallest receivable data on field size (1 ha) and does not change.

3.2.7. Revenue and variable costs of production

Within the Darmstadt district, the standard output of family farms in 2010 was on average 34,997 Euros, whereas commercial farms generated 163,977 Euros¹⁶ (Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt, 2012e). The profit of farm types, however, differs and changes annually. For example, in the financial year 2010/11, commercial arable farms participating in the Hessian regional statistics gained the highest profit with 76,886 Euros, followed by fodder farming with 70,781 Euros,

¹³One labour unit corresponds to 40 average labour hours per week.

¹⁴This corresponds to a trained labourer of wage group three according to the collective agreement for Hesse (LLH, 2015).

¹⁵According to the collective agreement of the agricultural sector in Hesse in 2011.

¹⁶Profit for fiscal purposes.

Farm size [ha]	Liquid money [Euros/year]
< 50	6,500
50 - 150	9,750
> 150	13,000

Table 3.4.: Financial model capacity parameters: liquid monetary amounts per farm size

and processing and mixed farms both with around 60,000 Euros. Compared to that, in 2011/12, processing farms obtained the highest profit (73,919 Euros), whereas arable and mixed farms gained the lowest profit with around 60,000 Euros. The reasons were increasing costs for farming inputs (e.g. fodder, fertilizer, seedlings, and fuel), which outweighed increasing revenues (LLH, 2013).

A key figure of the economic farm performance is capital formation, yet it fluctuates strongly from year to year. From 2011 to 2012, it sunk from around 18,000 Euros to 10,000 Euros for commercial farms (LLH, 2013). In the model, we assume that liquid money depends on the farm size (see table 3.4). Farm sizes lower than 50 ha have at their disposal 6,500 Euros per financial year, and farms between 50 and 150 ha have 50% more. Farms bigger than 150 ha own 13,000 Euro equity capital. Each agricultural activity requests available financial resources differently, which can be obtained from the Ktbl database. Variable costs of each activity also influence the gross margin and need to be considered in the model. Financial coefficients and variable costs for each activity, used in the model, are summarized in Appendix K.

3.2.8. Governmental payments and measurement participation

In Wöllstadt, governmental payments consist of DP and AES payments. As outlined above, there were no other payments, e.g. for Natura2000 areas. Similarly, there were no payments for compensatory allowances in the village since the study site benefits from excellent production conditions. The level of DP for the case study was calculated on the basis of a cluster analysis¹⁷ conducted in the working group of the JAGUAR project¹⁸. All municipalities of the Vogelsberg and Wetterau county in 2011 were classified into intensive and extensive agricultural production areas. For the intensive agricultural production area (to which Wöllstadt belongs), the average level of DP was calculated using single municipality data from 2010¹⁹ (Hessisches Statistisches

¹⁷For clustering, some important parameters have been urban, artificially vegetated, forest, abandoned, wood, grassland, orchard, or arable area.

¹⁸Sustainable futures for cultural landscapes of Japan and Germany - biodiversity and ecosystem services as unifying concepts for the management of agricultural regions

¹⁹Due to payment graduations, DP were not consistent throughout all farms.

Landesamt, 2012i). This average value of 275.6 Euros per ha is used in the model.

On the web page of the 'Bundesanstalt für Landwirtschaft und Ernährung' (BLE, 2014), information about the amount and types of payments for the current EC household year can be viewed for two years²⁰. Wöllstadt received 1,027 Euros for AES in 2014 (the available year most closest to the calibration year). This value is chosen for the AES budget parameter in the model. AES in the model consist of annual flowering strips, which are rewarded with 750 Euros per ha according to the HIAP guidelines of the Hessian Ministry for the Environment, Climate Protection, Agriculture, and Consumer Protection²¹ (HMUKLV, 2015b). Translated into flowering strips, only around 1.5 ha of semi-natural habitat was provided by AES. Taking this value as a baseline in the model, the variable production costs are assumed to be 160 Euros per ha since the difference equals the gross margin of winter wheat, which is often taken as a reference for the calculation of opportunity costs²². Labour and capital coefficients for flowering strips used in the model are 2.78 Euros per ha and 10.41 Euros per ha, respectively. They are calculated based on Ktbl data on seeding and milling, assuming 120 KW engine power, field size of one ha, distance to the farmstead of one km, and a working width of 2.5 m (Ktbl, 2013a).

For modeling the new CAP reform, farmers can also consider hedges since they count to the EFAs. For their cost calculation, it is assumed that hedges have lifespans of 20 years. Only variable maintenance costs are taken into account since often hedges already exist; alternatively the planting and establishing of hedges could be funded by programs or farmers. Then they can apply for grant funds (Meyerhoff, 2011). Variable costs in this case are calculated using an official cost catalog of the Bavarian National Office for the Environment (Beiersdorf, 2012). Labour time is not considered since the model assumes perfect outsourcing of hedge maintenance. Variable costs consist of (a) trimming (1.5 times per year in the first four years), (b) cutting parts of the hedge back to the trunk 5 times within 20 years, (c) disposing wood and shrubs (also five times within 20 years), and (d) the gross margin (opportunity costs) of wheat production. The total variable costs for hedges per ha and year totals 5,407 Euros.

²⁰Due to Regulation EU EURATOM No. 966/2012, Regulation No. 1306/2013, and Regulation No. 908/2014 the amount of European agricultural payments have to be public.

²¹Entered into force on the 21st of September 2015.

²²According to the CAP, AES should only compensate farmers for their losses and not put incentives to gain from implementing AES.
3.2.9. Energetic biomass production

From the early eighties to 2010, the amount of biogas plants in Hesse reached a level of 124. These plants supply around 48 MW and utilize an area of 10,400 ha, which covers 1.2% of the agricultural area. Almost 90% of that area is covered with silo maize and the rest with other grains. Compared to that, the area of rapeseed for oil and diesel production is much higher with 47,000 ha in 2010 (Mawick et al., 2011).

In 2013, the total capacity of biogas plants in Wetterau county was around 73,000 MWh per year (Dölling and Voß, 2014). Within a range of 15 km around Wöllstadt, the biogas capacity was around 16,000 MWh per year. According to LLH (2012), 62% of the biogas production in 2011 was supplied by silo maize. Depending on the silo maize yield for biogas, which is assumed to be 500 dt per ha, in the case study, the area for silo maize production utilized in biogas plants, is currently (2016) around 100 ha per municipality within the intensively used agricultural areas of the cluster analysis mentioned in section 3.2.8. This is around 1% of the area in Wöllstadt and is used as an upper limit for the model according to the maximum biogas capacity.

3.2.10. Land tenure

Within Hesse and the Darmstadt district, around 64% to 68% of the agricultural area is rented. In Wetterau county, 64% is rented; this is in Hesse no exception (Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt, 2012j). In 2010, the arable land rent in Darmstadt district was 201 Euros per ha, however, for newly rented land, the price was higher; about 255 Euros per ha arable land (Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt, 2012g). The average arable land rent for Wetterau county in total in 2010 was 214 Euros per ha, which is used as parameter for the model.

Since land rent is an important parameter in agricultural decision making, especially when looking at longer time periods, a second sensitivity analysis was conducted using different land prices. Compared to crop prices, land prices did not fluctuate annually around a certain price level but showed an increasing trend line for the last years. Within the same year, average rent prices differ from region to region. Therefore, average rent prices for arable land in all counties of Hesse for the year 2010 were taken from Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2012c) and compared. According to descriptive statistics ²³, Wetterau county almost exactly mirrors the median value of all observed counties. For the sensitivity analysis one standard deviation lower and higher than the median value were used as parameters.

²³Mean: 225.6; median: 216; min: 151; max: 342; Sd: 59.

FOLAS: Farm optimization at landscape scale

In this chapter, technical and mathematical dimensions of the model are described in detail. At first, the model content is presented in a programming language. In doing so, model components are summarized and classified into sets and variables. In the second section after an overview of the modeling procedure, mathematical model formulations are outlined. It follows a classification into two different modeling techniques, which are integral parts of the model procedure. At the end of the section, alternate political incentive schemes will be presented. They are simulated in order to compare effects of the new CAP reform on some chosen biodiversity indicators within our study region. These indicators will be described in the last part of the chapter.

4.1. Model content in GAMS language

In order to set up our model, General Algebraic Modeling System (GAMS) software was used. GAMS is an elaborated modeling system, solving mathematical programming problems through optimization. Before elaborating on the mathematical model formulations, which are used to explain the case study at hand, basic system components of the case study are introduced in the mode of sets and endogenous variables. The values of variables are unknown and will be simulated by the model. On the contrary, parameters are fixed values (data) that are used by the model in order to calculate variables (Rosenthal, 2017). They were presented in the previous chapter.

4.1.1. Sets

GAMS uses sets in order to integrate system components into the modeling process. Each set contains elements, capturing certain dimensions. In order to get a broad picture of our model

world, all FOLAS sets are summarized in table 4.1 with a short description of their elements.

In total we have 24 farms g in the case study. They are classified into arable farms a(g), plant and pig-fattening farms m(g), and plant and dairy producing farms d(g). Every farm type is randomly distributed to the farmland at the beginning of the modeling process and does not change throughout the model iterations. However, some farms and farm types may close down during farm size optimization and no longer exist after the model run. Potentially they are in the programming, but not chosen.

The set *act* covers all cropping and livestock farming activities, whereas the two sets lu(act) and li(act) are subsets of *act* and include only the cropping activities or only the livestock keeping activities, respectively. For the model, all crops in the list in table 3.2 (down to triticale, excluding oats) are included. The production method of permanent grassland is differentiated between silage and hay production. Silo maize production is further divided into maize silage as a fodder crop and silo maize for biogas plants. Additionally, corn cob mix and summer peas, as alternative land use activities, are included in the model. Thus almost the whole cropped area of Wöllstadt is covered by the model activities (97.6%).

For livestock-keeping activities, information on feeding practices is required. Fodder crops are summarized in the set fc(lu), which is a subset of lu(act). The set for feed nutrients *feed* includes energy, proteins, RNB (ruminal nitrogen balance), and dry matter.

Farming inputs contain land, labour, capital, pig, and dairy stable places. They are separated into farming inputs i including all of them and the subset lu(i) for farming inputs of only the cropping activities.

Each farm has a set (f) of 36 potential fields. The number of fields per farm is based on GIS information about the original field number of the study area divided by the amount of farms in the case study (24 farms). However, fields do not need to be fully utilized by farmers. The optimal field size, which is one of the model variables, determines the amount of fields since each farm has a predetermined amount of agricultural land within the linear programming part of the model (according to the spatial simplification explained in section 2.4.2.2). An overview of predetermined farm sizes used by the model can be found in Appendix C.

4.1.2. Variables

Variables used in the model are summarized in table 4.2, with their descriptions and variable types as they are implemented in GAMS. Prior to model execution, variable values are unknown.

Declaration	Description	Elements		
act	Cropping and livestock activ- ities	Winter wheat, winter barley, triticale, rye, silo maize, silo maize for biogas, corn cob mix, corn maize, potato, sugar beet, oilseed rape, per- manent grassland (silage), permanent grassland (hay), grasses (silage), summer peas, fallow, pig- fattening, dairy		
lu(act)	Cropping activities	Winter wheat, winter barley, triticale, rye, silo maize, silo maize for biogas, corn cob mix, corn maize, potato, sugar beet, oilseed rape, perma- nent grassland (silage), permanent grassland (hay), grasses (silage), summer peas, fallow		
li(act)	Livestock activities	pig-fattening, dairy		
fc(lu)	Fodder crops	Winter wheat, winter barley, triticale, rye, silo maize, corn cob mix, corn maize, permanent grass- land (silage), permanent grassland (hay), grasses (silage), summer peas		
feed	Feed nutrients	Energy, proteins, ruminal nitrogen balance (RNB), dry matter		
i	Farming inputs	Land, labour, capital, pig stable places, dairy stable places		
lu(i)	Farming inputs for cropping activities	Land, labour, capital		
g	Farms	Farm 1 - farm 24		
a(g)	Arable farms	Farm 1, farm 2, farm 4, farm 5, farm 6, farm 7, farm 8, farm 12, farm 14, farm 15, farm 16, farm 18, farm 20, farm 23, farm 24		
m(g)	Plant and pig-fattening farms	Farm 3, farm 10, farm 11, farm 13, farm 21		
d(g)	Plant and dairy-producing farms	Farm 9, farm 17, farm 19, farm 22		
f	Fields	Field 1 - field 36		

Table 4.1.: Model sets: declarations and descriptions.

FOLAS maximizes the total gross margin (TGM) of all farms in the municipality (TGM_mun) by summing up the TGM of each farm, field, and land use type. For example, $x_{g,f,lu}$ is one of the central variables, calculating the levels of cropping activities in ha per farm and field. It is a 'Specially Ordered Sets Type 1' (SOS1) variable. This means, that only one element of the last set can have positive values (with the rest being zero) (McCarl et al., 2012, chapter XXI). In that case, each field f per farm g of the variable x can have only one cropping activity lu. This is necessary because now a land use decision is linked with one field of a certain size. With this special type of variable, where mutual exclusivity of elements within a set is forced, the model changes to a mixed integer programming model, requiring another solver in GAMS: the SCIP (solving constraint integer programs) solver¹.

Livestock keeping activities $y_{g,li}$ and flowering strips $aes_{g,f}$ are both positive variables and provide information about activity levels regarding their sets: $y_{g,li}$ counts the level of occupied livestock stable places per farm (for cattle or pigs) and $aes_{g,f}$ the level of flowering strips per field and farm.

In GAMS, it is possible and often advisable to assign bounds or starting values to variables. This is done for the upper bound of $aes_{g,f}$ being one. Therefore, flowering strips cannot be bigger than one ha². However, in order to model flowering strips more accurately, their width is taken into account as well. Therefore, another variable is included: $aes_width_{g,f}$. It is a semi-continuous variable. If it is non-zero, it takes on a given level above a minimum or below a maximum. The minimum level for $aes_width_{g,f}$ is five, meaning that flowering strips are at least five meters wide.

For livestock-feeding practices, another positive variable is implemented: $feedtrans_{g,fc}$. It calculates the total amount of fodder crops that is transferred from one's own crop production in order to feed livestock. This variable is calculated for each farm and depends on the livestock type and number.

Off-farm work $(of f_lab_g)$ covers the amount of family labour hours spent outside the agricultural farm. On the contrary, farmers can hire additional labour hours $(hire_lab_g)$. Both variables are positive variables and provide insights into the labour allocation patterns of agricultural farms.

The possibility of renting out land is covered by the variable $rentout_land_{g,f}$. It shows whether a farmer gives up his or her land under the current (short-run) production conditions. Under the given production conditions, this variable should be zero since in the model calibration farming practices are assumed to be stable (in a short-term perspective). Renting out land is linked with farm size changes. However, farm size changes are modeled only in the 3rd iteration where

¹For more information about the SCIP solver, see Maher et al. (2017).

²According to HMUKLV (2015b), flowering strips need to be at least five meters wide and smaller than one ha.

Declaration	Туре	Description
$x_{g,f,lu}$	Specially Ordered Sets Type	Land use activities per farm and field [ha]
	1 (SOS1)	
$y_{g,li}$	Positive variable	Livestock activities per farm [amount of
		stable places]
$aes_{g,f}$	Positive variable	AES in form of flowering strips per farm
		and field [ha]
$aes_width_{g,f}$	Semi-continuous variable	Width of flowering strips per farm and field
		[m]
$feedtrans_{g,fc}$	Positive variable	Fodder crops fed to livestock per farm [dt]
off_lab_g	Positive variable	Off-farm labour per farm [hours]
$hire_lab_g$	Positive variable	Hired labour per farm [hours]
$rentout_land_{g,f}$	Positive variable	Land rented out per farm and field [ha]
$fieldsize_{g,f}$	Semi-continuous variable	Field size per farm and field [ha]

Table 4.2.: Model variables: declarations, types, and descriptions.

farmers interact with each other. In all other iterations, this variable serves as a test of whether the modeled farming structure is stable under the current short-term conditions.

The field size variable $fieldsize_{g,f}$ also counts to the semi-continuous variables. It provides the possibility to allocate upper and lower bounds if the value is non-zero. In comparison to standard positive variables, semi-continuous variables need not have a value if forcing an upper or lower bound on it (Rosenthal, 2017). As noticed above, this is required since a farmer does not need 36 potential fields. $Fieldsize_{g,f}$ calculates the size of each field and thereby the amount of fields per farm.

4.2. Mathematical model formulations

Within this section, the main equations that constitute our model are written down and described comprehensively. As previously introduced in section 2.4.2.2, FOLAS follows a certain execution logic comprising four iterations. The iteration procedure is outlined and charted in the following subsection.

4.2.1. Iteration procedure

FOLAS acts at farm, field, and municipality level. In doing so, the logic of farm consolidation and farm size changes as part of long-term structural change processes is addressed. Within the model procedure, field-level information serves as a model input, which constraints model output at the farm level. Farm-level output is then used as another model input affecting the next iteration and so on. Figure 4.1 gives an overview of the iteration procedure at field, farm, and municipality levels.

The first iteration ought to simulate the current farming conditions. The amount of farms and field size are adapted to the real conditions of the case study. Since the actual fields are relatively small, the field size variable has an upper bound of 3.5 ha with respect to field size information mentioned in section 3.2.5. In order to account for the smaller field sizes, labour coefficients are adapted accordingly. Labour requirements (per ha) are based on an average field size of 2 ha (see Appendix H).

Within the 1st iteration, farms do not interact with each other. This delivers the calibration results of our case study. The objective of each farm is to maximize the total gross margin (TGM) considering their land, labour, stable, and capital constraints. In maximizing the sum of each farm's TGM, the aim of the 1st iteration is to allocate grassland proportions to the available farms in an optimal manner. Therefore, a grassland constraint is implemented at the municipality level. There are other farming aspects implemented at the municipality level. These are sugar beet and potato contracts, the maximum area of silo maize for biogas production, and the available budget for flowering strips. The model decides on their allocation. Often, such legal conditions are allocated 'a priori' to the farms either due to survey information (Kächele and Dabbert, 2002; Aurbacher, 2010; Kantelhardt, 2003) or averages (Dabbert et al., 1999). We assume that farms are different with respect to these aspects. Since no data is available, the applied mode of allocation seems plausible as due to path dependencies and farm developments, certain farm structures evolve (Balmann, 1999).

It has to be noted that the first iteration also simulates crops, livestock, and all other variables summarized in table 4.2 above. The land use and field size variables can be visualized via GIS. As we want to show how iterations are linked with each other, only the grassland variable is relevant as an iteration result at the moment.

In the 2nd iteration, land consolidation is assumed. If farmers reach full amalgamation of their land, they are able to increase field sizes. Under these new conditions, the field size bounds are relaxed, and each farmer just needs to have at least five fields³ (due to crop rotation considerations). Furthermore, per ha labour coefficients are now based on labour requirements for fields, which have an average size of 5 ha (see Appendix H). Each farmer still maximizes the TGM through an optimal combination of crops and livestock production regarding their land, labour, stable, and capital endowments. The model structure stays the same except for the aforementioned

³Farm size divided by five.

changes in labour coefficients and field bounds. The amount of grassland per farm from the first iteration is transferred to the second iteration and fixed for the corresponding farm. These grassland constraints are now implemented at the farm level instead of the municipality level. The aim of the 2nd iteration is to model the optimal production of crops, livestock, and flowering strips per farm under the given grassland obligations. These iteration results are transferred to the next iteration.

The 3rd iteration has a fundamentally different model structure. It captures farm interrelations through land rentals within neighbourhoods. The aim is to simulate farm sizes based on the land use (cropping) results of the previous iteration. Therefore, cropping results are fixed, and changes in farm size are simulated by including a new variable. How this will be done is explained in more detail when we focus on the mathematical model formulations in section 4.2.3.1.

The aim of the 4th iteration is to simulate new farming decisions (crops, livestock, and flowering strips) based on the new farm sizes of the previous iteration. This iteration is similar to the 1st and 2nd iteration. It simulates final field sizes per farm. The upper bound on the field size variable is the same as in the 2nd iteration. However since farm sizes changed, field sizes might increase. Therefore, per ha labour requirements are based on labour coefficients that hypothesize fields of 10 ha (see Appendix H). Farms with grassland (from the 1st iteration) still have the fixed grassland proportions. If grassland farms quit the sector (in the 3rd iteration), their grassland is rented out to the neighbouring farm that increased its size at the expense of the abandoned farm.

The 1st, 2nd, and 4th iteration have similar model structures and operate as mixed integer linear programming models using the same mathematical formulations. Differences are the parameters mentioned above. The 3rd iteration, however, operates as a non-linear programming model due to an additional variable for the farm size simulation. In the following sections, these two model types are handled separately. A comprehensive list of variables and parameters is applied to both model types; variables are written in lower-case whereas parameters are written in upper-case.

4.2.2. Linear programming iterations

4.2.2.1. Objective function

Each farm increases its total gross margin (TGM) by producing an optimal combination of crops (including flowering strips) and livestock. Basically, our objective function is similar to linear programming models and takes into account revenues and variable costs of production (see also Henseler et al. (2009), Audsley et al. (2006), or Van Wenum et al. (2004)). Farmers can hire



Figure 4.1.: Overview of the iteration procedures to simulate structural change processes at the field, farm, and municipality levels. Dotted arrows indicate information transfer and solid arrows indicate iteration results.

labour, which creates costs (see for example Júdez and Miguel (2002) or Lauber (2006)); however, it might pay off. On the other hand, off-farm wage increases the TGM if after farming a family labour force is left in order to work outside the farm. Moreover, each farmer has to pay land rents. They depend on the farm size⁴ and are fixed cost factors. A farmer can also decide to rent out his or her own land (see also Lauber (2006) or Kantelhardt (2003)). He or she would do that, if the TGM of farming activities were negative or if the farm size reached a threshold where resources no longer sufficed to cultivate the whole land. However, the latter is not possible since the farm sizes stay the same within the 1st iteration. Renting out land would reduce land rent paid by farmers. The renting activity is implemented in order to prove whether the resources are allocated according to the needs of the farm sizes. If not, the farm would reduce farming under the given production conditions and the released land would be abandoned.

The objective function of this iteration is the sum of each farm's TGM (TGM_{mun}) and is written as follows:

$$TGM_mun = \sum_{g,f,lu} (P_{lu} \cdot YIELD_{lu} + PREM_{lu} - VC_{lu})x_{g,f,lu} + \sum_{g,li} (P_{li} - VC_{li})y_{g,li} + \sum_{g,f} (P_AES - VC_AES + PREM_AES)aes_{g,f} - \sum_{g} hire_lab_g \cdot LP + \sum_{g} off_lab_g \cdot WOFF - \sum_{g} RENTED_LAND_g \cdot LRENT_g + \sum_{g,f} rentout_land_{g,f} \cdot LRENT_g$$

$$(4.1)$$

where

- P_{lu} is the price vector for all cropping activities lu [EUR/ha].
- $YIELD_{lu}$ is the yield vector for all cropping activities lu [dt/ha].

⁴The amount of owned land vs rented land is taken from statistics (see section 3.2.10).

- $PREM_{lu}$ is the direct payments (DP) vector for all cropping activities lu [EUR/ha].
- VC_{lu} is the variable costs vector for all cropping activities lu [EUR/ha].
- $x_{g,f,lu}$ is the area of crop type produced per field f and farm g [ha].
- P_{li} is the price vector for livestock-keeping activities li [EUR/stable place and year].
- *VC*_{*li*} is the variable costs vector for livestock-keeping activities *li* [EUR/stable place and year].
- $y_{g,li}$ is the level of occupied livestock stable places per farm g.
- *P_AES* is the price for flowering strips [EUR/ha].
- VC_AES are the variable costs for flowering strips [EUR/ha].
- *PREM_AES* are the DP for flowering strips [EUR/ha].
- $aes_{g,f}$ is the size of each flowering strip per field f and farm g [ha].
- $hire_lab_g$ is the level of hired labour per farm g [hours].
- LP is the labour price for hired farm workers [EUR/hour].
- off_{lab_q} is the level of off-farm labour per farm g [hours].
- WOFF is the off-farm wage for work outside the farm [EUR/hour].
- $RENTED_LAND_g$ is the amount of rented land for each farm g [ha].
- $rentout_land_{g,f}$ is the level of land rented out per farm g [ha].
- $LRENT_g$ is the land rent for each farm g [EUR/ha].

4.2.2.2. Resource constraints

Farm resources consist of land, labour, capital, and stable place capacities. Each farm has a different amount of production that determines capital and stable place capacities. Family labour capacities, however, are the same for all farms.

For the land resources, two conditions need to be considered. First, only farm land is available for cropping activities and participation in AES in the form of flowering strips. The actual farm land can be reduced by the amount of land rented out (see also Lauber (2006) and Kantelhardt (2003)):

$$\sum_{f,lu} LANDREQ_{lu} \cdot x_{g,f,lu}$$

$$+ \sum_{f} LANDREQ_AES \cdot aes_{g,f}$$

$$\leq GWNNSIZE_{g} - \sum_{f} rentout_land_{g,f}$$

$$(4.2)$$

- $LANDREQ_{lu}$ is the amount of land required per ha cropping activity lu^5 .
- $x_{g,f,lu}$ is the area of crop type produced per field f and farm g [ha].
- $LANDREQ_AES$ is the amount of land required per ha flowering strip (= 1).
- $aes_{g,f}$ is the size of flowering strip per field f and farm g [ha].
- $GWNNSIZE_g$ is the farm size for each farm g.
- $rentout_land_{g,f}$ is the level of land rented out per farm g [ha].

Second, only owned land can be rented out:

$$\sum_{f} rentout_land_{g,f} \le OWN_LAND_g \tag{4.3}$$

where

• OWN_LAND_g is the amount of owned land in ha for each farm g.

Farm labour resources are allocated to the cropping, livestock, and AES activities per farm. Hired labour increases and off-farm labour decreases the available labour stock (see also Júdez and Miguel (2002) or Lauber (2006)):

⁵Which is 1 for all cropping activities.

$$\sum_{f,lu} INPTREQ_{'labour',lu} \cdot x_{g,f,lu} + \sum_{li} INPTREQ_{'labour',li} \cdot y_{g,li} + \sum_{f} INPTREQ_{-}L_{-}AES \cdot aes_{g,f} -hire_{-}lab_{g} + off_{-}lab_{g} \leq INPTCAP_{'labour',g}$$
(4.4)

- INPTREQ'_{labour',lu} is the amount of labour required per ha cropping activity lu.
- *INPTREQ*_{'labour',li} is the amount of labour required per year and livestock stable place *li*.
- $y_{g,li}$ is the level of occupied livestock stable places per farm g.
- *INPTREQ_L_AES* is the amount of labour required per ha flowering strip.
- $hire_lab_g$ is the level of hired labour per farm g [hours].
- off_lab_g is the level of off-farm labour per farm g [hours].
- $INPTCAP_{labour',g}$ is the labour capacity available for each farm g.

However, the maximal amount of off-farm labour hours cannot exceed the family labour hours available per farm:

$$off_lab_g \le LABCAPFAM_g$$

$$(4.5)$$

where

• $LABCAPFAM_g$ is the amount of family labour hours available per farm g.

Another farm resource is the amount of financial capital, which is modeled similarly to the labour resources but with some small deviations:

$$\sum_{f,lu} INPTREQ_{'capital',lu} \cdot x_{g,f,lu} + \sum_{li} INPTREQ_{'capital',li} \cdot y_{g,li} + \sum_{f} INPTREQ_I_AES \cdot aes_{g,f} \leq INPTCAP_{'capital',g}$$
(4.6)

- $INPTREQ_{'capital',lu}$ is the amount of capital required per ha cropping activity lu.
- *INPTREQ*'_{capital',li} is the amount of capital required per year and livestock stable place *li*.
- *INPTREQ_I_AES* is the amount of capital required per ha flowering strip.
- $INPTCAP_{capital',g}$ is the capital capacity available for each farm g.

The constraint for the stable place capacity for pigs is specified as follows:

$$\sum_{li} INPTREQ_{'pigstableplace',li} \cdot y_{g,li} \le INPTCAP_{'pigstableplace',g}$$
(4.7)

where

- *INPTREQ*_{'pigstableplace',li} is the amount of pig stable places required per livestock activity *li*.
- $INPTCAP_{pigstableplace',g}$ is the amount of pig stable places available within each farm g.

A similar restriction is implemented for dairy farming.

4.2.2.3. Biophysical and legal constraints

Due to biophysical constraints, farmers have some natural production limits that need to be captured by the model as well. This is typically done in programming models, and the way of implementing does not deviate from many other models (see for example Kantelhardt (2003) or Kächele (1999)). Potatoes, for example, cannot be planted on the same field for two or three years

in a row without suffering yield reductions. It is recommended to wait at least four years until the next seeding. This constraint for potatoes is translated as follows:

$$\sum_{f} x_{g,f,'potato'} \le GWNNSIZE_g \cdot 0.25 \tag{4.8}$$

where

- $x_{g,f,'potato'}$ is the area of potato produced per field f and farm g [ha].
- $GWNNSIZE_q$ is the size of each farm g [ha].

The same applies to sugar beets and rapeseed. Maize fields need at least one crop rotation after three planting periods. The same applies to a combination of halm crops. This is mathematically translated into less than 75% maize or halm crops per season. Wheat is especially sensitive if planted two years in a row. The model assumes that the yield of stubble wheat⁶ decreases by 10%. Therefore, another wheat activity (stubble wheat) is included, and the (first) wheat activity is restricted to 50%.

Biophysical restrictions all apply to each farm, whereas legal constraints are implemented on the municipality level. Potatoes and sugar beets are traded under contracts, and thus the observed production level is assumed. For potatoes, this is 2.3% which translates into:

$$\sum_{g,f} x_{g,f,'potato'} \le \sum_{g} GWNNSIZE_g \cdot 0.023$$
(4.9)

The observed level of produced sugar beets in the calibration year is 16.4%. As described in 3.2.9, silo maize production for biogas plants covers around 1% of the study area. Participation in AES is restricted to the available budget within Wöllstadt as mentioned in 3.2.8. Legal obligations restrict the conversion of permanent grassland into arable fields. The amount of grassland, which is 5%, is restricted to at least the observed level. Farmers are allowed to convert arable land into grassland.

⁶The second wheat cultivation at the same location.

4.2.2.4. Livestock keeping

Livestock-keeping farms are endowed with a certain amount of stable places (see section 3.2.3). In the model, the stable place capacity of pig-fattening farms needs to be reached with at least 95%:

$$y_{m,'pig-fattening'} \ge INPTCAP_{'pigstableplace',m} \cdot 0.95$$
 (4.10)

where

- $y_{m,'pig-fattening'}$ is the level of occupied pig stable places per plant and pig-fattening farm m.
- *INPTCAP*_{'pigstableplace',m} is the amount of pig stable places available per plant and pig-fattening farm m.

For dairy, at least 50% of the stable place capacity needs to be occupied. The maximum level of livestock keeping is the full occupation of the stable place capacity of each farm. Since silo maize (fodder) is only fed to dairy and not to pigs and since the model assumes that silo maize silage is fully used as fodder within the dairy farm, there is another boundary condition implemented:

$$\sum_{f} x_{d,f,'silomaize'} \cdot YIELD_{'silomaize'} \le feedtrans_{d,'silomaize'}$$
(4.11)

where

- $x_{d,f,'silomaize'}$ is the area of silo maize production [ha] per plant and dairy-producing farm d.
- *YIELD*'*silomaize*' is the yield for silo maize [dt/ha].
- *feedtrans*_{d,'silomaize'} is the amount of silo maize [dt] fed to dairy per plant and pig-fattening farm *d*.

Additionally, silo maize production of the other farm types is forced to zero. The very same applies to grass production, which is only fed to dairy as grass silage.

Livestock feeding practices are further modeled through several other equations. Our model formulations are aligned to Schönhart et al. (2011) and constitute the following equations.

In general, there is always a feed balance to make sure that the transferred fodder crops deliver the required nutrient contents for the produced amount of livestock. For pigs, the required nutrients are energy and protein, and for dairy, the dry matter (DM) content. According to GfE (2006), energy requirements of pigs are around 10.4 GJ per year and stable place. The protein requirements are 78.5 kg per year and pig stable place, which are partly delivered by the grain ratio in the fodder. The average nutrition contents of the fodder crops in the model are taken from LfL (2017) and are summarized in Appendix F. For cows, one important parameter is the feed amount in dry matter, which is 60.6 dt per year and stable place⁷. The following example shows the feed balance for dairy.

$$\sum_{fc} feedtrans_{d,fc} \cdot NUTCAPCROPS_{fc,'drymatter'} \\ \geq NUTREQ_{'dairy','drymatter'} \cdot y_{d,'dairy'}$$
(4.12)

where

- $feedtrans_{d,fc}$ is the amount of fodder crops fc [dt] fed to dairy per plant and dairyproducing farm d.
- *NUTCAPCROPS_{fc,'drymatter'}* is the DM content of fodder crops *fc* [kg DM/kg fresh matter].
- NUTREQ'_{dairy','drymatter'} is the DM requirement per dairy stable place [dt/year].
- $y_{d,'dairy'}$ is the level of occupied dairy stable places per dairy-producing farm d.

A production balance makes sure, that the amount of fodder crops is produced by the same farm and thus available for feeding purposes. The following example shows the production balance for plant and pig-fattening farms and is similar to the livestock feed balances of Schönhart et al. (2011). A similar equation is implemented in the model for dairy-producing farms.

$$-\sum_{f} x_{m,f,fc} \cdot YIELD_{fc} + feedtrans_{m,fc} \le 0$$
(4.13)

where

⁷This is a recommendation of the GfE (2001) for dairy with 650 live weight giving 20 kg milk per day.

- $x_{m,f,fc}$ is the area of fodder crops fc produced per field f and per pig-fattening farm m [ha].
- $YIELD_{fc}$ is the yield of fodder crops fc [dt/ha].
- $feedtrans_{m,fc}$ is the amount of fodder crops fc fed to pigs per pig-fattening farm m [dt].

In order to reach certain proportions of fodder crops within the fodder ratio, further equations are needed. According to GfE (2006), 10.6% of the energy requirement needs to be delivered by wheat but must be smaller than 50%. In the following exemplary equation, the energy requirement per occupied pig stable place needs to be delivered by at least 26.7% barley.

$$feedtrans_{m,'barley'} \cdot NUTCAPCROPS_{'barley','energy'} \\ \geq NUTREQ_{'pig-fattening','energy'} \cdot y_{m,'pig-fattening'} \cdot 0.267$$
(4.14)

where

- $feedtrans_{m,'barley'}$ is the amount of barley fed to pigs per plant and pig-fattening farm m [dt].
- *NUTCAPCROPS*'_{barley','energy'} is the energy content of barley [GJ/dt fresh matter].
- *NUTREQ*_{'pig-fattening', 'energy'} is the energy requirement per pig stable place [GJ/year].
- $y_{m,'pig-fattening'}$ is the level of occupied pig stable places per plant and pig-fattening farm m.

The model assumes that the dry matter requirement is completely delivered by the farm's own crop production. The total permanent grassland yields (silage or hay) need to be used first as fodder. For dairy, 50-60% of the total DM requirement needs to be delivered by silage coming from grasslands, maize, or grasses from arable fields. However, the maximum amount of the latter is 10% of the required DM since we assume a maize dominated fodder ratio due to statistical information on land use. The maximum amount of grain in the dairy fodder needs to be lower than 6% with respect to the energy requirements (Meyer, 2005). Additionally, the RNB needs to be around zero (LfL, 2017, pp. 13), which is implemented in the model as being higher than -5 and lower than 5:

$$\sum_{fc} feedtrans_{d,fc} \cdot NUTCAPCROPS_{fc,'RNB'} \ge -5$$
(4.15)

and

$$\sum_{fc} feedtrans_{d,fc} \cdot NUTCAPCROPS_{fc,'RNB'} \le 5$$
(4.16)

where

- *feedtrans*_{d,fc} is the amount of fodder crops fed to dairy per plant and dairy-producing farm *d* [dt].
- $NUTCAPCROPS_{fc,'RNB'}$ is the RNB contribution per fodder crop.

With the following equation, the model makes sure that the total amount of hay and grass coming from permanent grassland is used as fodder:

$$\sum_{f} x_{d,f,'grasssilage'} \cdot YIELD_{'grasssilage'} + x_{d,f,'hay'} \cdot YIELD_{'hay'}$$

$$\geq feedtrans_{d,'grasssilage'} + feedtrans_{d,'hay'}$$
(4.17)

where

- $x_{d,f,'grasssilage'}$ is the area of grass silage produced per field f by plant and dairy-producing farm d [ha].
- *YIELD*_{'grasssilage'} is the yield for grass silage coming from permanent grassland [dt/ha].
- $x_{d,f,'hay'}$ is the area of hay produced per field f by plant and dairy-producing farm d [ha].
- *YIELD*_{'hay'} is the yield for hay coming from permanent grassland [dt/ha].
- *feedtrans*_{d,'grasssilage'} is the amount of grass silage fed to dairy per plant and dairy-producing farm *d* [dt].
- *feedtrans*_{d,'hay'} is the amount of hay fed to dairy per plant and dairy-producing farm d [dt].

4.2.2.5. Grassland constraints

As described in the previous section, we have four iterations. The 1st iteration allocates the amount of grassland to the agricultural farms of the municipality. The assumption behind is that due to path dependencies and competitive pressure, permanent grassland is distributed in an optimal manner over time.

Within the 2nd iteration, the model does not allow for changes in the grassland proportions. The grassland area per farm from the 1st iteration is transferred to the 2nd iteration and allocated to the respective farms. This means that farmers can change the location of their grassland but not the total area under cultivation. In doing so, a new set for farms having grassland is introduced: glfarms. This ranges from one to fourteen⁸, but similar to the fields, each element does not need to have a value. A maximum of fourteen farms can have grassland. Afterward, for each grassland farm simulated by the 1st iteration, a constraint is included in the 2nd model iteration, which fixes the amount of grassland. This constraint includes the proportion of permanent grassland, which is allocated to the new set and transferred as minimal amounts to the respective farm. The mathematical formulation for one of four farms⁹ having grassland is:

$$\sum_{f} x_{'farm9',f,'grasssilage'} + x_{'farm9',f,'hay'} \ge GRASSLAND_{'glfarm1'}$$
(4.18)

where

- $x_{'farm9',f,'grasssilage'}$ is the area of grass silage produced per field f by farm nine [ha].
- $x_{'farm9',f,'hay'}$ is the area of hay produced per field f by farm nine [ha].
- *GRASSLAND*'_{glfarm1'} is the area of permanent grassland for grassland farm one glfarm1 calculated by the 1st iteration [ha].

This kind of constraint is adapted to all other grassland farms. For those farms it is possible to cultivate more permanent grassland; however, they are not allowed to cultivate less.

After rearranging farm land within the farm size optimization (3rd iteration), some farmers quit farming and hand over the entire land to the neighbouring farm. In the case of a grassland farm, the grassland proportion is then also transferred to the neighbouring farm. This is modeled in the 4th iteration. For the example above, the grassland farm one ('glfarm1'), which is farm nine ('farm9') quits farming and hands over its land to farm ten ('farm10'). Therefore, the grassland proportion is also transferred:

$$\sum_{f} x_{'farm10',f,'grasssilage'} + x_{'farm10',f,'hay'} \ge GRASSLAND_{'glfarm1'}$$
(4.19)

⁸Arbitrary number; in several model runs, this number of farms having grassland was never reached.

⁹Within the 1st iteration, the model generates four farms with grassland (see Appendix M).

- $x_{'farm10',f,'grassilage'}$ is the area of grass silage produced per field f by farm ten [ha].
- $x_{farm10',f,hay'}$ is the area of hay produced per field f by farm ten [ha].
- *GRASSLAND*'_{glfarm1'} is the area of permanent grassland for grassland farm one glfarm1 calculated by the 1st iteration [ha].

4.2.2.6. Equality constraints

As mentioned in section 4.2, $x_{g,f,lu}$ is a SOS1 variable and therefore needs to fulfill a certain condition. In this case, the SOS1 application makes sure that each field can have only one land use type. For the variable, it is necessary to define the amount to which $x_{g,f,lu}$ adds up. The possibility of planting flowering strips along fields f per farm g needs to be considered as well:

$$\sum_{lu} x_{g,f,lu} + aes_{g,f} = fieldsize_{g,f}$$
(4.20)

where

- $x_{g,f,lu}$ is the area of crop type produced per field f and farm g [ha].
- $aes_{g,f}$ is the size of flowering strip per field f and farm g [ha].
- $fieldsize_{g,f}$ is the size of each field f cultivated by farm g [ha].

Furthermore, the sum of a farm's field sizes equals the total size of the farm:

$$\sum_{f} fieldsize_{g,f} = GWNNSIZE_{g}$$
(4.21)

where

• $GWNNSIZE_g$ is the size of each farm g [ha].

With a lower bound on $aes_width_{g,f}$, the model forces flowering strips to be at least five meters wide. The width of flowering strips is defined as follows:

$$aes_width_{g,f} = aes_{g,f} \cdot 10,000 \div FIELDLENGTH_g$$
(4.22)

- $aes_width_{g,f}$ is the width of flowering strips per field f and farm g [m].
- $FIELDLENGTH_q$ is the length of each farm g [m]¹⁰.

4.2.3. Non-linear programming iteration

Non-linear programming models are similar to linear ones in that they are composed of an objective function and several resource constraints. However, non-linear programming models have at least one nonlinear function. The optimization problem at hand has some nonlinear constraints related to farm labour and due to the consideration of economies of size (EoS). In order to solve the non-linear model with GAMS, the CONOPT solver was used. Before elaborating on the mathematical model formulations, an overview of sets and variables is given.

The sets of the model are the same as in the linear model above as summarized in table 4.1, although not all of them are used. Sets comprising livestock feeding practices are omitted since the amount of livestock and the feeding patterns are calculated in the linear model part and kept as a constant parameter during the nonlinear model. The same applies to flowering strip activities as well as to the proportions of cropping activities.

In the non-linear programming part of the model run, the total gross margin TGM_{mun} of all farms is calculated and maximized as an objective function. This is a typical exercise of regional farm models (see, for example Balmann (1997); Dabbert et al. (1999)). The difference to our linear programming model is that farms are assumed to be spatially interrelated and able to lease out their land resources. With this model specification, the long-term perspective and the issue of farm succession is indicated. In the longer run, farmers having a successor perform better than others and have a higher probability of keeping the agricultural production going (Van Passel et al., 2007).

The land exchanging patterns, though, are strongly linked to spatial issues. We assume that only neighbouring farms lease land to each other¹¹. Otherwise they couldn't exploit EoS to a full extent. By including a land exchanging module, the model can optimize each farm's size under the condition to rent in and out. The non-linear iteration also includes variables for off-farm work (off_lab_g) and hiring labour $(hire_lab_g)$ for each farm as in the linear model. Farm sizes are optimized regarding labour requirements for each crop $(labreq_{g,f})$, which depend on the field size.

¹⁰The length of each farm is assumed to be a fixed parameter as documented in Appendix C and is deducted from spatial simplification (see section 2.4.2.3).

¹¹According to Strohm (1998), neighbouring relations positively influence land leases.

The assumption behind this is that field and farm sizes are linearly linked to each other. Increases in farm sizes lead to increases in field sizes. This is a common assumption, also made by Brady et al. (2012).

4.2.3.1. Economies of size

In order to explicitly account for EoS, labour requirements need to be considered in a more specific manner. We show how this could be done.

Labour requirements, as well as variable machine costs for a farmer depend on the farm's field sizes. For each cropping activity¹², Ktbl data on permanent and seasonal labour in hours per ha and variable machine costs in Euros per ha were used. They apply to several field sizes and crop types. This database contains comprehensive information on labour requirement and machine costs for one, five, ten, and twenty ha. Based on these data, proximity functions for variable machine costs and labour requirements per ha were calculated for each crop. The relationships have been linear with R^2 -values between 0.97 and 0.99. The slope values of the linear functions were taken as machine cost/labour coefficients, which were later included in the objective function. All machine cost/labour coefficients are listed in Appendix I.1.

Afterward, proximity functions for the amount of labour hours per field size were calculated for each crop. These logarithmic functions have R^2 -values between 0.86 and 0.92¹³. Hereafter and as suggested by Nuppenau and Helmer (2007), an approximation was applied to each logarithmic function in order to receive broken rational functions around a certain field size level. According to statistical and spatial information we used an average of 3 ha for our case study. The resulting functions per arable crop were included in the model to calculate labour requirements for each crop and field. In order to allow for changes in farm sizes (and corresponding to that in field sizes), a farm size growth factor was included as a variable $(gwnn_size_g)$. The following example is for winter wheat¹⁴:

$$labreq_wheat_{g,f} \ge 5.67154367 + 5.499 \div Xfix_{g,f,'wheat'} \cdot gwnn_size_g$$
(4.23)

where

¹²Flowering strips are assumed to be independent from the farm size. As flowering strips are commonly planted along the field length, economies of size are unlikely to be considered by the farmer here.

¹³Logarithmic functions are listed in Appendix I.2.

¹⁴All other equations for the respective crop are listed in Appendix J.1.

- $labreq_wheat_{g,f}$ is the labour requirement for wheat per farm and field [hours/ha].
- $X fix_{g,f,'wheat'}$ is the area of wheat production for each farm and field [ha].
- $gwnn_size_g$ is the growth factor per farm g.

Since for several fields the area of wheat production $X fix_{g,f,'wheat'}$ is zero and division by zero is mathematically impossible, a condition for wheat production being greater than zero was included. This was made for every other equation calculating the labour requirement for a certain crop.

 $Gwnn_size_g$ values that are smaller than one indicate a reduction in the farm size. Values greater than one increase the size of the respective farm. In the objective function, this variable is multiplied by the fixed land use proportions $Xfix_{g,f,lu}$. Gross margins change due to increases or decreases in farm sizes. If farm sizes increase, EoS are exploited since less labour input is needed for bigger fields.

4.2.3.2. Objective function

The objective function maximizes the TGM at the municipality level TGM_mun , assuming land transferability among farms in order to account for the long-term perspective of the model. For TGM calculation, the costs are subtracted from the revenues.

As outlined in equation 4.24, the revenue consists of income from cropping activities $(X fix_{g,f,lu})$ and livestock activities $(Y fix_{g,li})$, as well as from participation in AES $(AES fix_{g,f})$. Those are now fixed parameters adopted from the former model iteration in which they were treated as variables. Fixed land use proportions $X fix_{g,f,lu}$ are multiplied by $gwnn_size_g$ in order to address the monetary revenues of exploiting EoS. $Gwnn_size_g$ values greater than one increase the TGM, and values lower than one decrease it. Off-farm income $of f_lab_g$ also promotes TGMs. As in the linear programing model, for each land use activity, a governmental payment is included. For alternate political incentive schemes, it is divided into two payment components as will be explained in the next section

On the other hand, variable costs of cropping activities, hiring labour, and renting land reduce the TGM. In contrast to the objective function of the linear programming model(s), variable costs for cropping activities are classified into direct (DC), service (SC), and machine costs (MC).

The reason for this division is that machine costs are assumed to correlate negatively with field sizes. Field sizes change due to farm size changes, whereas the other cost components are linearly positively correlated with the farm size. This means that direct and service costs increase

(decrease) in the same shape as an increase (decrease) in farm size. Marginal machine costs, however, get smaller if fields increase due to reduced labour requirements. Therefore, machine cost coefficients as a function of labour requirements were calculated (see previous subsection) and multiplied by the cropping activity, the farm size factor, and the labour requirement $labreq_{g,f}$ of the respective cropping activity. The labour requirement itself depends on the field size and was calculated separately (see also subsection above).

The objective function below needed to be re-formulated and disaggregated due to the labour requirement variables, which must be calculated separately for each crop type. The dots [...] mark all similar terms for each cropping activity.

$$TGM_mun = \sum_{g,f} (P_{lu} \cdot YIELD_{lu} + PREM_{lu} - DC_{lu} - SC_{lu})Xfix_{g,f,lu} \cdot gwnn_size_{g}$$

$$-[\sum_{g,f} labreq_wheat_{g,f} \cdot Xfix_{g,f,'wheat'} \cdot gwnn_size_{g} \cdot MC_{'wheat'}] - [...]$$

$$-\sum_{g,f} labreq_potato_seas_{g,f} \cdot Xfix_{g,f,'potato'} \cdot gwnn_size_{g} \cdot SLP$$

$$+\sum_{g,f} (P_AES - VC_AES + PREM_AES)AESfix_{g,f}$$

$$+\sum_{g,li} (P_{li} - VC_{li})Yfix_{g,li}$$

$$-\sum_{g} hire_lab_{g} \cdot LP$$

$$+\sum_{g} off_lab_{g} \cdot WOFF$$

$$-\sum_{g} (GWNNSIZE_{g} \cdot gwnn_size_{g} - OWN_LAND_{g}) \cdot LRENT_{g}$$

$$(4.24)$$

where

- P_{lu} is the price vector for all cropping activities lu [EUR/ha].
- $YIELD_{lu}$ is the yield vector for all cropping activities lu [dt/ha].
- $PREM_{lu}$ are the DP for the area of all cropping activities lu [EUR/ha].
- DC_{lu} is the direct costs vector for all cropping activities lu [EUR/ha].

- SC_{lu} is the service costs vector for all cropping activities lu [EUR/ha].
- $X fix_{g,f,lu}$ is the area of crop production for each crop type, field, and farm [ha].
- $gwnn_size_g$ is the growth factor per farm g.
- $labreq_wheat_{g,f}$ is the labour requirement for wheat per farm and field [hours/ha].
- *MC*_{'wheat'} are the machine costs for wheat [EUR/ha].
- *labreq_potato_seas_{g,f}* is the seasonal labour requirement for potatoes per farm and field [hours/ha].
- $X fix_{g,f,'potato'}$ is the area of potato production for each field and farm [ha].
- *SLP* is the seasonal labour price for hired farm workers [EUR/hour].
- *P_AES* is the price for flowering strips [EUR/ha].
- VC_AES are the variable costs for flowering strips [EUR/ha].
- *PREM_AES* are the direct payments for flowering strips [EUR/ha].
- $AESfix_{g,f}$ is the area of flowering strips for each field and farm [ha].
- P_{li} is the price for livestock-keeping activities li [EUR/stable place and year].
- VC_{li} are the variable costs for livestock-keeping activities li [EUR/stable place and year].
- $Y fix_{g,li}$ is the level of livestock-keeping activity per farm [stable places].
- *hire_lab_g* is the amount of hired labour per farm [hours].
- off_lab_g is the amount of off-farm labour per farm [hours].
- *LP* is the labour price for hired farm workers [EUR/hour].
- WOFF is the off-farm wage for work outside the farm [EUR/hour].
- $GWNNSIZE_g$ is the farm size per farm [ha].
- OWN_LAND_q is the amount of owned land per farm g [ha].
- $LRENT_g$ is the land rent per farm g [EUR/ha].

4.2.3.3. Resource constraints

The resources for farms in this model iteration consist of land and labour. Capital requirements shrink due to EoS. They play no important role as resource restrictions¹⁵. However, after farm

¹⁵Since we do not model investment decisions.

enlargement, it might be that capital no longer suffices. Therefore, in the followed model iteration, the capital capacities are adapted to new farm sizes according to table 3.4. This 4th and last model iteration is again a linear model calculating the final farming activities. At the same time, this validation step allows us to prove whether the new farm land is actually used by farmers. Husbandry capacities (as other resource constraints) were not included in the nonlinear programming iteration since livestock activities are assumed to stay the same and be independent from the farm size. In order to increase stable place capacities of livestock farms, investments are required. However, as mentioned above, investments are not the focus of this study, so they are not explicitly modeled.

In contrast to capital and husbandry capacities, land constraints are obviously needed. The sum of all cropping and AES activities of the former model step are restricted to the minimum amount of land available on the municipality level forcing the whole agricultural land to be used¹⁶. Cropping activities are multiplied with the farm growth factor $gwnn_size_g$:

$$\sum_{g,f,lu} LANDREQ_{lu} \cdot Xfix_{g,f,lu} \cdot gwnn_size_g + \sum_{g,f} LANDREQ_AES \cdot AESfix_{g,f} \ge \sum_g GWNNSIZE_g$$
(4.25)

where

- $LANDREQ_{lu}$ is the amount of land required per ha cropping activity lu^{17} .
- $X fix_{g,f,lu}$ is the area of crop production for each field and farm [ha].
- $gwnn_size_q$ is the growth factor per farm g.
- $LANDREQ_AES$ is the amount of land required per ha flowering strip (= 1).
- $AESfix_{g,f}$ is the area of flowering strip for each field and farm [ha].
- $GWNNSIZE_g$ is the farm size for each farm g.

Moreover, labour constraints are required when modeling EoS. The calculated labour requirement for each crop type is multiplied by the fixed cropping activity level and the farm growth factor at the farm level. Labour requirements for livestock and AES activities need to be considered, as well as hired and off-farm labour. Therefore, a labour market is implemented as in the linear

¹⁶In the next iteration, upper limits on land are used in order to check if the whole farm land is used, rented out, or left as fallow.

¹⁷Which is 1 for all cropping activities.

modeling iterations based on proposals of Júdez and Miguel (2002). The equation is implemented as follows, where the $[\ldots]$ mark all similar terms for each cropping activity.

$$\sum_{f} [labreq_wheat_{g,f} \cdot Xfix_{g,f,'wheat'} \cdot gwnn_size_{g}] + [...] \\ + \sum_{f} AESfix_{g,f} \cdot INPUTREQ_L_AES \\ + \sum_{li} INPUTREQ_{'labour',li} \cdot Yfix_{g,li} \\ -hire_lab_{g} + off_lab_{g} \leq LABCAPFAM_{g}$$
(4.26)

where

- $labreq_wheat_{g,f}$ is the amount of labour required per ha wheat production [hours/ha].
- $X fix_{g,f,'wheat'}$ is the area of wheat production for each field and farm [ha].
- $gwnn_size_g$ is the growth factor per farm g.
- $AESfix_{q,f}$ is the area of flowering strip for each field and farm [ha].
- *INPUTREQ_L_AES* is the labour requirement per ha flowering strip [hours].
- *INPUTREQ*_{'labour',li} is the labour requirement per occupied livestock stable place *li* [hours/stable place].
- $Y fix_{g,li}$ is the amount of occupied stable place per livestock-keeping activity li.
- $hire_lab_g$ is the level of hired labour per farm g [hours].
- off_lab_g is the level of off-farm labour per farm g [hours].
- $LABCAPFAM_g$ is the labour capacity per farm g [hours].

Labour requirements per farm need to be less than or equal to the available amount of family labour force plus the amount of hired labour. The amount of off-farm work cannot exceed the available amount of family labour, which is modeled with the following equation:

$$off_lab_q \le LABCAPFAM_q$$

$$(4.27)$$

where

• off_lab_g is the level of off-farm labour per farm g [hours].

4.2.3.4. Land rentals and neighboring effects

Modeling land rentals is strongly related to spatial dimensions of the model. Depending on the possibility of cultivating fields located next to their own fields, farmers can enlarge the cultivation area at the expense of the neighbouring farm in order to gain from EoS. This enlargement takes place at the farm level, and ignores the current field structures of a farm. Some exceptions prevail; only two neighbouring farms are capable of leasing or renting land to each other, although they might have two farm neighbours. There are two farms modeled that have two neighbours with the possibility to lease land. This exception stems from the spatial locations of the farms. Each farm needs at least one neighbour (with the same field length). When looking at the rectangular stylized farms in Appendix A, this condition only holds true if farm 12 and 17 have two farm neighbours each. The following equation shows an example of a typical pairwise land change constraint:

$$GWNNSIZE_{'farm1'} \cdot gwnn_size_{'farm1'} - GWNNSIZE_{'farm1'}$$

$$\leq -(GWNNSIZE_{'farm2'} \cdot gwnn_size_{'farm2'} - GWNNSIZE_{'farm2'})$$
(4.28)

where

- $GWNNSIZE_{farm1'}$ is the farm size of farm 1 [ha].
- $gwnn_size_{farm1'}$ is the growth factor of farm 1.
- $GWNNSIZE_{farm2'}$ is the farm size of farm 2 [ha].
- $gwnn_size_{farm2'}$ is the growth factor of farm 2.

This equation ensures that the farm size change of farm 1 compensates the farm size change in farm 2. The same applies to farms 3 and 4, 5 and 6, 7 and 8, 9 and 10, 14 and 15, 19 and 20, 21 and 22, and 23 and 24 (see Appendix A).

Farm 12 and 17 have two neighbours to which they are capable of leasing land (farms 11 and 13 and farms 16 and 18, respectively). In these cases, the following two equations are needed to make sure that the lease of land among the three farms in line happens correctly:

4. FOLAS: Farm optimization at landscape scale

 $(GWNNSIZE_{'farm11'} \cdot gwnn_size_{'farm11'} - GWNNSIZE_{'farm11'}) + (GWNNSIZE_{'farm12'} \cdot gwnn_size_{'farm12'} - GWNNSIZE_{'farm12'}) + (GWNNSIZE_{'farm13'} \cdot gwnn_size_{'farm13'} - GWNNSIZE_{'farm13'}) \leq 0$ (4.29)

and

$$GWNNSIZE_{'farm11'} + GWNNSIZE_{'farm12'} + GWNNSIZE_{'farm13'} \ge GWNNSIZE_{'farm11'} + gwnn_size_{'farm11'} + GWNNSIZE_{'farm12'} \cdot gwnn_size_{'farm12'} + GWNNSIZE_{'farm13'} \cdot gwnn_size_{'farm13'}$$

$$(4.30)$$

where

- $GWNNSIZE_{farm11'}$ is the farm size of farm 11 [ha].
- $gwnn_size_{farm11'}$ is the growth factor of farm 11.
- $GWNNSIZE_{'farm12'}$ is the farm size of farm 12 [ha].
- $gwnn_size_{farm12'}$ is the growth factor of farm 12.
- $GWNNSIZE_{farm13'}$ is the farm size of farm 13 [ha].
- $gwnn_size_{farm13'}$ is the growth factor of farm 13.

4.2.4. Alternate political incentive schemes

In the baseline model described above, CAP reform 2003 is implemented according to the legal conditions of the calibration year 2011. The model includes DP per acre and restrictions on permanent grassland conversions. The budget for AES is taken from public data ¹⁸ for the year 2014 and is set as an upper limit. Altogether, governmental payments of our case study total around 342,000 Euros.

¹⁸Available online due to the regulation from 10.12.2008 (eBAnz. 2008, AT147 V1).

The aim of the study is to test the greening component of the new CAP. It ought to contribute to the biodiversity targets of the EC (European Commission, 2013). In our study, we develop three different alternate political incentive schemes. Two of these alternate policy designs are oriented towards the currently implemented new CAP reform and therefore are closely related to the 'real world' situation. In the following, they are called CAP I and CAP II. The other political incentive scheme contains elements of the 'refocus' scenario of the European Commission (2011) as well as newer propositions of the 'Naturschutzbund' (NABU) promoting the abolition of direct payments (DP). We call it the 'nature-focused' scheme. Detailed political framework conditions of the baseline model and the three alternate political incentive schemes (policy designs) are summarized in table 4.3.

In CAP I we try to model the greening architecture of the current CAP. This includes a separation of the DP into two components: the regulatory cross compliance and the mandatory greening financial support¹⁹. In the model, the greening support is coupled with a designation of 5% ecological focus areas (EFAs) per farm. This can be achieved by farmers through legume cultivation, hedges, or fallow land. Each of these activities are balanced due to their weighting factor as fixed by the European Parliament. For legumes, this is 0.7, for fallow land 1, and the weighting factor for hedges is 2^{20} . Additionally, the model accounts for crop diversification as it is obligatory in the new CAP reform. It is not allowed to convert permanent grassland into arable land. As another feature of the new CAP, redistributive payments to support small and medium-sized farms are attributed to the first 30 ha and the following 16 ha farm land. This is taken into account as well. According to BMEL (2015), second pillar payments of the new CAP for Hesse add up to 651 million Euro. This is 9% lower than for the former reform period (HMUKLV, 2011). Due to that, the budget for AES in CAP I is reduced by this amount compared to the baseline model. In CAP I, bioenergy production will probably increase by the end of 2020 due to the ambitious German energy targets. Therefore, the capacity of biogas plantations (which is relatively low in the study area) is assumed to double. In summary, governmental expenditures are higher compared to the baseline model with around 372,000 Euros for the whole study site²¹.

CAP II contains the same political framework conditions as the CAP I scenario but with stricter greening requirements. The EFAs increase up to 7% by the end of the year 2018 (European

¹⁹Both payments will be adjusted to a nationwide limit by the end of the reform period in 2020 and will reach a level of 176 EUR/ha (cross compliance) or 87 EUR/ha (greening).

²⁰Annex X of the supplementing Regulation (EU) No 1307/2013.

²¹This arises out of the redistributive payments since DP are lower and the budget for AES.

Commission, 2013). On top of that, crop diversification rules are tightened in such a way that the production area of the two main crops needs to be lower than 75%. The total governmental payments are the same as in CAP I.

The 'nature-focused' scheme covers some main aspects of a new study that was conducted by Oppermann et al. (2016). In this study, a complete new payment structure is proposed, albeit the governmental expenses stay the same as in the first period of the new CAP. The main changes are the abolition of DP and the implementation of an incentive-based AES scheme, which can be seen as payment reallocation from the first into the second pillar. The authors conclude that this would lead to a better achievement of the European biodiversity strategy and to a 'fairer' treatment of tax-payers since all payments are linked to environmentally friendly measures of the farmers (Oppermann et al., 2016). The reform stipulates 10% EFA and a restriction on the conversion of permanent grassland area for each farm in order to get a sustainability premium (SP) of 150 Euros per ha. For our model we assume 7% EFA, the prohibition of permanent grassland conversion into arable land, and crop diversification as modeled in CAP II in order to get the SP. To simplify, the other part of the EC budget²² is used for AES²³, which are remunerated through the so-called agri-nature premium (ANP) (as suggested by the authors). For these ANPs, a much higher amount of money (1,350 EUR/ha) is paid in order to make participation in environmentally friendly schemes more attractive for farmers. The budget for ANPs in the 'nature-focused' scheme is calculated from the total GAP 2020 budget minus the SP paid for the whole cropping area of the municipality. These two payment schemes both contribute approximately the same quantity to the total governmental budget of the municipality.

Oppermann et al. (2016, Tab. 5, page 33) propose four agri-environmental measures for arable land:

- extensively produced grain crops (no pesticides and higher distance between rows).
- flowering fields.
- fallow.
- buffer strips along hedges, water bodies, and forests.

²²Which is the same for CAP I and CAP II.

²³The payment structure of the NABU study is staggered depending on the participation in ecologically valuable measurements.

	Baseline	CAP I	CAP II	Nature-focused
Payment scheme	- Mostly DP - Low budget for AES (0.3%)	 - 30% of DP coupled with greening condi- tions - Lower budget for AES (0.2%) 	 - 30% of DP coupled with greening condi- tions - Lower budget for AES (0.2%) 	SP coupled with greening conditionsRemaining budget for ANP
Ecological focus areas	no	5%	7%	7%
Crop diversifica-	no	Two main crops \leq	Two main crops \leq	Two main crops \leq
tion		95% of the cropping	75% of the cropping	75% of the cropping
		area	area	area
Small-sized farm	no	yes	yes	no
payment				
Grassland conver-	no	no	no	no
sion				
Energy	Silo maize for biogas	Silo maize for biogas	Silo maize for biogas	Silo maize for biogas
	covers $\leq 1\%$ of the	covers $\leq 2\%$ of the	covers $\leq 2\%$ of the	covers $\leq 2\%$ of the
	area	area	area	area

Table 4.3.: Policy designs with respective parameter dimensions.

To cover the ANP schemes, the model is extended so that in addition to flowering strips, entire flowering fields can be managed according to ANP conditions. The maximum utilization level for these kinds of measurements are 25% of the arable land per farm. In the NABU study, as well as in the 'nature-focused' scheme, redistributive payments are not taken into account within the new payment scheme. Energy targets remain the same as in CAP I and CAP II above.

4.2.4.1. Mathematical implementation

Initial efforts to implement greening mechanisms into programming models already exist. Apart from crop diversity constraints for farmers, Waş et al. (2014) implemented EFAs within the framework of the CAPRI model as a set-aside area. EFAs were not further differentiated into possible land use activities such as fallow land, legumes, or other landscape features. The set-aside area was implemented using respective constraints per farmer. They force them to dedicate 5% of arable land to set-aside areas. Solazzo et al. (2015) investigated the impact of the new CAP reform for a smaller region. The authors developed a positive mathematical programming (PMP) model based on Howitt (1995) and applied it to a region in northern Italy. They focused on the greening component as well as on redistribution payments²⁴ and simulated different states of policy proposals. Mathematically, they emphasized greening requirements and farm exclusions.

²⁴Convergence payments due to regional and national (historical) differences.

Similarly to Waş et al. (2014), EFAs were included as percentage constraints for farmers (see also Ahmadi et al. (2015) and Cortignani and Dono (2015)). Based on individual farm models, Louhichi et al. (2017) tested the new crop diversity strategies of the EU by implementing the respective policy constraints. However, other practices of the CAP reform are not explicitly modeled. Cortignani et al. (2017) were the first who considered several production choices of farmers in order to comply mathematically with the greening regulations (EFAs). In doing so, they considered all greening mechanisms at once: crop diversification strategies, EFAs, and penalties (if farmers do not comply). They used PMP and designed it as a mixed-integer model in order to capture binary variables for penalty implementation. The model was applied to farm samples of three regions in Italy. Moreover, they used environmental indicators to evaluate the environmental effects of the greening measures.

Until now, current literature does not capture the contribution of the potential EFA activities. As summarized in Annex X of the supplementing Regulation (EU) No 1307/2013 of the European Parliament, chargeable land use activities are weighted and do not contribute to the same extent to EFAs. The actual area of EFAs differs from the minimum required area depending on the respective land use activity. For example, legumes have a factor of 0.7, while hedges or trees have a factor of 2. In FOLAS we try to capture these differences by considering weighing factors.

We simulated the greening aspect of the new CAP in separating direct payments (DP) into two payment components: area-related payments and mandatory 'greening' payments. The greening payment needs to be considered in the objective function. Similar to Waş et al. (2014), Solazzo et al. (2015) or Ahmadi et al. (2015), we force greening-effective activities such as legume production, hedges, or fallow land to be implemented at a minimum amount as summarized in table 4.3 although they are mandatory. In order to take into account the weighting factors of mandatory greening measures, we included the following equation. For CAP I, this equation leads to at least 5% greening activities per farm:

$$\sum_{f} (GREENINGCAP_{'summerpea'} \cdot x_{g,f,'summerpea'} + GREENINGCAP_{'fallow'} \cdot x_{g,f,'fallow'} + GREENINGCAP_{'hedge'} \cdot x_{g,f,'hedge'}) \\ \geq GWNNSIZE_{g} \cdot 0.05$$
(4.31)

- $GREENINGCAP_{m'}$ are the weighting factors for the respective activity.
- $x_{g,f,'...'}$ is the area of greening-effective activity per field f and farm g [ha].
- $GWNNSIZE_g$ is the size of each farm g [ha].

A similar equation is implemented for CAP II, although 7% instead of 5% EFAs are assumed. With this kind of mathematical formulation, we consider detailed aspects of EFAs and try to contribute to the current literature.

For CAP I and CAP II, small sized farm payments are calculated for each farm depending on the farm size. It is added to the governmental payments in the objective function of the linear programming iterations and does not influence farming decisions with respect to farm size. It might be possible though, that this payment effects farm size decisions. Nonetheless, modeling the small-sized farming support payment within the non-linear programming iteration causes crashes with the GAMS solver since endogenous variables (farm size) cannot be used as conditionals²⁵. Considering the support of small-sized farmers at least in the linear programming seems to be a first step.

For the 'nature-focused' scheme, AES need to be restricted to 20% of the farm land area, which is implemented with the following equation:

$$\sum_{f} aes_{g,f} \le GWNNSIZE_g \cdot 0.2 \tag{4.32}$$

where

- $aes_{g,f}$ is the area of flowering strips or fields per field f and farm g [ha].
- $GWNNSIZE_g$ is the size of each farm g [ha].

In the 'nature-focused' scheme, the management of entire flowering fields are funded by the agri-nature premium, which is modeled by deleting the upper bound on the $aes_{g,f}$ variable.

²⁵Logical conditionals are used in GAMS in order to judge a value to be 'true' or 'false' (Rosenthal, 2017).

Within alternate policy designs, crop diversify strategies are tightened. Similar to Waş et al. (2014), another legal constraint forces the two main crop types²⁶ to be lower than a certain limit. For all three policy designs, biogas constraints need to be adapted at double the amount of allowed area dedicated to silo maize production for biogas plantations.

4.2.4.2. Iteration sequences

The execution logic of the political incentive schemes is similar to the model execution steps described in section 4.2.1 and summarized in fig. 4.2. It is also build upon iterations, which are linked to each other via data transfer. However, the iteration runs follow after the 1st iteration of the baseline model. This makes sure that the resulting permanent grassland proportions stay the same for each political scheme. The reference system for all three policy schemes is then the land use activities and farming structure of the baseline calibration run.

For each scenario, the second iteration includes the new political framework conditions summarized in table 4.3 and mathematically implemented as described in the previous section. It simulates the optimal crop and livestock production as well as the optimal allocation of flowering strips. This model output is fixed in the 3rd iteration. Here, new farm sizes are calculated as described in section 4.2.3. The last iteration simulates the resulting cropping and livestock patterns of the remaining farms after structural change processes (farm size changes). Already after the second iteration, we can see how much political incentives influence the consolidation process. This has further effects on the farm sizes (within the 3rd iteration) and the resulting landscape appearance (from the 4th iteration).

4.3. Spatial model application: impacts on biodiversity indicators

Results of the FOLAS model are spatially explicit maps of agricultural farms and fields as well as crops (including flowering strips). We further use them to calculate several biodiversity indicators, which is one possible use of the model results. As an alternative, abiotic environmental indicators such as soil erosion control or nitrate depletion could be conceivable. However, with respect to our research questions, we stick to biotic impact assessments with special attention on pollinator dispersion.

²⁶Which is in all cases winter wheat and rapeseed.


Figure 4.2.: Execution logic for modeling alternate political incentive schemes.

Due to its complexity, more than one hundred biodiversity indicators exist (Pereira et al., 2013). Depending on the indicator, different aspects of biodiversity can be addressed: species diversity, threatened species, habitat quantity/quality or connectivity, habitat diversity, and many more (for a full list, see Gabel et al. (2016)). According to Butchart et al. (2010), these kinds of aspects can be broadly separated into pressure, state, and response indicators. However, trade-offs between them make it difficult to decide on the most appropriate ones (Lindenmayer et al., 2015).

Conservation biologists often use surrogate species such as umbrella species, flagship species, and indicator species for environmental health, population trends, and biodiversity hot spots (Caro and O'Doherty, 1999). These direct measures are helpful for indicating the extent of anthropogenic influences on biodiversity and to tackle conservation problems based on the assumption that fulfilling the requirement of surrogate species would also conserve other species. Another method of biodiversity indication would be the use of landscape structures such as landscape diversity and the extent of certain land use types as the distribution of landscape elements influences the flows of organisms (Forman and Godron, 1986; Dauber et al., 2003). The landscape approach is suitable for studies at large spatial scales and monitoring programs for its feasibility in terms of cost and time. Since it cannot guarantee the presence and/or abundance of species although habitat is available, Chape et al. (2005) recommends using a combination of these two kinds of indicators.

Habitat occurrence, extent, and diversity are indeed main conditions for a rich species diversity (Billeter et al., 2008; Fahrig, 2013). We seek to measure an overall loss of species diversity as well as the abundance of wild bees as pollinators, which occurs due to agricultural landscape patterns within our intensified agricultural production region. Therefore, habitat indicators at the landscape scale have been applied to our case study. Besides bees, we do not look for other surrogate species that are threatened. Of course, applying other habitat models as done in, e.g. Bamière et al. (2013) could also be applied; however, this is not envisaged within the scope of this study.

In order to monitor biodiversity at the farm scale, Herzog et al. (2017) proposed a set of descriptors that evaluate the habitat status of farms and ought to measure the effectiveness of EFAs with respect to the new CAP reform. They put the agricultural landscape into focus. Farmers are able to participate in AES in order to conserve farmland biodiversity. By discarding redundant or misleading descriptors, Herzog et al. (2017) found eight core descriptors addressing the habitat quality of farms and divided them into three groups: (1) structural composition and configuration of farms, (2) specific farm habitats, and (3) interpreted farm habitat descriptors. The first group requires habitat maps, while the latter two can be gathered through interviews with farmers or

simple habitat mapping (e.g. number of trees per ha). Since we do not consider trees or shrubs, there are still six indicators left that we could calculate with our approach. These are (1) habitat richness defined as the number of habitat types per ha of farm, (2) habitat diversity, which accounts for both the number of habitat types and the area of each, (3) average patch sizes, (4) crop richness as the number of crops per farm and ha, (5) linear habitats in m per ha, and (6) semi-natural habitats as percentages of farms.

In Herzog et al. (2017), habitat types consist of some general habitat categories such as arable crops and orchards. These habitat categories are further divided into different intensity levels. Our approach covers fewer habitat types since only some of the observed farm types in Herzog et al. (2017) are present in our case study. Habitat richness as the number of habitat types per ha farm in our case does not differ greatly between individual farms. Individual habitat types examined in our study are different types of arable crops, flowering strips, and permanent grassland. This leaves us with four descriptors of the selection above: crop richness, average patch size, linear habitats, and semi-natural habitats.

In our approach we account for crop diversity by using a Simpson's diversity index D, which takes into account the number of crop types present as well as the area of each crop type. Based on Di Falco and Perrings (2003) it is formulated as follows:

$$D = 1 - \sum_{j} x_{j}^{2} \tag{4.33}$$

where x_j is the proportion of farmland allocated to the *jth* crop. If all land use types *n* are located within an observed area and have similar proportional distributions, this index approaches one. On the other hand, if only one land use type covers the whole area, *D* equals 0.

Additionally, the number of patches (fields) within a certain area will be calculated based on the resulting land use and field size maps. Field sizes are basic components of our model and are to be simulated. As our approach stylizes the landscape into rectangular land use units, we drop the linear habitats in m per ha. We extrapolate from actual field shapes, and therefore this descriptor might be misleading. In order to account for the number of semi-natural habitats in our simulated agricultural landscapes, we calculate the share of semi-natural habitats, which are defined as flowering strips and permanent grassland²⁷. Mathematically, this is formulated as follows:

$$S = \frac{(x_{grassland} + x_{floweringstrips})}{\sum_{j} x_{j}}$$
(4.34)

²⁷According to Herzog et al. (2017), permanent grassland and flowering strips are categorized as semi-natural habitats.

where $x_{grassland}$ is the area of farmland allocated to grassland, $x_{floweringstrips}$ is the area of farmland allocated to flowering strips, and x_i is the area of farmland allocated to the *jth* crop.

Spatially, our approach differs from Herzog et al. (2017). As they already stated, farm scale descriptors are not suitable for including effects of spatial habitat configurations at the landscape scale. Farm ownership or the question of which farmer manages an area does not influence pollinator dispersion, for example. The dispersion of pollinators depends on the surrounding agricultural matrix, which constitutes of landscape features (Tischendorf and Fahrig, 2000; Hagen et al., 2012). Jauker et al. (2009) investigated pollinator dispersal traits depending on the landscape matrix in an intensively managed agricultural area of the Wetterau region. They found that pollinators such as bees and hoverflies disperse around a radius of 250 m. In order to measure the abundance of bees as pollinators, our approach calculates chosen indicators for circular buffers with a radius of 250 ha as proposed by Jauker et al. (2009). The use of circular buffers is a well-established method in landscape ecology (applications can be found, for example in Berg (2002), Gottschalk et al. (2010), Aue et al. (2014)). We therefore employed the buffer method to measure habitat indicators in our landscapes instead of using farm scale descriptors as done by Herzog et al. (2017). It defines the scale, which is rather relevant for land managers in order to monitor habitat changes in detail. The three indicators are (1) crop diversity, (2) number of patches (fields), and (3) proportion of semi-natural habitat.

In order to calculate the biodiversity indicators at the landscape scale, we are interested in the values of the whole surface. Therefore, the maps need to be converted to pixels in order to reduce computational power 28 . We took a spatial resolution of 1 m² so that information loss is low. Then, each pixel is assigned a circular buffer with a radius of 250 m. The buffer zones overlap because each pixel has its own buffer circle. Since land use outside the agricultural area is not modeled, the outer stretch (250 m) of the resulting land use map does not contain reliable information. It will be excluded from indicator calculation. Indicator values are calculated for each pixel, using the land use information within its buffered area.

For example, the Simpson's diversity index is calculated for each 1 m^2 pixel with respect to the circular buffer around it. The same applies to the semi-natural habitat indicator: the share of pixels within a buffer cultivated by semi-natural habitats is calculated as a percentage of the whole buffer area for each pixel separately. In order to account for the landscape structure with respect to the field sizes, the third biodiversity indicator is the number of fields. The modeled land use and field size map is again divided into buffer plots with a radius of 250 m. This time, however, the

²⁸This is also done by Jauker et al. (2009).

number of patches/fields within circular buffers was calculated using sampling points that lie 250 m apart from each other. We then estimated the values using a spline function that extrapolates the patterns into non-sampled areas. Closer sampling points need too much computational power and are not workable.

Apart from choosing an appropriate indicator, the reference system against which indicators are compared is required. This can either be (modeled) potential natural vegetation or the current land use (Koellner et al., 2013). Since there is no unified concept about which reference point to take, it depends on the context of the biodiversity assessment. Gabel et al. (2016) suggest at least comparing different scenarios with each other: one of the actual land use and a second alternative land use mixture. With our baseline model (1st iteration), we consider the current land use map as a reference system. Furthermore, we are going to simulate several political incentive schemes that affect landscape appearance. These varying landscapes lead to certain changes in biodiversity indicators, which we are going to compare to each other.

5 Chapter 5. **Results**

We examined alternate political incentive schemes with respect to the resilience of the socioecological system of our case study. In section 2.3 we clarified our analytical framework and defined critical thresholds of different domain-scale combinations in order to test whether certain regime shifts occur due to structural change processes. Regime shifts indicate possible future developments of our case study, which we are able to elaborate before they actually happen. We further seek to assess how political incentives may alter species diversity. Therefore, our model is used (1) to show possible future scenarios of the case study and (2) to test the achievement of political biodiversity protection goals.

The present chapter is arranged according to the three defined thresholds of the driving variables: (1) Amount of farm types, (2) amount of farms, and (3) field sizes. There is then an overview of the model results, which are linked to those respective thresholds. Afterward, the produced stylized maps of our case study are presented. They are used in order to calculate our three chosen biodiversity indicators. The last section of the chapter is dedicated to the political impact assessment with respect to biodiversity targets. Here, we will show results of our first model application, which seeks to measure spatial biodiversity indicators as previously described.

5.1. Critical thresholds

5.1.1. Farm type losses

The critical threshold within the economic domain at the farm scale is crossed if one of the three farm types quits the agricultural sector. According to our baseline model results, after structural change processes, no dairy farm was left, and the critical threshold was reached. This also refers to each alternate policy design. Pig-fattening farms remained in the sector and even increased

their acreage¹. Arable farms still formed the largest part with respect to farm types.

Similar results can be found in Happe et al. (2011), who examined structural change processes and measured their indirect effects on nitrogen loss. With AgriPolis, structural change was modeled, and results were transferred to farm models in order to estimate nitrate depletion. They tested the impacts of two different policy designs on farm structure and nitrogen effects in Denmark. Their results showed that cattle farms, and the number of cattle decreased. Only large-scale dairy farms survived since they were able to use economies of scale. Pig farms increased their acreage and became classified as mixed farms. The reduction in manure production due to the change in livestock numbers could reduce ammonia emission.

In our case study, cattle farms are relatively small compared to the regional average (Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt, 2012a). We can therefore assume that in the long run only arable and mixed pig farms will remain within our research area. In contrast to the impacts on nitrogen depletion, our ecological focus lies with spatial agricultural patterns in order to assess changes in species diversity. Besides field sizes and semi-natural habitats, in our study, landscape structure is represented by land use patterns in the mode of crops. Therefore, we will take a closer look at cultivated crops.

The loss of dairy-producing farms led to less diverse cropping patterns at the landscape level. Table 5.1 depicts the 1st iteration of the baseline model, which comprises our reference point since it calibrates the cropping patterns of 2011. In comparison to these results, we included the cropping results after structural change processes for the baseline model and for the alternate policy designs². In the 4th iteration, grasses and silage maize were no longer produced compared to the 1st iteration of the baseline model in which farmers still keep cattle. The management of permanent grassland was streamlined and only hay was produced at lowest management costs³, which can be sold to other farmers within the region. Through the obligatory ecological focus areas (EFAs) of the political incentive schemes (5% in CAP I and 7% in CAP II and 'Nature-focused') summer pea production was added at the expense of rapeseed production.

¹Except for the results of the sensitivity analysis on lower land rents, where one pig-fattening farm closed down.

²Land use results of the sensitivity analyses are summarized in Appendix L.

³Hay production is cheaper and requires less labour than grass silage.

		and an manual and bais	under on the regul	o III mom minno	
Crop type [%]	1 st iteration baseline	4th iteration baseline	4th iteration CAP I	4th iteration CAP II	4th iteration 'Nature-focused'
Wheat	50.0	50.0	50.0	50.0	50.0
Sugar beets	16.4	16.4	16.4	16.4	16.4
Rapeseed	22.3	24.2	16.3	13.6	2.4
Barley	0.7	0.7	0.7	0.5	0.7
Potatoes	2.3	2.3	2.3	2.3	2.3
Rye					ı
Silage maize	0.5		·	·	ı
Silage maize (biogas)	1.0	1.0	2.0	2.0	2.0
Corn maize	0.9	0.3	0.03	0.06	0.06
Triticale	•	·	ı	ı	ı
Corn cob mix					ı
Summer peas		·	ı	ı	I
Grass silage (permanent grassland)	1.1				I
Hay (permanent grassland)	3.9	5.0	5.0	5.0	5.0
Weed/grass silage	0.8	·	ı	ı	I
Summer peas	ı	ı	7.1	10.0	10.0
Flowering strips	0.11	0.11	0.09	0.09	11.1

Table 5.1.: Comparison between the land use results of the baseline model and the policy design models with respect to the reference point and the 4th model iterations. Values are written as percentages of the agricultural area in Wöllstadt.

In accordance with our analytical framework, regime shifts at the farm scale can trigger regime shifts at the 'patch' scale (see figure 2.2). Our results confirm this since crop diversity is obviously affected by farm specialization processes. Apart from the 'patch' scale, farm scale regime shifts are also related to the regional scale. As a consequence of dairy farm exits, our model showed that the labour market can be affected as well.

Dairy keeping is strongly linked with farm labour patterns since it requires much more labour input compared to purely arable farming. Actually, all our model results showed that only dairy farmers require additional labour (see table P.1 in the Appendix), which needs to be hired at great cost from the labour market. After field amalgamation hired labour hours could be reduced. Due to bigger fields, labour productivity increased, and more labour became available for other sectors; off-farm labour increased due to free labour capacities (see table P.2). After dairy farms were displaced, there was no more need for hired labour. We can assume that dairy farmers as employers will become rare in Wöllstadt. Depending on the new farm sizes after land exchanges, family labour requirements differed between farms, and off-farm work increased or decreased. Due to farm size enlargements, one farm already worked full time. It was the largest farm after land exchanges (see farm 20 in table P.3). Other larger farms (farms 10, 12, and 15) decreased off-farm labour, while some other farmers worked more outside the agricultural sector; this is a result of EoS effects. At the municipality level, 48 % of the labour capacity was used for agricultural activities within the 1st iteration. After farm size optimization, only 37% labour force was used, with the rest being off-farm labour⁴. Reducing hired labour in order to save costs and shifting from part-time to full-time farms are typical features of the structural change process (Happe et al., 2011).

This trend was even stronger in our sensitivity analysis of lower grain prices. Prices for grain crops are usually volatile and therefore often subject to change. In order to check for differences and deviations within our model results, a sensitivity analysis on grain prices was conducted. Therefore, the median values of time series on grain prices (see section 3.2.2) were exchanged with values of the baseline model, while all other model parameters stayed the same (c.p.). Since grain prices were high in the calibration year, median values of the time series were around one standard deviation lower than the baseline model prices. Results showed that within the 1st iteration, dairy farmers were already reducing their cattle stocking rate by around 25% at the municipality level. Due to lower grain prices, farmers' incomes were reduced⁵. Therefore, in

⁴These results are similar to the results of the sensitivity analysis on lower and higher land rents as well as to the results of the CAP I and CAP II policy designs.

⁵Detailed model results on income are presented in the next section.

order to reduce costs, farmers minimized dairy keeping and hired less additional labour (see table P.4). On average, off-farm labour was higher than the baseline model results. Farmers worked even more outside the agricultural sector, since less money could be earned within agriculture. After field amalgamation, total dairy capacity was fully utilized (as it was in the baseline model). The use of EoS could reduce farmers' costs and make dairy keeping more competitive meaning that hiring labour would again be worthwhile (see table P.5). This indicates that field consolidation might mitigate cattle losses. However, after additional land exchanges (due to land leases) all dairy farmers quit the sector. At the municipality level, only around 20% of the labour force was used for farming activities; the rest was off-farm work (see table P.6). In the 'nature-focused' policy design, 25% of the labour force was used after land leases at the municipality level, which is around ten percent less than for other policy designs⁶. This deviation was caused by the cultivation of less labour-intensive flowering fields instead of conventional crop production.

Happe et al. (2008) also showed that cost savings first take place in the form of labour-saving technologies and by laying off hired farm workers. Labour saving production technologies are especially preferred since off-farm work is an attractive alternative. The lower the required labour input, the more favourable the agricultural production. These findings are particularly relevant with respect to technical progress and labour-saving technologies, but also regarding job alternatives. The more interesting and lucrative alternative job possibilities are, the more farmers quit the agricultural sector. It shows the importance of off-farm opportunities as drivers for structural change (Happe et al., 2011). With our study, we can confirm that labour alternatives are central conditions for agricultural production.

Agricultural labour movements are linked with population movements (Eberhardt and Vollrath, 2016) and indicate demographic changes within rural areas (Knickel et al., 2017). Depending on the dimension of out-migration and overaging, another regime shift within the socio-cultural domain could follow. According to our conceptual framework, there is a link between the economic farm scale and the socio-cultural regional scale. The proportion of agricultural employees within Wöllstadt is relatively low though⁷, and the effect might be marginal for our case study. However, in regions where agricultural production provides jobs for a larger part of the population, this link becomes more significant (Manos et al., 2013). With respect to the debate on promoting strong rural areas within Hesse (HMUKLV, 2015a), it is remarkable that structural change and the use of EoS might foster out-migration due to fewer agricultural labour alternatives.

⁶Off-farm labour patterns of the 4th iteration for alternate policy designs are summarized in table P.7.

⁷2.3% in 2010 according to Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2012a).

Another characteristic of farm type loss worth mentioning here seems to be the participation in agri-environmental schemes (AES). Before modeling land leases within the 3rd iterations, only dairy farmers planted flowering strips⁸. Also Pufahl and Weiss (2009) as well as Zimmermann and Britz (2016) found that low-intensity cattle keeping is related to the participation in AES. After dairy farmers quit the sector, our model showed that the largest farms with respect to area (mainly arable farms) provided flowering strips instead. These findings can be supported by Pavlis et al. (2016), who found that mainly large farms are attracted to AES.

Nevertheless, at the landscape scale, the amount of flowering strips stayed the same within each model run. Cultivation of flowering strips has been modeled through available subsidies of the respective political incentive schemes. In CAP I and II, less money is available for AES (see section 4.2). Therefore, the amount of flowering strips was lower. In the 'nature-focused' scenario though, a lot more AES in the form of flowering strips and fields were realized (see table 5.1). Flowering strips are categorized as semi-natural habitats with a high potential to increase habitat quality in especially homogeneous landscapes (Tscharnke et al., 2012). Therefore, biodiversity is likely to be affected within our case study. Since other landscape characteristics such as field sizes as well as spatial allocation patterns of semi-natural habitats also play an important role for species diversity (Hendrickx et al., 2007; Fahrig et al., 2011; Fahrig, 2013), we will show changes in biodiversity indicators on the basis of our spatial explicit land use maps in section 5.3.

In summary, the farm scale threshold within the economic domain (changes in the amount of farm types) has been crossed within each model run. According to our conceptual framework, this induces shifts within other domain-scale combinations. In our case, cascading regime shifts have been the economic 'patch' scale in the mode of a less diverse cropping patterns, as well as the regional scale through reduced labour requirements. Depending on the importance of the sector, the labour market may influence the socio-cultural domain via out-migration (Eberhardt and Vollrath, 2016). Such cascading effects might lead to new regimes, which are less desired from the social perspective and less resilient from an ecological point of view (Walker et al., 2004; Walker and Meyers, 2004; Matthews and Selman, 2006). Although, before elaborating on the ecological impacts, in the next section we are going to have a look at farm numbers as another driving threshold variable.

⁸Apart from the 'nature-focused' model, where many more farmers took part in environmental measurements.

5.1.2. Farm closures

The 3rd iteration simulates farm sizes and their amount within the total agricultural area of the study site. In our baseline model, 17 of formerly 24 farms remained in the agricultural sector; around 30% stopped agricultural production. The critical threshold of one third fewer farms was almost reached within the baseline model, although not crossed.

In order to understand farm closures, we need to dig more deeply into farm income patterns. Each farmer receives a different total gross margin (TGM), which depends on crop production, farm size, type, and general model conditions. In appendix N, TGMs of each iteration of the baseline model are summarized in tabular form. At the individual farm level, TGMs either decreased or increased from one to the other model iteration. Between the first and the second iterations, farm sizes stay the same for each farmer and only field sizes change due to field consolidation processes. Since field consolidation reduces costs, TGMs are expected to increase. For several reasons, this was not the case for every farm. For example, farm 2 had a TGM of 70,337 Euros in the 1st iteration and a TGM of 47,772 Euros in the 2nd iteration (see appendix N.1). Whereas in the 1st iteration, farm 2 planted almost four ha potatoes, among other crops, in the 2nd iteration, it no longer produced potatoes, producing more sugar beets instead. Potato production delivers the highest TGMs, which is why the TGM strongly decreased. At a first glance, it is not realistic for potato production to change between farmers, since potato production is linked to contracts and specified production machines. A technical solution to control potato cultivation would be to fix potato production results per farm in the 1st iteration of the baseline model and transfer them to the 2nd iteration as it was done with the grassland proportions. This would ensure that potato production stays with the same farmers. However, under free market conditions, farmers are flexible with respect to their potato and sugar beet production⁹ and for the harvest, it is possible to borrow machines or pay a service company. When considering a long-time period as it is done within this study it is indeed possible that the production patterns of farmers change. Therefore, the production patterns of potatoes and sugar beets are deliberately not restricted at the farm scale within our model. In the current study, a more important perspective sheds light on changes in field and farm sizes, here at the municipality level, after exploiting EoS. Since the impacts on biodiversity are to be addressed, fields, crops, and technology must interact. A more precise image of production patterns at the farm level requires much more farm data, which is not available without elaborate and expensive data acquisition. Note that the average TGMs at the municipality level increased (see table 5.2), and the model therefore delivers satisfying results. In the following

⁹For sugar beets this trend is even stronger since sugar contingents of the EU end at the end of the year 2017.

paragraphs, we focus on the structural implications at the landscape scale.

At the municipality level, TGM results of the 1st iteration of the baseline model totaled 1,392,101 Euros and the average TGM was around 58,000 Euros per farm. With an average farm size of 51.5 ha, this led to an average TGM of 1,125 Euros/ha (see table 5.2). After field consolidation, the TGM at the municipality level and the average TGM per farm slightly increased. In the 4th iteration, the TGM at the municipality level was lower again due to the loss of dairy production. However, the average TGM was around 78,000 Euros per farm, which is much higher now. Since seven farms closed down, the total agricultural area was allocated to fewer farms, which generated more money per farm. Compared to the 1st and 2nd iterations, the average TGM per ha decreased at the municipality level. When considering much higher farm sizes, though, the average TGM per ha is still higher¹⁰.

Considering the trajectories of the common agricultural policy reforms, the CAP goals of increasing production efficiency through economic rationalities are approached if some farmers quit the sector (Burrell, 2009). Rickard (2015) argues that the new CAP 2020 reform slows down farm growth due to direct payments (DP). He suggests phasing out DP in order to support a more rapid change to larger-scale, capital-intensive, and highly technological farms using precision technology and EoS. When looking at our results, interestingly, in both CAP I and CAP II, one farm less than the baseline model remained. In these cases, the critical threshold levels were crossed. This indicates another regime shift within the socio-cultural domain at the regional scale (compare figure 2.2). According to that, the implemented policy designs inspired by the CAP reform 2020 would accelerate structural change within our research site. We will therefore have another look at farmers' incomes in the CAP I and II policy regimes.

Compared to the baseline model, average TGMs per farm were 1.3% or 2.7% lower after the 2nd iteration (see table 5.2). Waş et al. (2014), Ahmadi et al. (2015), Cortignani et al. (2017) and Louhichi et al. (2017) also found marginal losses in farmers' incomes due to CAP 2020. They showed that income losses were not the same for all farm types. For example, beef finishing farms had higher income reductions (3%) (Ahmadi et al., 2015). However, if structural change is taken into account, what none of the studies above did, a different picture emerged from our results. Based on production patterns of the 2nd iteration, in our case, new farm sizes were simulated. After land leases only 16 farms remained and average TGMs per farm were 3.1% (in CAP I) and 1.6% (in CAP II) higher than in the baseline model results. Our results indicate that even small

¹⁰EoS might be even higher, if respective investments were modeled.

deviations in the income level may lead to farm closures in the long run.

The spatial scale and the location of the previously mentioned studies vary significantly from our case study. Moreover, apart from Cortignani et al. (2017), they did not cover all greening mechanisms of the new CAP reform. While some considered only crop diversification regulations, others purely focused on EFAs as part of their greening measures. Nevertheless, income may not be the only driver of farm closures. Mandryk et al. (2012) applied regression analyses to analyze impacts on structural change processes. Based on historical data, the authors found that both technology and market prices have strong influences on farm sizes and farm specialization; the lower the wheat price, the larger the farm sizes. Our sensitivity analysis on lower grain prices confirmed the impacts of market prices on farm sizes; only 13 farms remained with a higher average size. Low grain prices led to the highest income reductions at the municipality and average farm levels (see table 5.2). Structural change seems to be accelerated due to lower market prices.

According to Mandryk et al. (2012), climate change and policy change have no impact on the farm size but positively affect specialization. In our study, climate change variables were not explicitly taken into account, although, climate change has an influence on crop prices (Ewert et al., 2011). If crop prices change due to climatic conditions, our sensitivity analysis on grain prices showed that farm sizes would also be expected to change. Therefore, climate change may indeed have significant impacts on farm sizes. Impacts on farm types related to policy changes could not be found in our case. In each model run, dairy farms quit the sector independently of the implemented political incentives. However, in contrast to the results of Mandryk et al. (2012), farm sizes have changed due to alternate policy regimes. Within the 'nature-focused' policy design after land leases, 18 farms remained in the agricultural sector. Since more farms than in CAP I and CAP II remained, the average TGM per farm was lower than in other policy designs. TGMs of the respective iterations were also lower compared to the baseline model (-9.6% compared to the 2nd iteration and -15% compared to the 4th iteration). However, if we take the calibration results of the baseline model as a reference system, after structural change, the average TGM of the 'nature-focused' policy design increases by around 14%. Therefore, the importance of determining the reference point becomes apparent. Nevertheless, if this policy design is chosen, it seems like structural change would be needed in order to compensate farmers' income losses.

Table 5.2.: Compari	son of all model	runs with resp	ect to the total	gross margins	(TGMs) at the muni	icipality level in E	uros.
	Baseline model	CAP I	CAP II	Nature-focus	Lower grain prices	Higher land rent	Lower land rent
1st iteration							
TGM municipality	1,392,010				1,240,545	1,343,805	1,437,229
Average TGM	58,004				51,689	55,992	59,878
Average TGM/ha	1,125				1,003	1,042	1,162
2nd iteration							
TGM municipality	1,415,929	1,397,744	1,378,160	1,280,189	1,286,951	1,367,633	1,461,058
Average TGM	58,997	58,239	57,423	53,341	53,623	56,984	60,872
Average TGM/ha	1,145	1,130	1,114	1,035	1,040	1,106	1,181
4th iteration							
TGM municipality	1,326,317	1,286,640	1,268,571	1,193,871	1,175,674	1,289,406	1,344,085
Average TGM	78,019	80,415	79,286	66,326	90,436	71,634	79,819
Average TGM/ha	1,072	1,040	1,025	965	950	1,042	1,086

Eur
ш.
<i>je</i> l
le
ity
pal
icij
un
E
the
at
\mathbf{Is})
ß
Ē
ns
Igi
ma
SS
gro
alg
tot
he
io t
ct 1
spe
reg
ith
N N
Sun
l n
ode
ŭ
all
of
on
ris
ıpa
on
$\dot{\mathbf{O}}$
<u>.</u>
e 5
abl
H

5. Results

If we compare the outcomes of the 'nature-focused' policy design and the sensitivity analysis for lower grain prices, it becomes more apparent that income variables alone are not sufficient to predict farm closures. In both model runs, the average TGMs of the 2nd iteration reached a comparable level. However, there are major differences in number of farms remaining in the sector after land leases. Due to political incentives, farmers planted more flowering fields instead of cash crops. This diminished the need to exploit EoS to their full extent, and land leases were lower. In contrast to cash crops, EoS are not typically exploited for flowering strips and fields. Instead, farmers need less labour and reduce their production costs. In a situation with low grain prices farmers also face income losses, though they do not have the same alternatives; there is too little money available for environmental measures. The optimal strategy seems to be to intensively exploit EoS, resulting in much fewer farms of bigger sizes. In contrast to Mandryk et al. (2012), our investigation showed that policy may indeed have impacts on farm sizes; at least for our case study. The authors noted that they addressed neither landscape characteristics nor spatial attributes, although these are important for scenario implementations.

Land demand and therefore, farm size is also driven by agricultural land rent prices (Ciaian and Swinnen, 2006; Bartolini and Viaggi, 2013). In our sensitivity analyses, lower land rent prices led to 15 farms remaining, while higher rent prices led to 18 farms remaining. At the municipality level, TGMs of higher rent prices were lower than in the baseline model, and TGMs of lower rent prices led to higher TGMs in each iteration (see table 5.2). According to the statistics, in our model 64% of the agricultural area has been rented (see section 3.2.10). If rent prices increase, farmers have higher costs, and their TGMs are lower; more money needs to be spent in order to produce crops on more expensive land. This seems to alleviate structural change, since more farms than in the baseline model remain. On the contrary, lower land rents seems to accelerate structural change: in the sensitivity analysis on lower land rents, only 15 farms remained. Farming seemed to be more profitable since TGMs were higher and farmers had more incentives to increase farm sizes. If land prices were lower, farmers were willing to rent more land than if land prices were higher, meaning fewer but bigger farms remained within our case study.

Similar results can be found in Happe et al. (2008). They investigated the effects of political changes on farm structures and found that land prices were influenced by political reforms. Land prices affected farm profits to such an extent that structural change was accelerated or slowed down. If rental rates were lower, structural change was faster and vice versa. Since the remaining farms were able to lease land at lower prices, they could implement economies of scale more easily. This is why Happe and Balmann (2002) claimed that DPs increase land rents artificially

and thereby slow down structural change. This of course also depends on the initial state of the system. If farms are already big and most scale effects are exploited, the effects on structural change are lower. The authors further stated that livestock farms suffer from lower land prices, since land also serves as security for the high investment requirements. However, the authors did not model each farm type separately, so these interpretations need to be treated with caution. In our sensitivity analysis on lower land rents, we found that apart from all dairy keeping farms, one mixed pig-fattening farm also closed down. Therefore, livestock-keeping farms may indeed be more affected by lower land rents.

To summarize, farm closures are driven by complex interrelations. There seems to be a trade-off between income pressures that push farmers to increase farm sizes (see the example of lower grain prices) and the profitability of farming per se (see the example of higher land rents). If land prices are too high, farms rather stop expanding in size. On the contrary, farms get larger if land rents are low since profitability increases. As we showed with the 'nature-focused' policy design, policy also has the power to control farm closures through incentives.

Within CAP I and CAP II, the critical thresholds of farm closures have been reached. This might influence other scales and domains, too. For example, a reduction in farms may induce a reduction in the rural population (Eberhardt and Vollrath, 2016). After farm size enlargement mainly small part-time farms quit the sector. The obligation to stay in the rural area is lower and migration to urban centers becomes more attractive (Knickel et al., 2017). Even labour markets are influenced by farm closures since fewer farms as potential employers remain (as already outlined above). Larger farms have larger fields (Cong et al., 2016); therefore, also the patch scale is influenced by regime shifts of the economic farm scale. This leads us to our last critical threshold, which we are going to discuss in the following section.

5.1.3. Increasing field sizes

The vast majority of agricultural system models simulated land use variables for the prevailing field structures. Therefore, some authors converted landscape features into raster data and allocated economic land use results randomly to the respective pixels albeit they considered spatially geographic data (e.g. Rounsevell et al. (2006); Weinmann (2002); Dabbert et al. (1999)). Others used Markov chains to allocate land use results (Castellazzi et al., 2010; Aurbacher and Dabbert, 2011). Kapfer et al. (2015), Schönhart et al. (2010), Aurbacher (2010), and Kächele and Dabbert (2002) simulated land use results by working at the field level and referred to each existing field; due to computational power and time restrictions, only small case studies could be investigated.

5. Results

Farm	1st iteration	2nd iteration	4th iteration
1	3.1	4.2	10.6
2	3.3	7.0	3.0
3	3.1	6.5	10.9
4	3.1	6.5	-
5	3.2	8.6	16.4
6	3.4	7.8	-
7	3.4	5.9	6.2
8	2.8	5.2	4.9
9	3.0	7.2	-
10	2.9	6.4	13.6
11	2.8	4.6	2.6
12	3.0	6.5	10.7
13	2.7	5.5	4.1
14	3.2	8.6	-
15	3.2	10.4	19.1
16	2.9	4.6	10.5
17	2.5	4.1	-
18	3.1	6.6	6.9
19	3.1	6.8	-
20	3.5	15.9	21.5
21	2.7	4.1	11.4
22	2.9	5.8	-
23	3.3	7.5	7.9
24	3.2	6.8	6.4
Total average	3.1	6.7	9.9

Table 5.3.: Average field sizes of the baseline model per farm in ha.

We simulated field sizes as a part of farming decisions. They are subject to change throughout every iteration due to new model conditions (e.g. field amalgamation or farm size changes). Our results showed that the average field size at the municipality level increased after each iteration. The average field size of the baseline model increased from 3.1 ha in the 1st iteration to 6.7 ha in the 2nd iteration and 9.9 ha in 4th iteration after land exchanges¹¹. At the farm level, field sizes developed differently as summarized in table 5.3. From the 1st to the 2nd iteration, due to field consolidation, average field size decreased for every farm. However, in the 4th iteration for some farms, the average field size decreased, whereas they increased for other farms. Negative field size developments occurred on the farms getting smaller during the 3rd iteration. For example, the average field sizes of farm 2 decreased while its size also decreased from around 49 ha to 14 ha (see tables P.1 and P.3). This farm is a typical case, where even more farms become part-time enterprises with a higher degree of off-farm labour. Despite having less land, crop rotation still needs to occur, which is why the field sizes cannot go beyond a certain minimum or maximum, depending on the farm size.

In the sensitivity analysis on lower grain prices, the average field size within the calibration step was the same as in the baseline model (see table 5.4). However, in the 2nd iteration, the average field size at the municipality level was higher with 7.1 ha. The difference is relatively low and stems from changes in the grassland allocation patterns within the 1st iteration¹². Corresponding to higher farm sizes, field sizes were also higher after land leases than in the baseline model (13.3 ha). Field size results of the sensitivity analysis for higher land rents were almost the same as the baseline model. The only deviation was the average field size of the last iteration, which was lower when putting higher land rents at the base (9.4 ha). The reason is that more farms remained after farm size optimization than in the baseline model. In the sensitivity analysis of lower land prices, field sizes increased from 3.1 ha in the 1st iteration to 6.7 ha in the 2nd iteration and 11.0 ha in the 4th iteration. Compared to the baseline model, these values are the same for the 1st and 2nd iteration but higher than in the last iteration due to there being fewer farms after land leases. The sensitivity analyses again showed, that the model reacted plausibly.

If we compare our results of the different policy designs, the highest average field size after land leases occurred in CAP II with 10.8 ha. Although in both the CAP I and II policy schemes, the same amount of farms remained, the average field sizes in CAP I was lower in both iterations (see table 5.4). In CAP II farmers faced stricter crop diversification requirements and more land

¹¹Field size changes occurred similarly to Brady et al. (2012).

¹²Allocation patterns of grassland to farms are summarized in Appendix M.

Amount of farms	Ø farm size (ha)	\varnothing field size (ha)
24	51.5	3.1
24	51.5	6.7
17	72.8	9.9
24	51.5	3.1
24	51.5	7.1
13	95.2	13.3
24	51.5	3.1
24	51.5	7.1
18	68.7	9.4
24	51.5	3.1
24	51.5	6.7
15	82.5	11.0
24	51.5	6.6
16	77.3	10.2
24	51.5	7.2
16	77.3	10.8
24	51.5	7.0
18	68.7	9.5
	Amount of farms 24 24 17 24 24 13 24 24 13 24 24 18 24 24 15 24 16 24 16 24 16 24 18	Amount of farms \oslash farm size (ha)2451.52451.51772.82451.52451.51395.22451.51451.51868.72451.51582.52451.51677.32451.51677.32451.51868.7

Table 5.4.: Amount of farms and average farm and field sizes of all model runs at the municipality level in ha.

needed to be reassigned to EFAs. Therefore, farmers balanced income losses by using EoS to increase their agricultural fields. In the 'nature-focused' policy design after land exchanges, the lowest average field sizes at the municipality level remained (even compared to the baseline model). Farmers' incentives to increase their field sizes seemed to be lower since alternative income possibilities from flowering fields were not driven as much by EoS measures as cash crops were (see previous section).

In all model runs, the critical field size threshold was crossed. According to our definition, it is reached if field sizes more than double. Since in the 1st iteration of the baseline model (the model calibration step) the average field size was 3.1 ha, this threshold was heavily crossed by all ensuing model runs. This indicates another regime shift, which takes place at the 'patch' scale within the economic domain. Field size changes at the 'patch' scale also effect landscapes and therefore species diversity (Billeter et al., 2008). Field sizes determine the distance between potential habitats and the location where beneficial insects can have a positive effect on pollination

(Ricketts et al., 2008). Crop pollination is densely edged to marginal areas, and valuable ES might get lost (Pufal et al., 2017; Potts et al., 2010). On the other hand, bigger fields lead to higher homogeneity since fewer crop types are planted within the same area. As a result, aesthetic values might get lost (Van Zanten et al., 2016), too.

In our study, three spatial indicators capturing these phenomenons will be presented. Indicator calculations were applied based on the land use and field size maps of the baseline model as well as the three alternate policy regimes. However, before elaborating on our biodiversity indicator results, land use and field size maps of the respective model runs are summarized and visualized in the following section.

5.2. Stylized maps of agricultural lands in Wöllstadt

Cropping and field size results were translated into spatial units as described in section 2.4.2. Therefore, spatial information of the study site was taken in order to depict agricultural farms as rectangles lying adjacent to each other. By simplifying our spatial outlay (see section 2.4.2.3), fields also have rectangular shapes and are located next to each other. Based on spatial information from the case study, the economic model was built, and the results could be allocated to the respective farms (rectangles).

Figure 5.1 visualizes the calibration results of the baseline model as a stylized map of the case studies. The assumption behind this iteration (and stylized map) is a scattered allocation of farmers' fields¹³. Fields cannot exceed a certain size since farmers did not yet consolidate them.

Compared to HLUG data on land use from 2011, the calibration results of the cropping activities (as derived from the 1st iteration of the baseline model) delivered a coarse picture of the actual land use patterns of Wöllstadt (see table 5.5). Wheat production mirrored the current condition quite good, although the model overestimated rapeseed production. Barley production in the actual land use in 2011 was higher than the model calculated. Sugar beet and potato production were adapted to the observed level of cultivation and therefore had the same array as the statistical data. Silo maize production in the model was split into silage maize for fodder and for biogas plantations. The observed level of silage maize in 2011 was 0.6 ha; no information about utilization was available. In the model, silage maize for biogas production was limited to a maximum level of 1% due to plantation capacities (see section 3.2.9). Silage maize as fodder was with 0.5% similar to

¹³This means there is no allocation of fields to farmers.



Figure 5.1.: Stylized land use and field size results of the 1st iteration of the baseline model. Farmers' fields are scattered within the agricultural area of the study site.

Table 5.5.: Baseline model	cropping results as	a % of the agricultural	area at the municipality
level compared	to HLUG data of the	calibration year (2011)).

Crop type [%]	1st iteration	Statistics 2011	2nd iteration	4th iteration
Wheat	50.0	51.7	50.0	50.0
Sugar beets	16.4	16.4	16.4	16.4
Rapeseed	22.3	10.6	22.3	24.2
Barley	0.7	7.9	0.7	0.7
Potatoes	2.3	2.3	2.3	2.3
Rye	-	1.3	0	0
Silage maize	0.5	0.6	0.5	-
Silage maize (biogas)	1.0	0.6 (n.d)	1.0	1.0
Corn maize	0.9	0.4	0.9	0.3
Triticale	-	0.2	-	-
Corn cob mix	-	-	-	-
Summer peas	-	-	-	-
Grass silage (permanent grassland)	1.1	n.d (5 %)	1.1	-
Hay (permanent grassland)	3.9	n.d (5 %)	3.9	5.0
Weed silage	0.8	-	0.8	-
Summer peas	-	-	-	-
Flowering strips	0.11	n.d	0.11	0.11

the observed amount of 0.6%. Corn maize production was also similar to the observed level with 0.9% compared to 0.4% from statistical data. It is sold and not used for private consumption. In the model as well as in the statistics, no corn cob mix or summer peas were produced. Although rye and triticale were cultivated in the calibration year, they were not in the solution vector of the model results, although these crops have been included as cropping options. According to statistics, Wöllstadt had 5% permanent grassland in 2011. However, information about grassland management was not available in public statistics. Due to our model results, 1% of permanent grassland was managed as grass silage and 4% as hay. Model results further simulated 0.8% weed silage, although this crop type was not observed in the calibration on participation in AES existed. Therefore, the amount of flowering strips was calculated based on monetary information about payments for AES in Wöllstadt (see section 3.2.8). The simulated value of 0.11% seemed to be appropriate since studies showed similar percentages of arable land managed as AES within Germany (Oppermann et al., 2012, e.g).

Within the next iterations, crop proportions changed if ever only in a minor manner for most crops. Potato, sugar beet, and silo maize (biogas) production did not change at all due to contractual model restrictions. Rapeseed proportions only increased from the 1st to the 2nd iteration, whereas the proportions of wheat and barley stayed the same. In the last iteration, silage maize as fodder crops, as well as weed silage and grass silage from permanent grassland,

disappeared from the landscape while corn maize decreased. These changes came from the loss of dairy farms since there was no more cattle that required fodder. Permanent grassland was managed as hay, bearing lower management input requirements. Notably, the proportion of flowering strips stayed the same since the budget for AES was not supposed to change within the baseline model run.

Although crop proportions at the landscape level did not change significantly throughout the model iterations, field sizes did change. How much farming decisions about field sizes spatially influenced landscape appearance becomes apparent when looking at our stylized maps of the 2nd and 4th model iterations (figure 5.2). In the 2nd iteration, field sizes had already doubled for most of the farms (cf table 5.3). The assumption behind this iteration is perfect consolidation of fields for any farm. Therefore, farmers increased their fields in order to use EoS. The numbers in figure 5.2 represent the farms of Wöllstadt. After land leases (right map), only 17 farms remained, and average field sizes even increased. However, there were still some small farms left having smaller field sizes. These farms reduced their acreage but still needed to meet crop rotation requirements implemented as model restrictions (e.g. farm 2 or 11). More labour is spent outside the agricultural sector, and those farms are managed part-time.

High deviations in the cropping patterns of farmers occurred due to different market conditions. The sensitivity analysis on grain prices revealed quite different cropping results. The main differences were much higher corn maize production (almost 50%) and a maximum proportion of rapeseed (25% due to biophysical constraints) at the expense of wheat production, whereas the other crops had similar values compared to the baseline model (see table L.2 and table 5.5). This shows how sensitive farmers react on changes in crop prices. In contrast to the sensitivity analysis on grain prices, cropping patterns in both sensitivity analyses on different land rents did not differ much from the baseline model, nor between each other (see table L.3). The sensitivity analyses showed that our model reacted flexibly to changes in crop prices and land rents. However, the results were not stylized as maps.



Figure 5.2.: Stylized land use and field size results of the 2nd (left) and 4th (right) iterations of the baseline model. Fields are perfectly consolidated; numbers mark each farm.

5. Results

Our alternate policy schemes, though, were visualized as stylized maps. A comparison of the 2nd and 4th iterations of each political incentive scheme can be found in figures 5.3 and 5.4. Field sizes are comparable with the baseline model as well as among policy designs. However, cropping patterns differ between the CAP schemes and the 'nature-focused' policy design. Wheat production was relatively even for all three political schemes (see table L.4); it was lowest with 46.8% in the 'nature-focused' scheme. Similar to the baseline model, sugar beet and potato production was the same due to contractual conditions. Rapeseed production in CAP I was with 14.7% in the 2nd iteration and 16.3% in the 4th iteration much lower than in the baseline model (22% and 24%). It further decreased within the CAP II and 'nature-focused' policy designs. There were almost no changes for barley, rye, triticale, or corn cob mix production. Silage maize, grass silage, and weeds were only cultivated within the 2nd iteration steps since after farm size optimization, dairy farms and fodder crops disappeared from the landscape. Again, after farm closures, only hay management remained on permanent grassland since there was no more use for grass silage as a potential fodder crop. Silage maize for biogas was produced to a higher extent (2%) than in the baseline model since the political incentive schemes assume that policy sticks to its ambitious energy targets. Corn maize production was relatively low for all three policy designs within the 2nd iteration and even lower within the last iteration, with always less than 0.5% of the total agricultural area. Compared to the baseline model, summer pea production was now another significant crop. Due to the new CAP reform, farmers needed to meet a certain amount of EFAs in order to receive a greening premium in CAP I and II, respectively a sustainability premium (SP) in the 'nature-focused' design. In CAP I, summer pea production was lower than in the other two policy designs since only five instead of seven percent agricultural area needed such 'ecological treatment'. The proportions of flowering strips in CAP I and II are notably even lower than in the baseline model since the budget for agri-environmental schemes of the new CAP reform is lower (see section 3.2.8). In the 'nature-focused' policy design, many more flowering strips (11.1%), which can now cover entire fields (flowering fields), adorn the landscape.

The stylized land use and field size maps show certain points in time. While the 2nd iteration indicates agricultural landscape after land amalgamation, the 4th iteration shows the resulting land use and field size patterns after land exchange processes through land leases. Based on the demonstrated stylized maps, three different spatially explicit biodiversity indicators were calculated in order to investigate the potential impacts of structural change processes on biodiversity. We are going to present the biodiversity indicator results in the following section.



Figure 5.3.: Stylized land use and field size results of the 2nd iterations of the alternate policy designs: CAP I (left), CAP II (middle), and 'nature-focused' (right). Fields are perfectly consolidated; numbers mark each farm.



Figure 5.4.: Stylized land use and field size results of the 4th iterations of the alternate policy designs: CAP I (left), CAP II (middle), and 'nature-focused' (right). Fields are perfectly consolidated; numbers mark each farm.

5.3. Biodiversity indicators

The farmland indicator for biotic diversity of the German national indicator report consists of stock values of ten main birds taken as indicator species. For the calculation, averaged stock values were set in relation to the target value (BMBU, 2010). According BMBU (2015), only 56% of the target value had been reached in 2011. In order to test the political achievements of three alternate policy designs with respect to the biodiversity targets, we applied three different biodiversity indicators to our simulated and stylized agricultural landscape maps. Our indicators covered (1) crop diversity in the mode of a Simpson's diversity index, which takes into account the number and area of different crops, (2) proportions of semi-natural habitats consisting of permanent grassland and flowering strips/fields, and (3) number of patches/fields. These indicators are targeted to measure landscape heterogeneity. They are not adapted to the habitat requirements of birds or mammals. They rather indicate the abundance of insects such as bees since our study also covers flowering strips as semi-natural habitats and allocates them spatially. With this procedure we seek to get comparable figures to the indicator value of the national indicator report since insects form an important part of the food web of birds. Indeed, Valerio et al. (2016) found that the species richness of surrogate bird species protected by the European Birds Directive¹⁴ corresponds to landscape heterogeneity. At a spatial scale of 125-250 m, the correlation between bird diversity and landscape heterogeneity is especially significant (Morelli et al., 2013).

Landscape matrices determine pollinator dispersions (Tischendorf and Fahrig, 2000). As we focused on pollination as an ecosystem service, the surrounding agricultural landscape matrix was considered for the indicator calculation. For each sample point, land use features of a buffer zone with a radius of 250 m served as the calculation base. In doing so, for each indicator a value map for each iteration was produced. In the following, descriptive statistics of these maps are analyzed. However since space matters, descriptive statistics alone cannot cover the significance of the indicator calculation. This is why biodiversity indicator maps need to be considered as well.

5.3.1. Crop diversity

Crop diversity is directly associated with agricultural production and influences soil degradation, fertility, and erosion (Bullock, 1992; Thrupp, 2000). It therefore can alter the performance of ecosystem services (Naeem et al., 1994) and becomes important for food security issues (Smale and King, 2005) in terms of improving the resilience of agricultural systems (FAO, 2011). It also

¹⁴And also used for the calculation of the biodiversity indicator of the German national indicator report.

Simpson's Diversity Indicators	Min	Max	Mean	Std Dev.
Baseline model				
1st iteration	0.26	0.85	0.63	0.09
2nd iteration	0.0	0.82	0.57	0.12
4th iteration	0.0	0.79	0.47	0.19
CAP I				
2nd iteration	0.03	0.78	0.60	0.13
4th iteration	0.0	0.82	0.56	0.18
CAP II				
2nd iteration	0.02	0.78	0.61	0.12
4th iteration	0.0	0.79	0.49	0.19
'Nature-focused'				
2nd iteration	0.0	0.83	0.62	0.14
4th iteration	0.0	0.80	0.51	0.18

Table 5.6.: Simpson's diversity indicators of the baseline model and alternate policy designs: descriptive statistics of stylized maps based on pixel data.

helps one understand how landscapes change over time (Herzog et al., 2017).

The Simpson's diversity index (Simpson, 1949) (SD) reflects the richness and evenness of species within an observed area (Magurran, 2004). It therefore can be used as a proxy for spatial crop diversity within a research area and has also been applied in several newer studies (Palmu et al., 2014; Conrad et al., 2017, e.g.). Depending on the spatial resolutions, SD indicators vary. For example, Conrad et al. (2017) used circular buffers of 1.5 km and 5 km radii. Comparisons between studies with different spatial resolutions need to be interpreted with caution. This indicator, though, has a relatively intuitive interpretation. It represents the probability that two randomly picked observations would be different crops (Hurlbert, 1971).

Table 5.6 summarizes descriptive statistics for each stylized map. The respective maps for each iteration of the baseline model can be found in figure 5.5. Note that for the outer stretch (250 m distance from the mapped border) no indicator values were calculated. We only modeled the agricultural area within Wöllstadt, and no reliable data for the surrounding area, which serves as information for the indicator calculation, was available.

In the 1st iteration, where fields of farmers have been scattered, the mean SD indicator at the landscape level was 0.63. The highest crop diversity values reached a level of 0.85. In only a few spots, SD indicators fell below 0.4 (see left map in figure 5.5). After field amalgamation (2nd iteration), the average SD indicator decreased. More spots showed values below 0.4, while crop diversity of those spots with already low SD values became even lower. The lowest values could be found after land leases (4th iteration) with an average mean SD indicator of 0.47.



Figure 5.5.: Spatially explicit Simpson's diversity index calculation for each iteration of the baseline model (*left:* 1st iteration, middle: 2nd iteration, right: 4th iteration). Source: author's own results. According to our results, crop diversity also changed due to different political incentive schemes. Compared with the current situation (1st iteration of the baseline model), no policy design could compensate crop diversity losses due to structural change processes and always led to lower SD indicator values after land leases (4th iterations). Taking the mean value of the 1st iteration of the baseline model (0.63) as a basis, all alternate policy designs were associated with slightly lower SD indicators within the 2nd iteration (see table 5.6)¹⁵. However, if taking the last iteration of the baseline model as a basis, SD indicators of the policy designs were higher. All alternate policy regimes led to an improvement with respect to crop diversity in comparison to the 'business as usual' policy design. CAP I led to highest mean values (0.56), followed by the 'nature-focused' policy (0.51), CAP II (0.49), and the baseline model (0.47).

In summary, due to structural change processes, crop diversity of our case study decreased independently from the policy design. But what does this tell us about biodiversity? Indicators for habitat diversity are linked to species richness (Billeter et al., 2008). The Simpson's diversity indicator evaluates heterogeneity of landscapes in general and does not emphasize rare species, for example. In landscape ecology, it indicates species diversity since the higher the heterogeneity, the higher the variety of resources available for species; it does not guarantee the abundance of certain species (Valerio et al., 2016). Therefore, landscape heterogeneity needs to be defined according to its functions to serve as a habitat for target species (Fahrig et al., 2011). If all species living within a landscape need to be captured, the Simpson's diversity index is a popular measure, although universal statements about biodiversity or indicator thresholds in the sense of species richness, for example, are not possible (Kadoya and Washitani, 2011). This is why Chape et al. (2005) recommends a combination of different biodiversity measures.

5.3.2. Semi-natural habitats

In contrast to the Simpson's diversity index, which is often used to show general biodiversity trends, the abundance of certain habitats also indicates the abundance of target species (Fahrig et al., 2011). In fact, the extent of habitats is much more critical for organisms than land use diversity is (Rüdisser et al., 2015). This is why habitat indicators are more useful for conservation purposes, than, for example, crop diversity indicators (Kadoya and Washitani, 2011).

¹⁵Spatially explicit SD indicator maps for the alternate policy designs can be found in Appendix Q.



Figure 5.6.: Spatially explicit semi-natural habitat index calculation for each iteration of the baseline model (left: 1st iteration, middle: 2nd iteration, right: 4th iteration). Source: author's own results.

Semi-natural habitats	Min	Max	Mean	Std Dev.
Baseline model				
1st iteration	0	57	5.5	10.5
2nd iteration	0	53	5.6	10.1
4th iteration	0	58	4.5	11.8
CAP I				
2nd iteration	0	50	6.1	11.6
4th iteration	0	55	4.3	10.6
CAP II				
2nd iteration	0	57	6.4	12.2
4th iteration	0	58	4.8	11.6
'Nature-focused'				
2nd iteration	0	88	16.8	18.3
4th iteration	0	66	15.8	18.0

Table 5.7.: Semi-natural habitats of the baseline model and alternate policy designs (%): descriptive statistics of stylized maps based on pixel data.

In our study we included another landscape indicator that measures semi-natural habitats. These influence the flow of organisms (Forman and Godron, 1986; Dauber et al., 2003) and are important for the overall species richness within agricultural areas (Hendrickx et al., 2007; Billeter et al., 2008). Species richness in turn preserves the flow of ecosystem services such as pollination (Klein et al., 2007). Literature shows that semi-natural habitats serve as sources for the dispersion of pollinators, which contribute to a higher species richness within adjacent areas (Duelli and Obrist, 2003; Öckinger and Smith, 2007).

We focused especially on pollinators such as wild bees. For pollinators, flowering strips and permanent grassland can serve as habitats and determine the matrix quality of agriculturally characterized lands (Jauker et al., 2009). Results for our baseline model showed, that semi-natural habitat values have been relatively stable throughout the iterations; they changed only within a range of 1%. In each iteration there have been samples that contained no semi-natural elements at all (see minimum values in table 5.7). In these areas crop pollination might be critical. However, there have been some spots with more than 50% semi-natural habitats. Those spots cover the areas of dairy farms (see farms 9, 17, 19, 22 in figure 5.6). Dairy farms manage permanent grassland and additionally often participate in AES (Pufahl and Weiss, 2009; Zimmermann and Britz, 2016), which could also be confirmed with our results (see section 5.1.1). With respect to habitat quality, our case study seemed to be already in bad condition, which might have become even worse with the policy design at the time. Mean indicator values were very low in each modeling step, with 5.6% in the 2nd iteration and 4.5% in the 4th iteration (see table 5.7). According to Jauker et al. (2009), 10% semi-natural habitat is regarded as low. Our results further showed that semi-natural habitats conglomerated within certain areas where higher values had already occurred (see figure

5.6). The highest maximal values could be found in the 4th iteration (cf table 5.7). After dairy farms closed down, the biggest farms that rented in the land of dairy farms planted flowering strips. Semi-natural habitat aggregation remained unchanged and even increased after structural change processes.

The results for CAP I and II delivered comparably low values for the semi-natural habitat indicator (see table 5.7). In the shorter run, the CAP reform seemed to have some positive effects with respect to potential semi-natural habitats. In both policy designs initially, after the 2nd iteration, mean values were higher than the reference point (1st iteration of the baseline model). However, these small deviations might have stemmed from random field allocations within the rectangular farms. For example, if permanent grassland had been allocated to an outer border of the indicator map, higher values might have gotten lost and vice versa. After land leases, lower average values for the semi-natural habitat indicators occurred. In CAP I, the mean value (4.3%) was even lower than in the baseline model, while in CAP II the mean index value was slightly higher (4.8%). Similar to the baseline model, in each policy scenario, the index for semi-natural habitats had minimum values of 0. There were still areas where some pollinators such as bees might not have found enough living space. However, pollinator dispersion strongly depends on the life history traits of the observed taxon (Jauker et al., 2009). In CAP I and II, maximal index values increased from the 2nd to the 4th iteration, while mean values decreased. Similar to the baseline model, this and the reduction of standard deviations indicated that areas that already had enough semi-natural habitat conglomerated, whereas the habitat quality of other areas decreased. Merely a few grasslands and even fewer flowering strips along field margins are not enough to support diverse bee communities and do not allow adequate levels of dispersion (Steffan-Dewenter, 2003).

The 'nature-focused' policy scheme delivered totally different results. Farmers participated in ANP schemes and planted many more flowering fields and strips. Mean semi-natural habitat values of the 2nd (16.8%) and 4th (15.8%) iterations were much higher. Maximal values also reached a much higher level of 88% and 66%, respectively. There were still areas with no semi-natural elements since the minimum value was 0. However, when looking at the value maps of the semi-natural habitat indicator summarized in Appendix Q, these areas occurred less often. Improvements in the matrix quality of agricultural areas (semi-natural habitats well above 10%) lead to a lower decay in species numbers, especially for wild bees, and supports species dispersion (Jauker et al., 2009).

Min	Max	Mean	Std Dev.
8	31	17.2	5.0
2	16	8.6	2.8
1	15	6.4	2.9
2	20	8.7	3.2
1	19	6.7	3.8
2	17	8.0	3.0
2	12	5.3	2.0
2	18	7.9	2.9
1	14	5.8	2.5
	Min 8 2 1 2 1 2 2 2 1 2 1	Min Max 8 31 2 16 1 15 2 20 1 19 2 17 2 12 2 14 1 14	Min Max Mean 8 31 17.2 2 16 8.6 1 15 6.4 2 20 8.7 1 19 6.7 2 17 8.0 2 12 5.3 2 18 7.9 1 14 5.8

Table 5.8.: Number of patches in the baseline model and alternate policy designs: descriptive statistics of stylized maps based on pixel data.

5.3.3. Number of fields

Another indicator we analyzed in our study was the number of fields. In landscape ecology, this indicator usually counts the number of patches and is related to the number of habitat patches (Jepsen et al., 2005; Dramstad et al., 2001, e.g.). However, we applied it to our agricultural fields to show changes in field sizes and related them to pollination services by choosing the adequate dispersion radius of potential pollinators. Field sizes determine field margins within agricultural landscapes. Field margins can serve as corridors and enhance species migration to and from nesting and/or food resources (Collinge, 2000; Cane, 2001). In general, movements between several habitats would be lower without corridors (Mabry and Barrett, 2002). On the other hand, field sizes determine the distance between potential habitat and required pollinator services (Ricketts et al., 2008; Pufal et al., 2017).

Our results for the baseline model showed that the mean values, as well as the minimum and maximum values, decreased from one iteration to the next iteration (see table 5.8). The standard deviation was lowest for the 2nd iteration; however, it did not vary much from the 4th iteration. While the current farming structure exhibited at least 8 agricultural fields within a radius of 250 m, after structural change, only one field could be found in some areas. Mean values reduced to around one third of the reference scenario. The highest changes occurred after field amalgamation; differences in the patch sizes were relatively low between the 2nd and 4th iterations. This became more obvious when comparing the stylized maps of figure 5.7.
5. Results

Similar to the baseline model, the mean as well as maximum, minimum, and standard deviation values in all alternate policy designs decreased after farm size optimization. A slightly higher mean value than in the baseline model could be found in CAP I, with 8.7 in the 2nd iteration and 6.7 in the 4th iteration. The CAP II and 'nature-focused' policy design delivered lower values than the baseline model (see table 5.8). Each model run showed a declining trend in the number of patches¹⁶. Field sizes increased while field margins that may serve as corridors became fewer. Therefore, we expect species' movements to be lower after structural change processes, and crop pollination might become difficult for internal areas since fields are bigger. However, this depends on the pollinator species and matrix quality (Jauker et al., 2009).

Measuring habitat composition always needs a set of several habitat indicators since species richness is driven by a variety of factors (Bailey et al., 2007). The lower Simpson's diversity index of the 'nature-focused' policy design compared to CAP I, for example, is driven by a relatively low number of patches after structural change processes (see table 5.8). While the minimum values for the number of patches indicator did not differ between these policy designs, the maximum values of the CAP I scenario were higher than in the 'nature-focused' design. Furthermore, the standard deviations were higher in CAP I than in the 'nature-focused' design and even increased in the 4th iteration of CAP I. Field sizes in the 'nature-focused' policy design were lower and distributed more evenly than in CAP I. This contributed to lower Simpson's diversity indicators for the 'nature-focused' incentive scheme. However, since the SD indicator covers only the average crop type diversity within the buffer zones and no habitat quality, the low deviation in the 'nature-focused' policy regime did not necessarily indicate reductions in biodiversity. In fact, species diversity most probably increased due to many more semi-natural habitats (Hagen et al., 2012; Hendrickx et al., 2007; Steffan-Dewenter, 2003).

The current state of our case study seems to already be very poor with respect to semi-natural habitats and will get worse without significant changes in agricultural policy reforms. In both CAP designs, a lower abundance of semi-natural habitats, lower cropping diversity, and a lower number of patches led to landscape homogeneity, probably with adverse effects on biodiversity and pollination. For our case study, the new CAP reform was not able to compensate biodiversity losses linked to structural change processes.

¹⁶Indicator maps are summarized in Appendix Q.



Figure 5.7.: Spatially explicit number of patches index calculation for each iteration of the baseline model (*left:* 1st iteration, *middle:* 2nd iteration, right: 4th iteration). Source: author's own results.

6 Socio-ecological resilience of the case study

In the first part of the chapter, a picture of the socio-ecological resilience of our case study is drawn, and possible future developments under the new CAP reform are envisaged. According to these trends, political implications to enhance biodiversity within agricultural lands are delineated. Afterward, conditions under which the research questions can be answered are elaborated. This contains critical examinations with respect to methodology and the spatial outlay. At the same time, we debate possible model extensions.

6.1. The new basin of attraction

The conceptual framework of the study at hand follows a holistic view where humans play a crucial role in landscape appearance (Berkes et al., 2003). It seeks to measure the socio-ecological resilience (Walker et al., 2004) of our system. Interactions between components of a system occur at several scales and domains (Carpenter, 2003). Therefore the economic, ecological, and socio-cultural domains of our case study were investigated regarding several scales. Within the economic domain, all three scales were addressed: (1) the small scale in the form of agricultural fields, (2) the medium scale represented by farms as decision units, and (3) the large scale because interactions between farmers at municipality level were modeled. Within the ecological scale, large-scale effects in mode of biodiversity changes as being the consequence of drivers were investigated. The socio-cultural domain takes into account large-scale interactions within the labour market. Since temporal aspects are crucial for investigating socio-ecological systems (Kinzig et al., 2006), we considered structural change processes.

The identified variables that might drive the socio-ecological system into another basin of attraction were the amount of farms, field sizes, and farm types. Our results demonstrated that structural change within the study site can be modeled and traced back to these drivers. According

to our analytical framework, thresholds were defined for the driving variables, which tie together different domains and scales. These are used to show possible future developments of our case study.

In the baseline model, two of the three critical thresholds were crossed: field sizes more than doubled at the 'patch' scale, and farm type loss occurred at the farm scale. In both CAP policy designs, within each scale, critical thresholds were reached. Similar to the baseline model, two critical thresholds were crossed in the 'nature-focused' policy design. Here, more farms remained in the agricultural sector. Structural change processes were prevalent in all model runs, where the amount of farms were reduced at the expense of dairy farms. Field sizes sharply increased due to field consolidations and the reduction of farm numbers.

Each time a threshold is crossed, regime shifts are induced. Since often one single regime shift triggers a whole system to change it is most probable, that several regime shifts in combination (cascading effects) lead the system into another basin of attraction (Walker et al., 2004). In fact, cascading domain-scale regime shifts within investigated case studies always led to new system regimes that were more resilient to changes and often even irreversible (Kinzig et al., 2006). These new regimes are usually less popular from the societal perspective (Matthews and Selman, 2006). The authors further note that desired landscapes need to be assessed and depend on cultural and ecological values as well as many other aspects such as current needs or conditions.

The regime shifts outlined above had different effects on biodiversity indicators, however. All policy designs led to lower biodiversity indicator values except the 'nature-focused' incentive scheme. There, more semi-natural habitats occurred despite structural change processes. Since semi-natural habitats predict species richness more securely than landscape indicators such as the Simpson's diversity index (Rüdisser et al., 2015), we assume that the 'nature-focused' policy design has potential to fulfill the desired biodiversity targets of the EC. Within our case study, CAP policy designs, which were aligned to the new CAP reform, were not able to enhance biodiversity. However, a rich species diversity is a declared goal of the political and hence societal domain. We can conclude that in our case study, a new basin of attraction induced by the 'CAP towards 2020' reform will follow. This new basin of attraction will be worse with respect to ecological desires. It might even be irreversible. With the CAP policy design, the cultural landscape of our case seems to change into a 'pure' food and energy production site. Only few semi-natural habitats will remain, whereas small and scattered fields might be displaced by huge and uniform production units. Agricultural production might be specialized in a mode of arable and pig-fattening farms,

while dairy farming will disappear. The loss of dairy farms leads to lower crop diversity, which can only partly be offset by the simulated greening measures of the new CAP reform. Furthermore, the trend to cost-saving, full-time farms probably holds, and only a few family farms working part-time will stay in the agricultural sector. Running parallel to the insecure question of farm succession and demographic changes within rural areas (Mawick et al., 2011), the rural population might further decrease due to fewer job alternatives within the agricultural sector and changing landscapes that no longer mirror cultural identities (Eberhardt and Vollrath, 2016; Dramstad et al., 2001).

Semi-natural habitat loss and aggregation through structural change processes could not be compensated through incentives schemes of the CAP designs. As outlined above, pollinator dispersion strongly depends on potential nesting and fodder habitats, as well as on the agricultural landscape matrix (Tischendorf and Fahrig, 2000). Therefore, the new basin of attraction might be fragile with respect to the pollination on which farmers rely. Either farmers need to replace these missing ES by bearing high costs as a result of paying pollination service companies, or adequate habitats need to be established. As we showed with our biodiversity indicators, this could be the establishment of semi-natural habitats or reduction of field sizes in order to increase landscape mosaic and the amount of field margins. However, as already altered systems might get stuck within their new basin of attraction (Kinzig et al., 2006), it might not be enough to restore earlier landscape structures (hysteresis effect). More landscape structures are possibly required in order to establish new populations since a lot of knowledge and time is needed to restore ecosystems (Bengtsson et al., 2003). For that reason it seems to be fundamental to maintain already existing habitats within agriculturally intensified areas. Otherwise costs for re-establishing pollinator populations might explode.

Our results further showed that cost pressures influence the amount of farmers remaining in the agricultural sector. Costs for declining pollinators are indeed high (see Bauer and Wing (2016) or Breeze et al. (2016) for a review). If farmers need to replace missing ES through, for example, self-pollination, high costs might further accelerate structural change. Small-scale farmers might simply not be able to bear those costs, and buying pollination services only pays off for large farms (Geslin et al., 2017).

6.2. Political implications

As the aim of the study is to assess policy impacts on landscape changes and on biodiversity, within a given modeling framework, the hypothesis is that structural change subverts political

measurements. In order to protect ecosystems and therein living species active management is needed. Three political scenarios were built with varying degrees of environmental support. (1) The CAP I policy design, which mirrors the current ('CAP towards 2020') legal framework conditions, (2) the CAP II policy design with strengthened greening conditions, and (3) the 'nature-focused' policy design where DP are replaced by other premiums linked to environmental measurements based on ideas of the 'refocus' scenario of the European Commission (2011) and the NABU as described in Oppermann et al. (2016). Detailed political framework conditions of the baseline model and all three alternate political incentive schemes can be found in table 4.3.

The results of the first two policy designs confirmed the hypothesis and led to increasing landscape homogeneity accompanied with less species diversity. Fewer ES such as pollination and pest control can be expected within the research area. For an improved scenario, policy advise is required in order to prevent biodiversity declines. Quite the contrary, improving the conditions for species diversity is envisaged. This is why we included a third policy relevant incentive scheme. The results for the 'nature-focused' policy revealed that biodiversity and pollination services can be improved within our case study. However, what are the costs for farmers?

Farmers did not have significant monetary losses through the new CAP designs. Model results delivered comparable values for farmers' income than without the reform. In fact, farmers even profited from the CAP designs, especially after land leases took place. The average income level per farm increased since less farms than without the reform remained. However, all other farmers need to find job alternatives.

Regarding the economic performance of agricultural farms within the 'nature-focused' policy design, farmers' income was lower. In the 2nd iteration, the average income per farm was lower than in our reference point and could only be compensated through farm size optimization. Although, compared to CAP I and II, the income after structural change was still lower (-15%). This example shows the importance of where to put the reference point especially in political planning and decision making. If structural change is assumed in any case, farmers would suffer income losses under the governmental measurements of the 'nature-focused' policy design. However, as long as the income situation after structural change processes is not yet reached, any income improvement might be experienced positively. From a social perspective, the required farm and field size enlargements in order to compensate farmers' income losses might be easier to accept if biodiversity also profits from such political measurements.

In literature, the abolition of DP as it is also part of our 'nature-focused' policy design is discussed controversial (Rickard, 2015). There were other studies simulating farm exits due to

reductions in DP. For example, Brady et al. (2012) found that under this policy regime structural change was strongest with highest shares of farm exits. This consequently resulted in negative impacts on landscape heterogeneity and biodiversity¹. Similar results can be found in Uthes et al. (2011), where the abolition of DP led to high income losses, which further led to land abandonment and farm closings especially of small-scale and livestock keeping farms. In contrast to our policy scheme, in these studies, DP were reduced without cushioning farmers' income losses with alternative payment schemes.

In our case study, abolishing DP and replace them by well paid and ecologically effective environmental measures, led to structural change processes with less farms and larger fields, but with higher species diversity and pollination services. Structural change might probably be mitigated through this incentive scheme since compared to all other tested policy regimes more farms remained and fewer critical thresholds were reached. This has influences on other domains and scales. The socio-ecological system might be more stable and this might prevent undesired initiations of regime shifts at other domains and scales.

In all modeled policy designs crop diversity decreased. Crop diversity is linked with soil quality and soil erosion issues (Bullock, 1992; Thrupp, 2000). It needs to be considered in questions of food security and contributes to a high resilience of agricultural systems (FAO, 2011). Our model showed, that keeping dairy farms at place leads to a higher crop diversity. Dairy farmers could get additional governmental support, such that cattle keeping becomes more viable again. Another possibility could be to strengthen crop diversification regulations. The current crop diversification requirements do not effectively increase crop diversity (European Commission, 2016; Lakner and Bosse, 2016) and needs to be better targeted (European Parliament, 2016). Louhichi et al. (2017) found that especially livestock keeping farms were more affected than arable farms. Our results suggest to relieve dairy farms and enforce stricter crop diversification requirements for arable farms. They have more options to diversify their cropping patterns than livestock keeping farms have (Louhichi et al., 2017).

Especially in structural poor regions hedges have a positive impact on biodiversity (Batàry et al., 2010; Tscharnke et al., 2012). However, farmers would rather choose nitrogen-fixing crops than ecologically more beneficially landscape features such as hedges (Pe'er et al., 2016). According to Zinngrebe et al. (2017), farmers' EFA choices are motivated by several reasons such as economic issues (e.g. implementation costs), administrative, locational, and ecological considerations. Our

¹They used a Shannon-Wiener index as biodiversity indicator.

model results showed that in any model only summer pea production as one of three alternative greening measures was chosen. Farmers did not decide to leave some of their land fallow or plant hedges. The two activities seemed to be of low attraction. Summer peas can be sold or used as fodder, while the other two alternatives not. Fallow land has the advantage that it saves labour, though this incentive was too low. Depending upon the hedge type, this greening measure can be used for wood or berries for own consumption. However, compared to all other land use activities, planting and maintaining hedges bears income losses and high costs. Hedges need to be maintained especially if they are young and in the growing period. Even if some labour would be invested instead of paying someone else, the costs would just get displaced. A possibility to support planting hedgerows could be to initiate programes, in which farmers just need to release some of their lands and dedicate it to hedge land. The farmer, though, is not obliged to contribute to the establishment and maintenance of hedges and at least does not need to bear any costs. Compensations are needed and perhaps the farmer gets, similar to the current AES for flowering strips, compensation payments for the losses of farmland (BMBU, 2010).

Within our case study and under the given model framework, the greening measurements of CAP 2020 were not able to reach pursued biodiversity targets of the European Commission. On contrary, due to structural change processes, biodiversity indicators showed to be worse. However, without the new CAP reform, biodiversity might have been even lower. There is a high political scope to control farm closures with incentive-based environmental measurements that compete with the risk of income loss due to volatile market prices. In the 'nature-focused' policy, for example, the average field sizes were lower and the amount of farms higher since alternative income possibilities were not driven as much by EoS measures. Either regulations to establish more semi-natural habitats such as hedges, fallow land, flowering fields, or a complete restructure of governmental incentive schemes could improve the conditions for a richer species diversity within our case study. Restructured political incentive schemes might include the abolition of DP. This however, needs to be compensated by incentive-based environmental measurements having positive effects on the habitat quality and farmers' incomes. Incentives to support dairy farms would increase the crop diversity of agricultural landscapes.

6.3. Modeling restrictions and development chances

6.3.1. Structural change

In order to assess the effects of structural change on agricultural land use patterns and landscape mosaics, the present model has taken account of farm and field sizes. With a methodological combination of linear and non-linear programming, linked together through iterations, the temporal scale of structural change has been addressed. Since the conceptual framework was comparatively static, it provided three theoretical points in time: (1) current cropping conditions, (2) after full land consolidation, and (3) after farm size optimization through land leases; the speed of structural change was not investigated. One possibility to explicitly account for the speed of structural change would be to include empirical knowledge about the annual change in farm sizes as a model constraint in the non-linear optimization model step. However, the methodological uncertainties of empirical operations would be an issue (Heckelei and Wolff, 2001). Structural change depends on several conditions that are difficult to predict even if statistical information exists (Happe et al., 2008; Mandryk et al., 2012). Empirical uncertainties paired with less model flexibility due to a higher amount of constraints would need to be brought in. Nevertheless, determination of the speed of structural change would be a meaningful task, since the time horizon plays a crucial role in setting political goals (Lai et al., 2017). The new CAP reform, for example, has a time frame until 2020. However, farm size changes calculated by our model may take longer. The model results for the CAP policy designs might be more reliable, i.e. if these policy designs will not change significantly for a longer time period than until 2020. Our results at least indicate directions of structural change and corresponding regime shifts under the 'CAP towards 2020' reform.

Other framework conditions might be changes in output or input prices, as well as climatic conditions affecting yield levels (Ewert et al., 2011). With the sensitivity analysis on grain prices, we already showed that through lower grain prices structural change will be faster. This is in line with findings of Mandryk et al. (2012), who measured the impact of price trends on structural change processes.

Ewert et al. (2011) estimated the price effects of climate and market changes on crop prices and yields for the EU member states. After initial assessments, however, the extent to which yield levels have changed within our study region has not yet been fully explored. Basically, in order to capture insecure climatic change possibilities, several scenarios exist but were not considered in this work. According to the authors, grain prices will increase mainly due to macroeconomic variables (e.g. GDP and world demand). Yield effects play only a minor role.

Commodity prices might also increase due to boosting energy prices (Wang et al., 2014). If energetic aspects are taken into account, questions about thresholds where the use of energyintensive machinery will be replaced with more labour arise. Under such framework conditions and a declining agricultural energy productivity (Cleveland, 1995; Rydberg and Haden, 2006), it might be interesting if labour subsidies affect structural change. Furthermore, catch crops might become more competitive than fertilizer. In general, it might be interesting to explore under which input prices (labour and energy) healthy ecosystems become superior. According to McArthur and McCord (2017), agricultural inputs drive structural change and have strong impacts on agricultural labour patterns. The extent to which macroeconomic variables and international price developments impact farm size changes of several farm types and sizes within different regions needs to be further investigated (Landi et al., 2016).

Based on the background of yield and production uncertainties, it might be important to model risk aversion of farmers, especially in combination with farmland biodiversity assessments (Mouysset et al., 2013; Baumgärtner and Quaas, 2006). The argument for this is that farmers try to reduce their risk through diversification of land use. Mouysset et al. (2013) showed that the stronger the risk aversion is, the stronger the habitat heterogeneity becomes. However, the correlation between habitat heterogeneity and the ecological performance was weaker. The model was very coarse with respect to landscape characteristics. Nevertheless, it showed that incorporating risk into the decision model significantly altered results.

Crop rotations are also linked to risk mitigation strategies (Hauk et al., 2017). Including them would additionally equip our model with temporal aspects. Taking into account several crop rotation schemes may lead to different optimal field and farm sizes by diminishing the utilization of scale economies. Finely tuned crop rotation schemes might also increase yields (Schönhardt et al., 2009).

Especially with regard to uncertainties due to climatic change, farmers' risk aversion might also change (Woods et al., 2017). Farmers might want to diversify their cropping patterns through suitable crop rotation schemes. Again, reaching critical thresholds within the ecological domain might trigger regime shifts within the economic domain. Therefore, modeling risk aversion might reveal further insights into the systems' dynamics.

Structural change processes are driven by dynamic interactions between human population growth and improved technologies (Boserup, 1965). If the competitive pressure increases, farmers

will be tempted to either abandon their agricultural business or expand it through modernization and investments. Technologies that are part of farmers' investment decisions, though, are not modeled within the scope of this work. Usually, farms are differently equipped with respect to machinery. In our model, though, all farmers had the same engine power of 120 kW. Higher machine power might shift labour requirements outwards, but only to the extent of the available production units. Our results showed that if a certain farm size was reached, no more off-farm labour was chosen by farmers². If farms could improve their technologies, off-farm labour might become available again, or farms might get even larger (Romano and Traù, 2017; Eberhardt and Vollrath, 2016). Therefore our results need to be viewed under these bounded framework conditions of a certain unchangeable machine power. Investment decisions determine to a large extent the speed of farm size growth as well as the farm type development (Chavas, 2001; Boehlje, 1992). Increasing farm sizes are often accompanied with field consolidation in order to reduce production costs (Burton, 1988). Intensified agricultural production is highly mechanized and depends on advanced and expensive machinery (Pimentel, 2009). Therefore, large investments are needed in order to keep pace with free market developments that confront farmers nowadays. Once a farmer invests a large amount of money and takes the risk of an uncertain business, he needs to use the machinery in an optimal manner until amortization. In order to utilize the potential of big machinery in an adequate way, fields must become bigger and easier to work with (Zimmermann and Heckelei, 2012). This reduces the abundance of e.g. field margins, which often fulfill important ecological functions (Lanz et al., 2018). These kinds of negative impacts on ecosystem services are linked to lower plant productivity (Cardinale et al., 2012). Therefore, field and farm size decisions need to be captured by the model and related to investment decisions. Regime shifts at the 'patch' scale induces regime shifts at the economic farm scale and vise versa.

6.3.2. Land market

After land leases, our model showed that most farms had already reached maximal possible sizes since they fully took over neighbouring farms. On the one hand this means that the amount of new land a farm could rent was well defined: based on the considered machinery power, labour capacities were sufficient for new farm sizes under the condition of economies of size. However, predefined renting possibilities make the model less flexible and less realistic. There are different programming techniques for land leasings.

For example, Kantelhardt (2003) or Moosburger (1999) simulated rental markets based on farm models. Therefore, iterative processes were applied. Single farms and their shadow prices for land

²See for example farm 20 after farm size optimization.

were calculated independently from each other. In a second iteration, an equilibrium situation was modeled, where pre-calculated shadow prices determined the new tenant of the land that was set free. The new situation served as a starting point for further potential land rental processes. A similar approach was applied by Kapfer et al. (2015), who ranked farmers according to their economic strength and land according to its site quality. However, those approaches lack spatial references, as opposed to agent-based models.

A famous modeling technique applied in agent-based models includes auctions as simulated in Happe et al. (2004). Similar to a free market situation, an auctioneer (the market) allocates free land from each farmer who offers it to those who have intentions to rent additional land. In such a case, the shadow price for land and spatial attributes (e.g. distance between fields and farms) determine farmers' bids. This kind of land market where farmers compete individually for land is often found in ABM models (Berger, 2001; Schnicke et al., 2007; Schreinemachers and Berger, 2011, e.g.). If the land market would have been modeled using auction schemes, potential land rentals would have needed to be allocated to adjacent fields of the tenderers, or restrictions would be necessary so that tenderers only bid for land that lies next to their own fields. Otherwise, field size changes would be difficult to simulate since they are only possible if farmers cultivate a coherent area. If this auction mechanism were achieved, though, renting possibilities could also include the whole neighbourhood instead of only one neighbouring farm. Auction schemes require less assumptions implemented as constraints and would make the model more flexible. Neighbourhood relationships would not need to be defined explicitly prior to each iteration, which is time consuming.

We did not model land auctions due to our conceptual and methodological framework. Instead of modeling for yearly changes in farm sizes through taking into account shadow prices reflecting the current cropping patterns of each farm, longer time steps caused by long-term processes such as the question of finding a successor were addressed. These underlying processes were reflected in the farm size optimization process of a whole bunch of farms; it all depends on the market situation being at the mercy of hard competition conditions, and the farming community within our study area is seen in the long run as a group of collaborating farms with unbounded rationalities. Therefore, the total gross margin at the municipality level is maximized, and reductions in farm sizes cause increases in other farm sizes as it is done in the non-linear modeling part (3rd iteration). Within the linear modeling parts (short-term farming decisions), no farmer intends to rent out land. In our case therefore, an auction based land market would lead to no changes in the farm structure at all. As an alternative, though, it is conceivable that after the 4th iteration more iterations follow with different neighbourhood relationships (e.g. the opposite farm).

6.3.3. Spatial aspects

Our model delivers a novel form of spatial visualization in order to improve the interdisciplinary work within landscape research. Up until now, either raster-based landscape models (Happe et al., 2004; Weinmann, 2002, e.g.) or heavily stylized landscapes (Havlík et al., 2008; Cong et al., 2016, e.g.) exist. The former approach often lacks the possibility to include important agricultural landscape elements such as field margins or flowering strips, while the latter approach is rather technical and has not yet been applied to real agricultural regions.

One important feature of our model is the optimization of field sizes. Field sizes were conceptualized as driving variables inducing potential regime shifts. Within each linear model iteration, field sizes were simulated. This assumes that farmers have free choices on where to put their field boundaries. Through including some constraints due to biophysical and legal preconditions, they at least need to have a minimum number of fields. Results showed that farmers decided on fewer and bigger fields instead of many small fields. This decision is demanding since it is only possible to decide on the field sizes if the assumption of full consolidation holds true. At the moment, this type of spatial condition does not exist. However, there are political and technical endeavors to reach such a spatial allocation of agricultural land. Gritzmann et al. (2014) developed a mathematical software that ought to help farmers exchange fields in order to reach full consolidation. It already takes into account physical aspects such as soil qualities. Based on applications of the ProLand model, field consolidation is proposed in order to reduce production costs (Möller et al., 2002; Schroers, 2005). Historical observations also confirm the assumption of a trend to full consolidation. It can be observed in many parts of the world (Luo and Timothy, 2017). A pioneer example is the wheat belt region of Western Australia (Walker and Salt, 2006) as already mentioned in section 2.3.

If farmers lease agricultural lands, they lease whole fields instead of certain hectares. Similarly to Lauber (2006), the model should only allow for entire fields to be rented out. Therefore, field sizes would need a predefined value that requires a lot more data, programming, and working memory. The present study deliberately kept field sizes as variables to be simulated in order to optimize them. This procedure seemed to be plausible since a longer time span in which spatial processes can take place was covered. Furthermore, field consolidation and farm size optimization might occur simultaneously. In the long run, farmers who cultivate a huge agricultural area might indeed determine their field units. Field shapes, though, are not taken into account in our model. At the moment, all fields of a farmer have the same field length. They therefore are relatively

slim. If it might be possible to at least divide the agricultural land of a farmer into two 'rows', our stylized land use maps would become more realistic since they would mirror the actual field shapes more acurately. An additional benefit would be that management possibilities with respect to the location of flowering strips could be realized. The minimum spanning tree calculation as it was done in Wossink et al. (1998), for example, might then be another interesting feature of our model. In doing so, also the allocation of fields within farms can be adapted. At the moment, FOLAS distributes fields within farms randomly.

The spatial visualization in FOLAS is rather restricted to intensively used agricultural lands. Our results do not necessarily apply to extensively used areas. In order to transfer our model to other regions, the landscape structures need to be observed. If, for example, the research site lies in an extensively used agricultural area with a high proportion of natural habitat (e.g. forest or conservation areas), physical or geographical landscape conditions might not allow perfect consolidation and the realization of scale economies would not be possible to a similar extent as in intensively used lands. In other words, income losses initiated by e.g. greening measures might not easily be compensated with technological progress. As field structures become more irregular with unused gaps inbetween, spatial simplification becomes more complex.

However, the stylized landscape visualization proves the usability of the model for other disciplines within intensively used agricultural areas. Spatial attributes play a crucial role in land management, especially when addressing ecological questions (Bailey et al., 2007; Hendrickx et al., 2007; Tscharnke et al., 2012; Hagen et al., 2012; Fahrig et al., 2011). With our spatially explicit modeling design, ecological information in terms of spatial indicators for biodiversity assessment was gained without abstracting from the farmer as the primary land user and decision maker.

6.3.4. Policy designs

In order to assess political impacts on farming decisions and the resulting landscape appearance, several scenarios were built (see section 4.2 for more details). We simulated effects of the greening mechanism of the new CAP reform using a different payment scheme than in the baseline model. The baseline model simulated the current policy of the calibration year (2011). In order to model the greening component of CAP 2020, a part of the total DP was linked to management practices in order to reach a given amount of EFAs. We made first attempts to simulate ecological management practices according to their weighting factors as fixed in the EU Regulation No. 1307/2013. Management practices were hedges, summer peas (as legumes), and fallow land.

Furthermore, within 'CAP towards 2020', redistributive payments ought to support small holders in allocating money to the first 46 ha. In our model this mechanism is included only in the linear modeling parts where no decision on farm size takes place. In order to measure the farm size effects of redistributive payments, this has to be modeled in the the non-linear part (3rd iteration). However, this causes problems with the GAMS solver used since endogenous variables (farm sizes) cannot be used as conditionals. As-if statements can only be used for exogenous variables (such as given parameters). Hence, the incentive scheme of the new CAP reform to support small holders is not fully taken into account within our model. This, however, might be important and alter our model results. To our knowledge, in the current literature, no other modeling example exists that takes into account redistributive small-scale support payments as they were implemented in Germany. Nevertheless, as the redistributive payments are relatively low, high influences are not expected.

Our 'nature-focused' policy design is based on the newest NABU study conducted by Oppermann et al. (2016). There, they considered participation in basic environmental measures³ as voluntary and showed that 75% of all farms participated. Due to their results, ten percent of the arable and 20% of the grassland area was dedicated to such environmental measures. Our study assumes that all farms participate obligatorily with 10% of their areas in order to get a basic environmental premium. The same applies to the 'greening' component of CAP I and CAP II: in our model the participation in EFAs is an obligation, whereas in reality, it is voluntary. Additionally, in the NABU study, the cultivation of legumes and inter-cropping are not accepted in order to receive environmental premiums. In this study, however, legume production is accepted. Due to our results, it actually was the single land use type chosen by farmers in order to fulfill the requirements. The result of the NABU study further showed that farms that engaged the most in higher-value environmental measures⁴ were better off than those that participated with less than five percent of their agricultural area. In contrast, our results revealed that small farms with a lower TGM rather participated in higher-value environmental measures than big farms with high TGMs. However, in contrast to the present work, the NABU study did not consider farm sizes, and the results are not directly comparable.

³In order to get the sustainability premium; these measurements are comparable with the EFA measurements of CAP 2020.

⁴Comparable to AES.

6.3.5. Ecological model interlinkages

With our stylized agricultural maps, we delivered the basis for the calculation of biodiversity indicators. However, we did not consider other non-agricultural landscape elements such as trees, conservation areas, forest edges, or ditches. These landscape elements are already part of the landscape and have high impacts on pollinator dispersion (Ricketts et al., 2008). When spatially explicit biodiversity indicators were calculated, already existing natural and semi-natural habitats need to be taken into account since biodiversity indicator assessments need to consider the space around agricultural fields in order to deliver reliable values (Dauber et al., 2003).

Peripheral areas of our land use maps lack information and therefore cannot be assessed with respect to indicator values. Therefore, surrounding landscape characteristics need to be explored as well. They might form the outer border of a research area with influences on biodiversity but be unchangeable geographical items (e.g. forests). Non-agricultural landscape characteristics might also be roads or other infrastructure that could have negative impacts on species habitats. In future work, more detailed non-agricultural landscape features need to be taken into account.

Moreover, different soil parameters could be included for the study area. Soil quality influence cropping decisions due to differences in yield levels. These could be modeled via yield functions that depend on several components such as precipitation, soils, and temperature as, for example, in Sheridan (2010). In addition to the classical yield function, however, ecosystem services such as pollination may also influence certain crop yields (Isaacs et al., 2017). If other farming practices such as drilling or soil conversion measurements were covered by the model, soil and water erosion could also be addressed. Then, the decision on a certain soil treatment feeds back on the production function. This can be reflected in the form of a nature production function influencing income and hence, farmers' decision making. Feedback loops that influence crop yields are linked to the economic domain via the 'patch' scale (see Figure 6.1). If at the ecological 'patch' scale, ES are low due to low biodiversity grounded in low landscape heterogeneity, low crop diversity, few semi-natural landscape elements, or other (missing) landscape features, yield levels might decrease. This in turn affects the economic domain since farm viability might also decrease due to lower and/or insecure income. Similar to other domain-scale combinations, such a regime shift might trigger changes in other domain-scale combinations at the regional scale. For example, more farms might quit the agricultural sector with further impacts on the labour market and on the rural population as already described above. Assessments of how the absence of ES at the patch scale affects the economic farm scale are urgently needed in order to estimate future regional landscape pattern developments (Cong et al., 2016).



Figure 6.1.: Main variables of the possible interactions between different domains and scales including a feedback loop at the ecological patch scale. Figure adapted from Kinzig et al. (2006).

In any case, our model is predestined to implement feedback loops of flowering strips in order to design a landscape pattern bio-economic model including a nature production function. It is further capable to compare different policy designs and reveals insights into changes in the matrix quality and pollination services over time. Furthermore, in order to design spatially targeted policies for habitat conservation, spatially explicit habitat functions can be coupled with our economic model. If ecological feedbacks are integrated into the model, the following research questions can be raised:

- Is there a natural threshold regarding structural change?
- How can political measures be designed in order to improve spatial targeting?

Consequently, the spatially explicit modeling of landscape structures can result in win-win situations since optimal distributions in the sense of cost-saving implementations can be achieved (Wossink et al., 1998; Havlík et al., 2008; Bamière et al., 2011).

Chapter 7. Summary

Agro-ecosystems form a major part of today's habitats worldwide (FAO, 2017). Their main function is to deliver food and fibers in order to feed the growing population (Alexandratos and Bruinsma, 2012). However, agricultural land management is expected to provide multiple functions such as biomass production, the provision of cultural heritage, or mitigation of climaterelevant gases (De Groot, 2006; Kremen, 2005). Furthermore, land use within agro-ecosystems determines biodiversity and is driven by agricultural activities (Millenium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005). Agricultural ecosystems underlie permanent physical changes that affect species distribution, whilst political targets to protect biodiversity and ecosystem services fail (Pe'er et al., 2014; Leadley et al., 2014; European Commission, 2015). With its newest nature conservation offensive, the German federal agency for environmental protection acknowledged the malfunctions of reaching the German and European biodiversity targets (BMBU, 2015). Similarly, the mid-term review of the European Commission confirms the poor situation of ecosystems within the whole EU and especially in agriculturally related habitats (European Commission, 2015). This is why the BMBU (2015) proposed proofing the new CAP with respect to its efficacy in protecting ecosystems. They doubt that the new greening measures and cross-compliance obligations of the new CAP reform 2020 can contribute in order to reach the biodiversity goals and therefore urge changing the current governmental payment system.

For a political impact assessment on biodiversity issues, the whole landscape including its geological diversity (Gray, 2005) and biological characteristics needs to be considered (Parks and Mulligan, 2010). This comprises not only agricultural and silvicultural areas but also non-agricultural areas such as natural landscape elements or infrastructure. On top of these spatial scales, assessing political impacts on agricultural production and cultural landscape appearance needs to explore temporal and spatial farming decision scales (Cohen and Crowder, 2017). With respect to the past failures in meeting several political goals within the agricultural sector, a better interdisciplinary collaboration, especially between agronomists and landscape-oriented researchers is required (Banks, 2004). Therefore, ecologists and geographers, as well as economists interested

in agro-ecosystems, need to work together since it is central to understand the spatial organization of farmers' decision making (Rizzo et al., 2013).

Collaboration, though, requires a systemic approach that considers all patterns and processes of socio-ecological systems. The concept of socio-ecological resilience shifts the way of thinking to a broader perspective of system interactions at multiple scales (Anderies et al., 2006). It considers all scales and domains of a socio-ecological system: the field, farm, and landscape scale, as well as the economic, ecological, and socio-cultural domain. Changes within one scale-domain combination can trigger other scale shifts (Kinzig et al., 2006), which might lead to a highly resistant and undesired new 'basins of attraction' (Matthews and Selman, 2006). Taking into account several domains and scales might improve political impact analyses and the assessment of future landscape developments (Kinzig et al., 2006; Anderies et al., 2006). For example, structural change processes within the agricultural sector take place slowly but most irreversibly influence the landscape mosaic in the form of field sizes, natural and semi-natural habitats, and cropping heterogeneity (Jones et al., 2016; Khoury et al., 2014; Hötker and Leuschner, 2014).

Most agro-environmental studies have not considered important structural change processes within the agricultural sector, although this had massive influences on landscape constitution during the last decades (Kenny, 2017). Long-term farming decisions contain not only cropping decisions or the question of participation in environmental measures, they also include investment decisions, branch considerations, and the difficulty finding a farm successor. Against the background of demographic changes and urban migration (Knickel et al., 2017), farming takeovers became a lifestyle decision (Manos et al., 2013).

FOLAS combined the agricultural land use decisions of farmers with economical principles of cost reductions, namely economies of size being a driver of structural change. We defined structural change as the increase in field sizes, the reduction in the amount of farms, and a less diverse farm type structure due to the reduction of farm types. We further used the concept of socio-ecological resilience in order to apply an impact assessment of the new CAP reform 2020 for a small research area. As described above, a switch from one to another basin of attraction is determined by the resilience of a SES. We applied a conceptual framework based on Kinzig et al. (2006), which allowed us to operationalize resilience thinking by defining critical threshold levels for three domain-scale combinations and tested, if the thresholds were crossed within the model runs. According to studies, threshold crossings indicated regime shifts and altered whole socio-ecological systems (Kinzig et al., 2006). Our specified thresholds were (1) the loss of farm types, (2) a defined reduction of farms, and (3) a certain level of field sizes. In addition, our study

7. Summary

captures spatial aspects of farmers' decision making regarding farm and field sizes combined with land use changes affecting the landscape appearance. With our novel spatial approach we seek to improve the interdisciplinary work within landscape research. It simulates farmers' decisions at several scales. At the field scale it takes into account field sizes. Each farmer is represented by a certain consolidated cropping area on which field size and cropping decisions take place (the farm scale). Neighbouring farmers are linked together via land leases. Modeling farm interactions allowed us to simulate landscape changes at higher scales. Adapted to statistical information of the case study, several farm types and sizes were differentiated. In an iterative process, short and long-term farming decisions were simulated using a combination of linear mixed integer and non-linear programming models that underlie certain spatial and temporal assumptions (see section 2.4.2.2). The model results were visualized with a certain spatial outlay in a stylized rectangular form using GIS. Based on these maps, three different biodiversity indicators linked to landscape heterogeneity were applied (see section 4.3). This spatial model component forms a valuable interface between economic and ecological models.

FOLAS was applied to a small municipality of around 15 km² lying in the heart of one of the most intensively used agricultural area in Wetterau county in Hesse, Germany. Three different policy designs were tested: (1) CAP I, which is adapted to the new CAP 2020 reform; (2) CAP II with a stricter CAP 2020 reform, probably entering into force in 2018; and (3) a 'nature-focused' policy design with a completely different governmental payment structure based on incentive-based payments for environmental measurements. In order to test in how far the socio-ecological system of our case study was influenced by the CAP 2020 reform, all three scenarios were analyzed with respect to potential regime shifts within several domains and scales according to Kinzig et al. (2006). In a second step, we analyzed the political impacts on species diversity within our case study.

Results showed that in the CAP I and II policy designs, all critical thresholds indicating a scale-domain regime shift were crossed. A shift into another new regime seems to be inevitable, although it is less desired from a social and cultural perspective. All three biodiversity indicators had negative trends. The new 'CAP towards 2020' reform seems to be ineffective in reaching the biodiversity targets of the EC within our case study. On the contrary, it accelerated structural change and led to a more homogeneous landscape due to fewer farms and bigger fields. It has to be noted that the Simpson's diversity index improved compared to no policy reform. However, semi-natural habitats conglomerated in areas where already a larger amount of semi-natural habitats occurred. Since the abundance and distribution of semi-natural habitats determine pollinator

dispersion (Tischendorf and Fahrig, 2000), species diversity will most probably decrease within our study area. In the CAP II policy design, resulting field sizes were highest. Therefore, we expect species' movements and the dispersion of pollinators to be lower after structural change processes since with increasing field sizes fewer field margins remained. Crop pollination might become difficult for some areas.

Within the 'nature-focused' policy design, two of three critical thresholds were reached. This policy scheme is less labour intensive and structural change processes were slower since fewer farms closed down. It had significant positive impacts on our chosen biodiversity indicators and seemed to be superior with respect to achieving the EC biodiversity targets. Due to incentive-based environmental measurements, many more semi-natural habitats in the form of flowering strips and fields have emerged. However, in order to compensate income losses of the 'nature-focused' policy design, structural change seem to be required (although of lesser magnitude) so that fewer farms use EoS and share the available amount of land.

In all policy designs, dairy farmers quit the agricultural sector, which led to a less diverse cropping pattern at the municipality level. Farm type losses and the resulting cropping homogeneity could not be compensated by either the crop diversity strategy of the new CAP reform or the implementation of EFAs. Since dairy farming requires more labour, the labour market at the regional scale could be affected. In consequence, the rural population might further shrink and rural areas become less attractive (Knickel et al., 2017). Therefore, it is advisable to maintain dairy farms. If this is pursued, though, particular support is needed. We found out that already small income reductions led to farm closures in the long run. More investigations are needed to assess the requirements to maintain dairy farming, if this is politically pursued. This is why we even more need a long-term perspective in political impact assessments.

The single environmental measurement for EFAs chosen by farmers was the cultivation of legumes. Planting hedges or leaving land fallow were not profitable. However, this unified picture may also be related to methodological issues regarding space. Soil quality determines cropping decisions as well. If, for example, biophysical information had been included, farming decisions might have been more diverse. Furthermore, hedges that already exist would most probably have been maintained. Therefore, fixed landscape elements lying adjacent to or within the agricultural area need to be considered in farming decisions and in the calculation of biodiversity indicators. But also spatial scales can be improved. In order to capture the temporal scale more explicitly, (1) implementing investment decisions, and (2) modeling crop rotation schemes are highly suggested.

Agricultural policy instruments are crucial in determining future ecosystem health and species

diversity (Leventon et al., 2017; Bartolini and Viaggi, 2013; Gomez y Paloma et al., 2013). However, political measures and reforms are often spatially ill targeted since they need to cover a huge variety of different landscape structures (Marcos-Martinez et al., 2017; Leventon et al., 2017). A wise use of political regulations and incentives, as well as a clear idea of socio-cultural values has the potential to control future developments (Manos et al., 2013; Petrick and Zier, 2012). In order to understand the dynamics of agro-ecosystems, several scales and domains need to be considered so that interacting single regime-shifts are identified (Anderies et al., 2006; Berkes et al., 2003; Folke, 2006; Walker and Salt, 2006). FOLAS captures a long time frame and is adapted to the local and spatial production conditions. It therefore lays an important cornerstone for the development of spatially and temporally explicit bio-economic models.

How the agricultural area in Wöllstadt would look in the future will strongly depend on governmental incentives and legal framework conditions. These are affected by socio-cultural aspects that influence the political sphere and new institutions. In most studies, however, such aspects are neglected, and often detrimental one-way paths are detected too late (Matthews and Selman, 2006).

The introductory song lyric ought to remind us of the socio-cultural context of socio-ecological systems. After flowers, girls, men, and soldiers were gone, also their graveyards disappeared. The song asks where they went, and the answer is 'long time passing.' It seems that there is no reason to ask why they went, because the reason is known and somehow endured. Each verse ends with the beginning of the next one. Here, the scale-domain interrelations become obvious: slow changes in the reference systems of the socio-cultural domain might have the power to induce encompassing regime shifts of the whole socio-ecological system. Socio-ecological systems are dynamic, and their parts are interconnected. Changes in one part bring about changes in other parts, and seemingly insignificant shifts can trigger a whole system to change. Some changes within a society run very slowly and in the background, while others are obvious and fast (Kinzig et al., 2006). The structural change in agriculture is one of those developments that happens slowly with less notice from a large part of society. Structural change has impacts on the landscape and has already had severe impacts on species diversity (Khoury et al., 2014). The environment creates feedback if certain thresholds are crossed or if the ecosystem is degraded (Pearce, 2007). However, action might be too late, which is why we need spatially and temporally in-depth political impact assessments in order to protect public goods.

Bibliography

- Adger, W. N. (2000). Social and ecological resilience: Are they related? *Progress in Human Geography*, 24:347–364.
- Agrarzeitung (2013). Flurbereinigung in Perfektion. Ausgabe 32 vom 9. August 2013, Seite 9.
- Ahmadi, V., Shrestha, S., Thomson, S., Barnes, A., and Stott, S. (2015). Impacts of greening measures and flat rate regional payments of the common agricultural policy on Scottish beef and sheep farms. *Journal of Agricultural Science*, 153:676–688.
- Alexandratos, N. and Bruinsma, J. (2012). World agriculture towards 2030/2050 the 2012 revision. ESA Working paper No. 12-03.
- An, L. (2012). Modeling human decision in coupled human and natural systems: review of agent-based models. *Ecological Modeling*, 229:25–36.
- Anderies, J. M., Walker, B. H., and Kinzig, A. P. (2006). Fifteen weddings and a funeral: Case studie and resilience-based management. *Ecology and Society*, 11(21). Special Feature on Exploring Resilience in Social-Ecological Systems.
- Antle, J. and McGuckin, T. (1993). Technological innovation, agricultural productivity and environmental quality. In Carlson, G., Zilberman, D., and Miranowski, J., editors, *Agricultural* and Environmental Resource Economics. Oxford University Press.
- Audsley, E., Pearn, K., Simota, C., Cojocaru, G., Koutsidou, E., Rounsevell, M., Trnka, M., and Alexandrov, V. (2006). What can scenario modelling tell us about future European scale agricultural land use, and what not? *Environmental Science and Policy*, 9:148–162.
- Aue, B., Diekötter, T., Gottschalk, T. K., Wolters, V., and Hotes, S. (2014). How high nature value (hnv) farmland is related to bird diversity in agro-ecosystems towards a versatile tool for biodiversity monitoring and conservation planning. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 194:58 64.

- Aurbacher, J. (2010). Ökonomische Analyse landwirtschaftlicher Maßnahmen zur Verringerung von Erosion und Wasserabfluss im Kraichgau: Modellentwicklung, Ergebnisse und Übertragbarkeit. PhD thesis, Universität Hohenheim. Universität Hohenheim, Institut für Landwirtschaftliche Betriebslehre.
- Aurbacher, J. and Dabbert, S. (2011). Generating crop sequences in land-use models using maximum entropy and markov chains. *Agricultural Systems*, 104:470–489.
- Bailey, D., Herzog, F., Augenstein, I., Aviron, S., Billeter, R., Szerencsits, E., and Baudry, J. (2007). Thematic resolution matters: Indicators of landscape pattern for European agro-ecosystems. *Ecological Indicators*, 7(3):692 – 709.
- Balmann, A. (1997). Farm based modelling of regional structural change. A cellular automata approach. *European Review of Agricultural Economics*, 24(1):85–108.
- Balmann, A. (1999). Path dependence and the structural development of family farm dominated regions. In *IX European Congress of Agricultural Economists*, pages 263–284. 24th - 28th August 1999, Warschau.
- Balmann, A., Happe, K., Kellermann, K., and Kleingarn, A. (2001). Agricultural policy switchings - An agent-based approach. In Schriften der Gesellschaft für Wirtschafts- und Sozialwissenschaften des Landbaues e. V., volume 37, pages 401–411.
- Bamière, L., David, M., and Vermont, B. (2013). Agri-environmental policies for biodiversity when the spatial pattern of the reserve matters. *Ecological Economics*, 85:97–104.
- Bamière, L., Havlik, P., Jacquet, F., Lherm, M., Millet, G., and Bretagnolle, V. (2011). Farming system modelling for agri-environmental policy design: The case of a spatially non-aggregated allocation of conservation measures. *Ecological Economics*, 70(5):891 – 899.
- Banks, J. (2004). Divided culture: integrating agriculture and conservation biology. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 2:537–545.
- Barkmann, J., Baumann, R., Meyer, U., Müller, F., and Windhorst, W. (2001). Ökologische Integrität: Risikovorsorge im nachhaltigen Landschaftsmanagement. GAIA - Ecological Perspectives for Science and Society, 10(2):97–108.
- Barthel, R., Reichenau, T., Krimly, T., Dabbert, S., Schneider, K., and Mauser, W. (2012). Integrated modeling of global change impacts on agriculture and groundwater resources. *Water Resource Management*, 26:1929–1951.

- Bartolini, F. and Viaggi, D. (2013). The common agricultural policy and the determinants of changes in EU farm size. *Land Use Policy*, 31:126–135.
- Batàry, P., Dicks, L. V., Kleijn, D., and Sutherland, J. (2015). The role of agri-environment schemes in conservation and environmental management. *Conservation Biology*, 29:1006–1016.
- Batàry, P., Matthiesen, T., and Tscharnke, T. (2010). Landscape-moderated importance of hedges in conserving farmland bird diversity of organic vs. conventional croplands and grasslands. *Biological Conservation*, 143:2020–2027.
- Bauer, D. M. and Wing, I. S. (2016). The macroeconomic cost of catastrophic pollinator declines. *Ecological Economics*, 126(Supplement C):1 13.
- Baumgärtner, S. and Quaas, M. (2006). The private and public insurance value of conservative biodiversity management. Available at Social Sience Research Network (SSRN). URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.892101 (Access on 02/10/2017).
- Beiersdorf, H. (2012). Kostendatei für Maßnahmen des Naturschutzes und der Landschaftspflege.Bayrisches Landesamt für Umwelt. URL: https://www.lfu.bayern.de (Access on 02/05/2017).
- Bengtsson, J., Ahnstrôm, J., and Weibull, A.-C. (2005). The effects of organic agriculture on biodiversity and abundance: a meta-analysis. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 42:261–269.
- Bengtsson, J., Angelstam, P., Elmqvist, T., Emanuelsson, U., Folke, C., Ihse, M., Moberg, F., and Nyström, M. (2003). Reserves, resilience and dynamic landscapes. *AMBIO*, (6):389–396.
- Benton, T., Vickery, L., and Wilson, J. (2003). Farm biodiversity: is habitat heterogeneity the key? *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 18:182–188.
- Berg, A. (2002). Composition and diversity of bird communities in Swedish farmland forest mosaic landscapes. *Bird Study*, 49(2):153–165.
- Berger, E. (2012). Die Lorenz-Kurve und der Gini-Koeffizient Visualisierung von Konzentrationsprozessen am Beispiel landwirtschaftlicher Daten. Technical report, Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt, Wiesbaden. Heft Nr. 10, Jahrgang 67.
- Berger, T. (2001). Agent-based spatial models applied to agriculture: a simulation tool for technology diffusion, resource use changes and policy analysis. *Agricultural Economics*, 25(2-3):245–260.

- Berkes, F., Colding, J., and Folke, C. (2003). *Navigating social-ecological systems: Building resilience for complex and change*. Cambridge University Press, London.
- Bertelsmann Stiftung (2014). Demographiebericht Wöllstadt (im Wetteraukreis). Wegweiser Kommune. URL: www.aktion2050.de/wegweiser (Access on 16/05/2017).
- Beunen, R., van Assche, K., and Duineveld, M. (2013). Performing failure in conservation policy: The implementation of European Union directives in the Netherlands. *Land Use Policy*, 31:280–288.
- Billeter, R., Liira, J., Bailey, D., Bugter, R., Arens, P., Augenstein, I., Aviron, S., Baudry, J., Bukacek, R., Burel, F., Cerny, M., De Blust, G., De Cock, R., Diekötter, T., Dietz, H., Dirksen, J., Dormann, C., Durka, W., Frenzel, M., Hamersky, R., Hendrickx, F., Herzog, F., Klotz, S., Koolstra, B., Lausch, A., Le Coeur, D., Maelfait, J., Opdam, P., and Roubalova, M. (2008). Indicators for biodiversity in agricultural landscapes: A pan-european study. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 45:141–150.
- BLE (2014). Empfänger EU-Agrarfonds Suche. Bundesanstalt für Landwirtschaft und Ernährung. URL: https://agrar-fischerei-zahlungen.de/Suche (Access on 22/10/2016).
- Blumöhr, T., Zepuntke, H., and Tschäpke, D. (2006). Die Klassifizierung landwirtschaftlicher Betriebe. In *Wirtschaft und Statistik*. Statistisches Bundesamt, Wiesbaden.
- BMBU (2010). Indikatorenbericht 2010 zur Nationalen Strategie zur biologische Vielfalt. Bundesministerium f
 ür Umwelt, Naturschutz und Reaktorsicherheit (Referat Öffentlichkeitsarbeit), Berlin.
- BMBU (2015). Indikatorenbericht 2014 zur Nationalen Strategie zur biologischen Vielfalt. Bundesministerium f
 ür Umwelt, Naturschutz und Reaktorsicherheit (Referat Öffentlichkeitsarbeit), Berlin.
- BMBU (2015). Naturschutzoffensive 2020 für biologische vielfalt! Bundesministerium für Umwelt, Naturschutz, Bau und Reaktorsicherheit. URL: http://www.bmub.bund.de/service/publikationen/downloads/details/artikel/naturschutzoffensive-2020/ (Access on 28/11/2016).
- BMEL (2015). ELER-Förderung 2014-2020 Mitteleinsatz nach Bundesländern.Homepage des Bundesministeriums für Ernährung und Landwirtschaft. URL:

https://www.bmel.de/SharedDocs/Bilder/Fachbereiche/LaendlicheRegionen/ELER20142020 GrafikMittelBL_Download.jpg (Access on 12/06/2015).

- BMELV (2012). Die wirtschaftliche Lage der landwirtschaftlichen Betriebe Buchführungsergebnisse der Testbetriebe. URL: http://berichte.bmelv-statistik.de/BFB-0111001-2011.pdf (Access on 24/04/2013).
- Bockstael, N., Constanza, R., Strand, I., Boynton, W., Bell, K., and Wainger, L. (1995). Ecological economic model and valuation of ecosystems. *Ecological Economics*, 14:143–159.
- Boehlje, M. (1992). Alternative models of structural change in agriculture and related industries. *Agribusiniess*, 8:219–231.
- Boserup, E. (1965). The Condition of Agricultural Growth. Allen and Unwin.
- Brady, M., Sahrbacher, C., Kellermann, K., and Happe, K. (2012). An agent-based approach to modeling impacts of agricultural policy on land use, biodiversity and ecosystem services. *Landscape Ecology*, 27(9):1363–1381.
- Brand, F. S. and Jax, K. (2007). Focusing the meaning(s) of resilience: Resilience as a descriptive concept and a boundary object. *Ecology and Society*, 12(23).
- Breeze, T. D., Gallai, N., Garibaldi, L. A., and Li, X. S. (2016). Economic measures of pollination services: Shortcomings and future directions. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 31(12):927 – 939.
- Bullock, D. G. (1992). Crop rotation. Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences, 11(4):309–326.
- Bundesamt für Naturschutz (2012). Landschaftssteckbrief: Wetterau. URL: http://www.bfn.de/ (Access on 14/08/2017).
- Burrell, A. (2009). The CAP: Looking back, looking ahead. *Journal of European Integration*, 31(3):271–289.
- Burton, S. (1988). Land consolidation in Cyprus: A vital policy for rural reconstruction. *Land Use Policy*, 5(1):131 147.
- Butchart, S. H. M., Walpole, M., Collen, B., van Strien, A., Scharlemann, J. P. W., Almond, R.E. A., Baillie, J. E. M., Bomhard, B., Brown, C., Bruno, J., Carpenter, K. E., Carr, G. M.,Chanson, J., Chenery, A. M., Csirke, J., Davidson, N. C., Dentener, F., Foster, M., Galli, A.,

Galloway, J. N., Genovesi, P., Gregory, R. D., Hockings, M., Kapos, V., Lamarque, J.-F., Leverington, F., Loh, J., McGeoch, M. A., McRae, L., Minasyan, A., Morcillo, M. H., Oldfield, T. E. E., Pauly, D., Quader, S., Revenga, C., Sauer, J. R., Skolnik, B., Spear, D., Stanwell-Smith, D., Stuart, S. N., Symes, A., Tierney, M., Tyrrell, T. D., Vié, J.-C., and Watson, R. (2010). Global biodiversity: Indicators of recent declines. *Science*, 328(5982):1164–1168.

- Cane, J. (2001). Habitat fragmentation and native bees: a premature verdict? *Conservation Ecology*, 5(3).
- Cardinale, B., Duffy, L. E., Gonzalez, A., Hooper, D. U., Perrings, C., Venail, P., Narwani, A., Mace, G., Tilman, D., Wardle, D., Kinzig, A., Daily, G., Loreau, M., Grace, J., Larigauderie, A., Srivastava, D., and Naeem, S. (2012). Biodiversity loss and its impacts on humanity. *Nature*, 486:59–67.
- Caro, M. and O'Doherty, G. (1999). On the use of surrogate species in conservation biology. *Conservation Biology*, 13:805–814.
- Carpenter, S. (2003). Regime shifts in lake ecosystems: pattern and variation. In Hawkins, S. J., editor, *Excellence in Ecology. Book 15*. International Ecology Institute. Oldendorf/Luhe.
- Castellazzi, M., Matthews, J., Angevin, F., Sausse, C., Wood, G., Burgess, P., Brown, I., Conrad, K., and Perry, J. (2010). Simulation scenarios of spatio-temporal arrangements of crops at the landscape scale. *Environmental Modelling and Software*, 25:1881–1889.
- Chape, S., Harrison, J., Spalding, M., and Lysenko, L. (2005). Measuring the extent and effectiveness of protected areas as an indicator for meeting global biodiversity targets. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B*, 360:443–455.
- Chavas, J.-P. (2001). Structural change in agricultural production: Economics, technology and policy. In *Agricultural Production.*, volume 1 of *Handbook of Agricultural Economics*, pages 263 – 285. Elsevier. Chapter 5, Part A.
- Chavas, J.-P. (2008). On the economics of agricultural production. *The Australian Journal of Agricultural and Resource Economics*, 52:365–380.
- Chavas, J.-P. and Barham, B. (2007). On the Mircroeconomics of Diversification under Uncertainty and Learning. Working Paper No. 515. Department of Agricultural and Applied Economics. University Wisconsin, Madison.

- Ciaian, P. and Kancs, D. (2012). The capitalization of area payments into farmland prices: Micro evidence from the new EU member states. *Canadian Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 60:517–540.
- Ciaian, P. and Swinnen, J. (2006). Land market imperfections and agricultural policy impacts in the new EU member states: a partial equilibrium analysis. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 88:799–815.
- Cleveland, C. J. (1995). Resource degradation, technical change, and the productivity of energy use in U.S. agriculture. *Ecological Economics*, 13(3):185 201.
- Cohen, A. L. and Crowder, D. W. (2017). The impacts of spatial and temporal complexity across landscapes on biological control: a review. *Current Opinion in Insect Science*, 20(Supplement C):13 18.
- Collinge, S. (2000). Effects of grassland fragmentation on insect species loss, colonization, and movement patterns. *Ecology*, 81:2211–2226.
- Cong, R.-G., Ekroos, J., Smith, H. G., and Brady, M. V. (2016). Optimizing intermediate ecosystem services in agriculture using rules based on landscape composition and configuration indices. *Ecological Economics*, 128:214–223.
- Conrad, C., Löw, F., and Lamers, J. P. (2017). Mapping and assessing crop diversity in the irrigated Fergana Valley, Uzbekistan. *Applied Geography*, 86(Supplement C):102 117.
- Cornulier, T., Robinson, R., Elston, D., Lambin, X., Sutherland, J., and Benton, T. (2010). Bayesian reconstruction of environmental change from disparate historical records: hedgerow loss and farmland bird declines. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 2(1):86–94.
- Cortignani, R. and Dono, G. (2015). Simulation of the impact of greening measures in an agricultural area of the southern Italy. *Land Use Policy*, 48:525 533.
- Cortignani, R., Severini, S., and Dono, G. (2017). Complying with greening practices in the new CAP direct payments: An application on Italian specialized arable farms. *Land Use Policy*, 61:265–275.
- Cumming, G. S. (2011). Spatial resilience: Integrateing landscape ecology, resilience, and sustainability. *Landscape Ecology*, 26:899–909.

- Czyzewski, B. and Matuszczak, A. (2016). A new land rent theory for sustainable agriculture. *Land Use Policy*, 55:222–229.
- Dabbert, S., Herrmann, S., Kaule, G., and Sommer, M. (1999). *Landschaftsmodellierung für die Umweltplanung*. Springer Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Dantzig, G. (1963). *Linear Programming and Extensions*. Princeton Landmarks in Mathematics and Physics. Princeton University Press.
- Dauber, J., Hirsch, M., Simmering, D., Waldhardt, R., Otte, A., and Wolters, V. (2003). Landscape structure as an indicator of biodiversity: matrix effects on species richness. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 98:321–329.
- Davies, Z. and Pullin, A. (2007). Are hedgerows effective corridors between fragments of woodland habitat? An evidence-based approach. *Landscape Ecology*, 22:333–351.
- De Groot, R. (2006). Function-analysis and valuation as a tool to assess land use conflicts in planning for sustainable, multi-functional landscapes. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 75:175–186.
- De Groot, R., Alkemade, R., Braat, L., Hein, L., and Willemen, L. (2010). Challenges in integrating the concept of ecosystem services and values in landscape planning, management and decision making. *Ecological Complexity*, 7:260–272.
- De Roest, K., Ferrari, P., and Knickel, K. (2017). Specialisation and economies of scale or diversification and economies of scope? Assessing different agricultural development pathways. *Journal of Rural Studies*. In press, corrected proof.
- Delbeq, B., Kuethe, T., and Borchers, A. (2014). Identifying the extent of the urban fringe and its impact on agricultural land values. *Land Economics*, 90:587–600.
- Di Falco, S. and Perrings, C. (2003). Crop genetic diversity, productivity and stability of agroecosystems. A theoretical and empirical investigation. *Scottish Journal of Political Economy*, 50(2):207–216.
- Dölling, J. and Voß, S. (2014). Klimaschutzbericht. Technical report, Kreisausschuss Wetteraukreis. Druckerei Wetteraukreis, Europaplatz 61169 Friedberg.

- Doxa, A., Paracchini, M., Pointereau, P., Devictor, V., and Jiguet, F. (2012). Preventing biotic homogenization of farmland bird communities: The role of high nature value farmland. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 148:83–88.
- Dramstad, W., Fry, G., Fjellstad, W., Skar, B., Helliksen, W., Sollund, M.-L., Tveit, M., Geelmuyden, A., and Framstad, E. (2001). Integrating landscape-based values - Norwegian monitoring of agricultural landscapes. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 57(3):257 – 268.
- Duelli, P. (1997). Biodiversity evaluation in agricultural landscapes: An approach at two different scales. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 62(2-3):81–91.
- Duelli, P. and Obrist, M. K. (2003). Regional biodiversity in an agricultural landscape: the contribution of seminatural habitat islands. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 4(2):129 138.
- Duffy, M. (2009). Economies of size in production agriculture. *Journal of Hunger & Environmental Nutrition*, 4(3-4).
- Eberhardt, M. and Vollrath, D. (2016). The effect of agricultural technology on the speed of development. *World Development*. In press, corrected proof.
- European Commission (2011). Impact assessment common agricultural policy towards 2020. Brussels, 20/10/2011.
- European Commission (2013). GAP Reform Erläuterungen der wichtigsten Aspekte. Technical report, MEMO No. 13/621, Brüssel.
- European Commission (2015). Report from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council: The Mid-Term Review of the EU Biodiversity Strategy to 2020. Brussels, 2/10/2015.
- European Commission (2016). Review of greening after one year. Working Document, Brussels, 22/006/2016, PART 3/6 (Annex II).
- European Parliament (2016). Research for Agri Committee CAP reform post 2020 - Challenges in Agriculture. Workshop Documentation available online: http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/STUD/2016/585898/IPOL_STU(2016)585898 _EN.pdf (Access on 29/09/2017).
- Ewert, F., Angulo, C., Rumbaur, C., Lock, R., Enders, A., Adenauer, M., Heckelei, T., van Ittersum, M., Wolf, J., and Rötter, R. (2011). Scenario development and assessment of the potential impacts of climate and market changes on crops in Europe. Technical report, Project

of the Research Program Climate Change and Spatial Planning. AgriAdapt Project Reports no. 2 & 3.

- Ewert, F., Rounsevell, M., Reginster, I., Metzger, M., and Leemans, R. (2005). Future scenarios of European agricultural land use: I. Estimating changes in crop productivity. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 107:101–116.
- Fahrig, L. (2013). Rethinking patch size and isolation effects: the habitat amount hypothesis. *Journal of Biogeography*, 40(9):1649–1663.
- Fahrig, L., Baudry, J., Brotons, L., Burel, F., Crist, T., Fuller, R., Sirami, C., Siriwardena, G., and Martin, J. L. (2011). Functional landscape heterogeneity and animal biodiversity in agricultural landscapes. *Ecology Letters*, 14:101–112.
- FAO (2011). Save and grow. A policymaker's guide to the sustainable intensification of smallholder crop production. Food and Agriculture Organization, Italy.
- FAO (2017). Land use data. Statistics from the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. URL: www.fao.org/faostat (Access on 05/10/2017).
- Fischer, J., Manning, A. D., Steffen, W. Rose, D. B., Daniell, K., Felton, A., Garnett, S., Gilna, B., Heinsohn, R., Lindenmayer, D. B., MacDonald, B., Mills, F., Newell, B., Reid, J., Robin, L., Sherren, K., and Wade, A. (2007). Mind the sustainability gap. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 22:621–624.
- Fohrer, N., Möller, D., and Steiner, N. (2002). An interdisciplinary modelling approach to evaluate the effects of land use change. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth*, 27:655–662.
- Folke, C. (2006). Resilience: The emergence of a perspective for social-ecological systems analyses. *Global Environmental Chnage*, 16:253–267.
- Forman, R. and Godron, M. (1986). Landscape Ecology. Wiley.
- Fuller, R., Norton, L., Feber, R., Johnson, P., Chamberlain, D., Joys, A., Mathews, F., Stuart, R., Townsend, M., Manley, W., Wolfe, D., Macdonald, D., and Firbank, L. (2005). Benefits of organic farming to biodiversity vary among taxa. *Biology Letters*, 1:431–434.
- Gabel, V., Meier, M., Köpke, U., and Stolze, M. (2016). The challenges of including impacts on biodiversity in agricultural life cycle assessments. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 181:249–260.

- Gaucherel, C., Martinet, V., Bamière, L., Sheeren, D., Gibon, A., Joannon, A., Castellazzi, M., Boussard, H., Barraquand, F., Inchausti, P., Lazrak, E., Mari, J.-F., Schaller, N., Houet, T., and Bretagnolle, V. (2010). A multidisciplinary modelling approach to analyse and predict the effects of landscape dynamics on biodiversity. In *LandMod 2010: International Conference on Integrative Landscape Modelling*, France. 3rd - 5th February 2010.
- Geert, A. V., Rossum, F. V., and Triest, L. (2010). Do linear landscape elements in farmland act as biological corridors for pollen dispersal? *Journal of Ecology*, 98:178–187.
- Gerowitt, B., Begemann, F., Dempfle, L., Engels, E.-M., Engels, J., Feindt, P., Frese, L., Hamm, U., Heißenhuber, A., Jacobsen, H.-J., Schulte-Coerne, H., and Wolters, V. (2012). *Ökologische Vorrangflächen zur Förderung der Biodiversität Bedeutung, Bewirtschaftung, Ausgestaltung.* Stellungnahme des wissenschaftlichen Beirats für Biodiversität und genetische Ressourcen beim Bundesministerium für Ernährung, Landwirtschaft und Verbraucherschutz, 16 S.
- Geslin, B., Aizen, M. A., Garcia, N., Pereira, A.-J., Vaissière, B. E., and Garibaldi, L. A. (2017).
 The impact of honey bee colony quality on crop yield and farmers' profit in apples and pears. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 248(Supplement C):153 161.
- GfE (2001). Energie- und Nährstoffbedarf landwirtschaftlicher Nutztiere. Nr. 8: Empfehlungen zur Energie- und Nährstoffversorgung der Milchkühe und Aufzuchtrinder, Gesellschaft für Ernährungsphysiologie, DLG-Verlag.
- GfE (2006). Empfehlungen zur Energie- und Nährstoffversorgung bei Schweinen. Gesellschaft für Ernährungsphysiologie, DLG-Verlag.
- Gomez y Paloma, S., Ciaian, P., Cristoiu, A., and Sammeth, F. (2013). The future of agriculture. Prospective scenarios and modelling approaches for policy analysis. *Land Use Policy*, 31:102–113.
- Gottschalk, T. K., Dittrich, R., Diekötter, T., Sheridan, P., Wolters, V., and Ekschmitt, K. (2010). Modelling land-use sustainability using farmland birds as indicators. *Ecological Indicators*, 10(1):15 – 23.
- Gray, M. (2005). Geodiversity and geoconservation: what, why, and how? *George Wright Forum*, 22:4–12.
- Gritzmann, P., Borgwardt, S., and Brieden, A. (2014). Geometric clustering for the consolidation of farmland and woodland. *Mathematical Intelligencer*, 26:37–44.

- Gunderson, L. H. and Holling, C. S. (2001). *Panarchy Understanding transformations in human and natural systems*. Island Press, Washington, DC.
- Hagen, M., Kissling, W. D., Rasmussen, C., Aguiar, M. A. D., Brown, L. E., Carstensen, D. W., Alves-Dos-Santos, I., Dupont, Y. L., Edwards, F. K., Genini, J., Guimarães, P. R., Jenkins, G. B., Jordano, P., Kaiser-Bunbury, C. N., Ledger, M. E., Maia, K. P., Marquitti, F. M. D., Órla Mclaughlin, Morellato, L. P. C., O'Gorman, E. J., Tröjelsgaard, K., Tylianakis, J. M., Vidal, M. M., Woodward, G., and Olesen, J. M. (2012). Biodiversity, species interactions and ecological networks in a fragmented world. *Advances in Ecological Research*, 46:89 210.
- Hanf, C.-H. (1994). Perspektiven einer simultanen Analyse von regionalen Entwicklungen in Landwirtschaft, Umwelt und Landschaft. *Agrarwirtschaft*, 43(4/5).
- Hansson, H., Ferguson, R., Olofsson, C., and Rantamäki-Lahtinen, L. (2013). Farmers' motives for diversifying their farm business - the influence of family. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 32:240–250.
- Happe, K. and Balmann, A. (2002). Struktur-, Effizienz- und Einkommenswirkungen von Direktzahlungen. *Agrarwirtschaft*, 51(8):376–389.
- Happe, K., Balmann, A., and Kellermann, K. (2004). The Agricultural Policy Simulator (AgriPolis) an agent-based model to study structural change in agriculture. Discussion Paper 71, Institute of Agricultural Development in Central and Eastern Europe (IAMO), Halle, Germany.
- Happe, K., Balmann, A., Kellermann, K., and Sahrbacher, C. (2008). Does structure matter? the impact of switching the agricultural policy regime on farm structures. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 67:431–444.
- Happe, K., Hutchings, N., Dalgaard, T., and Kellermann, K. (2011). Modelling the interactions between regional farming structure, nitrogen losses and environmental regulation. *Agricultural Systems*, 104:281–291.
- Happe, K., Kellermann, K., and Balmann, A. (2006). Agent-based analysis of agricultural policies: An illustration of the agricultural policy simulator AgriPoliS, its adaptation and behavior. *Ecology and Society*, 11(1)(49):[online].
- Hauk, S., Gandorfer, M., Wittkopf, S., Müller, U. K., and Knoke, T. (2017). Ecological diversification is risk reducing and economically profitable The case of biomass production with short rotation woody crops in south German land-use portfolios. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 98(Supplement C):142 152.

- Havlík, P., Bamière, L., Jacquet, F., and Millet, G. (2008). Spatially explicit farming system modelling for an efficient agri-environmental policy design. In *The 107th EAAE Seminar: Modeling of Agricultural and Rural Development Policies*, Sevilla, Spain. August 26-29.
- Hazell, P. and Norton, R. (1986). *Mathematical Programming for Economic Analysis in Agriculture*. Macmillian Publishing Company, New York.
- Heckelei, T. and Wolff, H. (2001). Ansätze zur (Auf-)Lösung eines alten Methodenstreits:
 Ökonometrische Spezifikation von Programmiermodellen zur Agrarangebotsanalyse. In 41.
 Jahrestagung der Gesellschaft für Wirtschafts- und Sozialwissenschaften des Landbaues e.V.
 8th 10th October.
- Hendrickx, F., Maelfait, J.-P., Van Wingerden, L., Schweiger, O., Speelmans, M., Aviron, S., Augenstein, I., Billeter, R., Bailey, D., Bukacek, R., Burel, F., and Diekötter, T. (2007). How landscape structure, land-use intensity and habitat diversity affect components of total arthropod diversity in agricultural landscapes. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 44:340–351.
- Henseler, M., Wirsing, A., Herrmann, S., Krimly, T., and Dabbert, S. (2009). Modeling the impact of global change on regional agricultural land use through an activity-based non-linear programming approach. *Agricultural Systems*, 100:31–42.
- Herrmann, S. (2000). Anforderungen an die GIS-gestützte Modellierung als Werkzeug für die Entscheidungsunterstützung in der Landnutzungsplanung. In Cremers, A. B. and Greve, K., editors, Umweltinformation für Planung, Politik und Öffentlichkeit /Environmental Information for Planing, Politics and the Public, volume 1, pages 17–30. Metropolis Verlag, Marburg.
- Herzog, F., Lüscher, G., Arndorfer, M., Bogers, M., Balázs, K., Bunce, R., Dennis, P., Falusi, E., Friedel, J., Geijzendorffer, I., Gomiero, T., Jeanneret, P., Moreno, G., Oschatz, M., Paoletti, M., Sarthou, J., Stoyanova, S., Szerencsits, E., Wolfrun, S., Fjellstad, W., and Bailey, D. (2017). European farm scale habitat descriptors for the evaluation of biodiversity. *Ecological Indicators*, 77:205–217.
- Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2012a). Hessische Gemeindestatistik Ausgewählte Strukturdaten aus Bevölkerung und Wirtschaft. 32. Ausgabe, Wiesbaden.
- Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2012b). Hessische Kreiszahlen Ausgewählte neue Daten für Landkreise und kreisfreie Städte. Band 2, Jahrgang 57, Wiesbaden.
- Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2012c). Landwirtschaftszählung 2010: Durchschnittliche Bestandspachten für Ackerland in den hessischen Landkreisen 2010. Data obtained from FDZ in Düsseldorf.
- Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2012d). Statistische Berichte: Die Ernte ausgewählter Feldfrüchte in Hessen 2011. Kennziffer: C II 1 j/11, Wiesbaden.
- Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2012e). Statistische Berichte: Landwirtschaftszählung 2010 Betriebstypen, Gewinnermittlung und Umsatzbesteuerung. Kennziffer: C IV 10/10 7, Wiesbaden.
- Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2012f). Statistische Berichte: Landwirtschaftszählung 2010
 Betriebswirtschaftliche Ausrichtung, Einkommenkombinationen, Teilnahme an Förderprogrammen und Erneuerbare Energien. Kennziffer: C IV 10/10 4, Wiesbaden.
- Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2012g). Statistische Berichte: Landwirtschaftszählung 2010
 Eigentums- und Pachtverhältnisse. Kennziffer C IV 10/10 8, Wiesbaden.
- Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2012h). Statistische Berichte: Landwirtschaftszählung 2010 Erhebung über landwirtschaftliche Produktionsmethoden. Kennziffer: C IV 10/10 11, Wiesbaden.
- Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2012i). Statistische Berichte: Landwirtschaftszählung 2010 Gemeindeergebnisse. Kennziffer: C IV 10/10 -1a, Wiesbaden.
- Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2012j). Statistische Berichte: Landwirtschaftszählung 2010 Kreisergebnisse. Kennziffer: C IV 10/10 1b, Wiesbaden.
- Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2013). Landwirtschaftliche Betriebe mit der Rechtsform Einzelunternehmen in Hessen 2010 nach ihrer überwiegenden Einkommensquelle. URL: http://www.statistik-hessen.de/themenauswahl/landwirtschaft/landesdaten/agrarstruktur/land wirtschaftliche-betriebe-nach-ihrer-ueberwiegenden-einkommensquelle/index.html. (Access on 23/03/2013).
- Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2014a). Hessische Kreiszahlen Ausgewählte neue Daten für Landkreise und kreisfreie Städte. Band 1, 2. korrigierte Auflage, 29. Jahrgang, Wiesbaden.
- Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2014b). Statistische Berichte: Arbeitnehmerentgelte, Bruttolöhne und -gehälter in Hessen 2008 bis 2012 nach kreisfreie Städte und Landkreisen. Kennziffer: P I 5 - j/2008-2012 (rev.), Wiesbaden.

- Hinsley, S. and Bellamy, P. (2000). The influence of hedge structure, management and landscape context on the value of hedgerows to birds: a review. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 60:33–49.
- HMUKLV (2011). Jahresbericht 2011. Hessisches Ministerium f
 ür Umwelt, Klimaschutz, Landwirtschaft und Verbraucherschutz, Wiesbaden. URL: https://umweltministerium .hessen.de/sites/default/files/HMUELV/jahresagrarbericht_2011_internet_geschuetzt.pdf. (Access on 22/11/2016).
- HMUKLV (2015a). Entwicklungsplan für den ländlichen Raum des Land Hessen 2014-2020. Technical report, Hessisches Ministerium für Umwelt, Klimaschutz, Landwirtschaft und Verbraucherschutz, Wiesbaden. Zur Umsetzung des Europäischen Landwirtschaftsfonds für die Entwicklung des ländlichen Raums (ELER).
- HMUKLV (2015b). Hessisches Programm f
 ür Agrarumwelt- und Landschaftspflege-Ma
 ßnahmen HALM. Technical report, Hessisches Ministerium f
 ür Umwelt, Klimaschutz, Landwirtschaft und Verbraucherschutz, Wiesbaden. Guidelines 21-09-2015.
- HMWVL (2011). Bevölkerungsvorausschätzung in Hessen von 2010 bis 2030 auf Kreisebene. Technical report, Hessisches Ministerium für Wirtschaft, Verkehr und Landesentwicklung, Referat 13. URL: https://wirtschaft.hessen.de/sites/default/files/HMWVL/bevoelkerungsvor ausschaetzung_von_2010_bis_2030_auf_kreisebene_pdf_236_kb.pdf (Access on 12/01/2017).
- Holling, C. S. (1973). Resilience and stability of ecological systems. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, 4:1–23.
- Hötker, H. and Leuschner, C. (2014). Naturschutz in der Agrarlandschaft am Scheideweg -Misserfolge, Erfolge, neue Wege. Technical report, Michael Otto Stiftung für Umweltschutz.
- Howitt, R. (1995). Positive mathematical programming. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 77:329–342.
- Hurlbert, S. H. (1971). The nonconcept of species diversity: A critique and alternative parameters. *Ecology*, 52(4):577–586.
- Isaacs, R., Williams, N., Ellis, J., Pitts-Singer, T. L., Bommarco, R., and Vaughan, M. (2017). Integrated crop pollination: Combining strategies to ensure stable and sustainable yields of pollination-dependent crops. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 22(Supplement C):44 – 60.

Ives, A. and Carpender, S. (2007). Stability and diversity in ecosystems. Science, 317:58-62.

- Jackson, L., Pascual, U., and Hodgkin, T. (2007). Utilizing and conserving agrobiodiversity in agricultural landscapes. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 121:196–210.
- Janssen, S. and van Ittersum, M. (2007). Assessing farm innovations and responses to policies: A review of bio-economic farm models. *Agricultural Systems*, 94:622–636.
- Jauker, F., Diekötter, T., Schwarzbach, F., and Wolters, V. (2009). Pollinator dispersal in an agricultural matrix: opposing responses of wild bees and hoverflies to landscape structure and distance from main habitat. *Landscape Ecology*, 24:547–555.
- Jepsen, J., Baveco, J., Topping, C., Verboom, J., and Vos, C. (2005). Evaluating the effect of corridors and landscape heterogeneity on dispersal probability: a comparison of three spatially explicit modelling approaches. *Ecological Modelling*, 181(4):445 – 459.
- Johnston, B. and Mellor, J. (1961). The role of agriculture in economic development. *American Economic Review*, 51:566–593.
- Jones, J., Antle, J., Basso, B., Boote, K., Conant, R., Foster, I., Godfray, H., Herrero, M., Howitt, R., Janssen, S., Keating, B., Munoz-Carpena, R., Porter, C., Rosenzweig, C., and Wheeler, T. (2016). Brief history of agricultural systems modeling. *Agricultural Systems*, 155:240–254.
- Júdez, L. and Miguel, J. (2002). Modeling crop regional production using positive mathematical programming. *Mathematical and Computer Modelling*, 35:77–86.
- Julliard, R., Jiguet, F., and Couvet, D. (2004). Common bird facing global changes: what makes a species at risk? *Global Change Biology*, 10:148–154.
- Kächele, H. (1999). Auswirkungen großflächiger Naturschutzprojekte auf die Landwirtschaft.
 Ökonomische Bewertung der einzelbetrieblichen Konsequenzen am Beispiel des Naturparks Unteres Odertal. In *Agrarwirtschaf*, Frankfurt. Agrimedia. Sonderheft 163.
- Kächele, H. and Dabbert, S. (2002). An economic approach for a better understanding of conflicts between farmers and nature conservationists–an application of the decision support system MODAM to the Lower Odra Valley National Park. *Agricultural Systems*, 74:241–255.
- Kadoya, T. and Washitani, I. (2011). The satoyama index: A biodiversity indicator for agricultural landscapes. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 140:20–26.

- Kantelhardt, J. (2003). Perspektiven für eine extensive Grünlandnutzung. In *Agrarwirtschaft*, Bergen/Dumme. Agrimedia. Sonderheft 177.
- Kanter, D., Musumba, M., Wood, S., Palm, C., Antle, J., Balvanera, P., Dale, V. H., Havlík, P., Kline, K. L., Scholes, R., Thornton, P., Tittonell, P., and Andelman, S. (2016). Evaluating agricultural trade-offs in the age of sustainable development. *Agricultural Systems*. In press, corrected proof. Available online 15 October 2016.
- Kapfer, M., Ziesel, S., and Kantelhardt, J. (2015). Modelling individual farm behaviour and landscape appearance. *Landscape Research*, 40:530–554.
- Kay, J. (1993). On the nature of ecological integrity: some closing comments. In Woodley, S., Kay, J., and Francis, G., editors, *Ecological integrity ant the Management of Ecosystems*. University of Waterloo and Canadian Park Service, Ottawa.
- Kay, J., Regier, H., Boyle, M., and Francis, G. (1999). An ecosystem approach for sustainability: Addressing the challenge for complexity. *Futures*, 31:721–742.
- Keesing, F., Belden, L., Daszak, P., Dobson, A., Harvell, C., Holt, R., Hudson, P., Jolles, K., Jones, K.E. Mitchell, C., Myers, S., Bogich, T., and Ostfeld, R. (2010). Impacts of biodiversity on the emergence and transmission of infectious diseases. *Nature*, 468:647–652.
- Kellermann, K., Sahrbacher, C., and Balmann, A. (2008). Land market in agent based models of structural change. In *Modeling of Agricultural and Rural Development Policies*, Sevilla, Spain. 107th EAAE Seminar in Sevilla, Spain. January 29th February 1st.
- Kenny, D. (2017). Modeling of natural and social capital on farms: Toward useable integration. *Ecological Modelling*, 356:1–17.
- Khoury, C. K., Bjorkman, A. D., Dempewolf, H., Ramirez-Villegas, J., Guarino, L., Jarvis, A., Rieseberg, L. H., and Struik, P. C. (2014). Increasing homogeneity in global food supplies and the implications for food security. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111(11):4001–4006.
- Kinzig, A. P., Ryan, P., Etienne, M., Allison, H., Elmqvist, T., and Walker, B. H. (2006). Resilience and regime shifts: Assessing cascading effects. *Ecology and Society*, 11/1(20).
- Kissinger, M. and William, E. (2010). An interregional ecological approach for modelling sustainability in a globalizing world - reviewing existing approaches and emerging directions. *Ecological Modelling*, 221:2615–2623.

- Kleijn, D., Baguero, R., Clough, Y., Díaz, M., De Esteban, J., Férnandez, F., Gabriel, D., Herzog, F., Holzschuh, A., Jöhl, R., Knop, E., Kruess, A., Marshall, E., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Tscharntke, T., Verhulst, J., West, T., and Yela, J. (2006). Mixed biodiversity benefits of agri-environmental schemes in five European countries. *Ecology Letters*, 9:243–254.
- Klein, A., Vaissiere, B., Cane, J., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Cunningham, S., Kremen, C., and Tscharntke, T. (2007). Importance of pollinators in changing landscapes for world crops. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, 274:303–313.
- Knickel, K., Redman, M., Darnhofer, I., Ashkenazy, A., Calvão Chebach, T., Šūmane, S., Tisenkopfs, T., Zemeckis, R., Atkociuniene, V., Rivera, M., Strauss, A., Kristensen, L., Schiller, S., Koopmans, M., and Rogge, E. (2017). Between aspirations and reality: Making farming, food systems and rural areas more resilient, sustainable and equitable. *Journal of Rural Studies*, In press, corrected proof. Available online 1 July 2017.
- Koellner, T., de Baan, L., Beck, T., ao, M. B., Civit, B., Margni, M., Milá i Canals, L., Saad, R., Souza, D., and Müller-Wenk, R. (2013). UNEP-SETAC guidline on global land use impact assessment on biodiversity and ecosystem services in LCA. *International Journal on Life Cycle Assessment*, 18:1188–1202.
- Kragt, M., Pannell, D., McVittie, A., Stott, A., B.Vosough Ahmadi, and Wilson, P. (2016). Improving interdisciplinary collaboration in bio-economic modelling for agricultural systems. *Agricultural Systems*, 143:217–224.
- Kremen, C. (2005). Managing ecosystem services: what do we need to know about their ecology? *Ecology Letters*, 8:468–479.
- Ktbl (2013a). Leistungs- und Kostenrechnung Pflanzenbau. Kuratorium für Technik und Bauwesen in der Landwirtschaft. URL: http://daten.ktbl.de/dslkrpflanze/postHv.html;jsessionid (Access on 26/02/2013).
- Ktbl (2013b). Wirtschaftlichkeitsrechner Tier. Kuratorium für Technik und Bauwesen in der Landwirtschaft. URL: http://daten.ktbl.de/wkrtier/?tx_ktblsso_checktoken[token] (Access on 04/03/2013).
- Ktbl (2016). SGM Standard gross margins. Kuratorium für Technik und Bauwesen in der Landwirtschaft. URL: http://daten.ktbl.de/sdb/source.do (Access on 16/09/2016).

- Lai, C.-H., Hu, S.-W., Wang, V., and Chao, C.-C. (2017). Agricultural R&D, policies, (in)determinacy, and growth. *International Review of Economics & Finance*, 51(Supplement C):328 341.
- Lakner, S. and Bosse, A. (2016). Mühsames Abwägen (Zur ökologischen Vorrangfläche in Sachsen-Anhalt). *Bauernzeitung*, 10:50–51.
- Landi, C., Stefani, G., Rocchi, B., Lombardi, G. V., and Giampaolo, S. (2016). Regional differentiation and farm exit: A hierarchical model for Tuscany. *Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 67(1):208–230.
- Lanz, B., Dietz, S., and Swanson, T. (2018). The expansion of modern agriculture and global biodiversity decline: An integrated assessment. *Ecological Economics*, 144(Supplement C):260 – 277.
- Lauber, S. (2006). Ein agentenbasiertes, räumlich explizites Agrarstruktur- und Landnutzungsmodell für zwei Regionen Mittelbündens. In *Agrarstrukturwandel im Berggebiet*, Ettenhausen, Schweiz. Forschungsanstalt Agroscope Reckenholz-Tänikon ART. ART-Schriftenreihe 2.
- Leadley, P., Krug, C., Alkemade, R., Pereira, H., Sumalia, U., Walpole, M., Marques, A., Newbold, T., Teh, L., van Kolck, J., Bellard, C., Januchowski-Hartley, S., and Mumby, P. (2014). Progress towards the aichi biodiversity targets: An assessment of biodiversity trends, policy scenarios and key actions. Technical report, Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity.
- Leventon, J., Schaal, T., Velten, S., Dänhardt, J., Fischer, J., Abson, D. J., and Newig, J. (2017). Collaboration or fragmentation? biodiversity management through the common agricultural policy. *Land Use Policy*, 64:1–12.
- LfL (2017). *Gruber Tabelle zur Fütterung der Milchkühe, Zuchtrinder, Schafe und Ziegen.* Bayrische Landesanstalt für Landwirtschaft, 42. Auflage, Friesing-Weihenstephan.
- Ligtenberg, A., Bregt, A., and van Lammeren, R. (2001). Multi-actor-based land use modelling. Spatial planning using agents. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 56:21–33.
- Lindenmayer, D., Pierson, J., Barton, P., Beger, M., Branquinho, C., Calhoun, A., Caro, T., Greig, H., Gross, J., Heino, J., Hunter, M., Lane, P., Longo, C., Martin, K., McDowell, W. H., Mellin, C., Salo, H., Tulloch, A., and Westgate, M. (2015). A new framework for selecting environmental surrogates. *Science of The Total Environment*, 538:1029 – 1038.

- LLH (2012). *Stand und Perspektiven des Energiepflanzenbaus in Hessen*. Landesbetrieb Landwirtschaft Hessen. Projektgruppe Bioenergie-Hessen c/o Witzenhausen-Institut GmbH. Druckhaus Göttingen.
- LLH (2013). Gewinnsituation der hessischen Haupterwerbsbetriebe (konventionell) Wirtschaftsjahr (WJ) 2011/2012 - gestiegene Aufwendungen und Gewinnrückgang. Technical report, Landesbetrieb Landwirtschaft Hessen.
- LLH (2015). Erzeugnisse Ackerbau: Getreide Ölsaaten Grobleguminosen. Landesbetrieb Landwirtschaft Hessen. URL: http://agrarberatung.llh-hessen.de/markt/pflanze1/010425.html. (Access on 02/05/2015).
- LLH (2015). Landwirtschaftliche Lohnarbeitskräfte im Spannungsfeld rechtlicher Rahmenbedingungen und betrieblicher Erfordernisse. Landesbetrieb Landwirtschaft Hessen. Presentation of V. Wolfram (Regierungspräsidium Kassel) on the ALB meeting in Bad Hersfeld.
- Louhichi, K., Ciaian, P., Espinosa, M., Colen, L., Perni, A., and Gomez y Paloma, S. (2017). Does the crop diversification measure impact EU farmers' decisions? An assessment using an Individual Farm Model for CAP Analysis (IFM-CAP). *Land Use Policy*, 66:250–264.
- Luo, W. and Timothy, D. J. (2017). An assessment of farmers' satisfaction with land consolidation performance in China. *Land Use Policy*, 61(Supplement C):501 510.
- Mabry, K. and Barrett, G. (2002). Effects of corridors on home range size and inter-patch movement of three small mammal species. *Landscape Ecology*, 17:629–636.
- MacCann, K. (2000). The diversity-stability debate. Nature, 405:228–233.
- Mager, N. (2011). Umfang, Entwicklung und Einflussfaktoren des demographischen Wandels in den hessischen Regionen. Beitrag in der hessischen Städte- und Gemeindezeitung, Nr. 12/2010.
- Magurran, A. (2004). Measuring biological diversity. Blackwell Publishing.
- Maher, S. J., Fischer, T., Gally, T., Gamrath, G., Gleixner, A., Gottwald, R. L., Hendel, G., Koch, T., Lübbecke, M. E., Miltenberger, M., Müller, B., Pfetsch, M. E., Puchert, C., Rehfeldt, D., Schenker, S., Schwarz, R., Serrano, F., Shinano, Y., Weninger, D., Witt, J. T., and Witzig, J. (2017). The SCIP optimization suite 4.0. Technical Report 17-12, ZIB (Konrad-Zuse-Zentrum für Informationstechnik Berlin.

- Mandryk, M., Reidsma, P., and van Ittersum, M. K. (2012). Scenario of long-term farm structural change for application in climate change impact assessment. *Landscape Ecology*, 27:509–527.
- Manos, B., Bournaris, T., Chatzinikolaou, P., Berbel, J., and Nikolov, D. (2013). Effects of CAP policy on farm household behavior and social sustainability. *Land Use Policy*, 31:166–181.
- Marcos-Martinez, R., Bryan, B. A., Connor, J. D., and King, D. (2017). Agricultural land-use dynamics: Assessing the relative importance of socio-economic and biophysical drivers for more targeted policy. *Land Use Policy*, 63:53–66.
- Matthews, A. (2013). Greening agricultural payments in the EU's common agricultural policy. *Bio-based and Applied Economics*, 2(1):1–27.
- Matthews, R. and Selman, P. (2006). Landscape as a focus for integrating human and environmental processes. *Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 57(2):199–212.
- Mawick, A., Stahl, U., and Führer, J. (2011). Landwirtschaft in Hessen Zahlen und Fakten 2011. Technical report, Hessisches Ministerium für Umwelt, Energie, Landwirtschaft und Verbraucherschutz, Wiesbaden.
- McArthur, J. W. and McCord, G. C. (2017). Fertilizing growth: Agricultural inputs and their effects in economic development. *Journal of Development Economics*, 127(Supplement C):133 – 152.
- McCarl, B., Meeraus, A., and Van der Eijk, P. (2012). *McCarl Expanded GAMS User Guide version 23.6.* GAMS Development.
- Meinard, Y. and Grill, P. (2011). The economic valuation of biodiversity as an abstract good. *Ecological Economics*, 70:1707–1714.
- Metrick, A. and Weitzman, M. (1998). Conflicts and choices in biodiversity preservation. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 12(3):21–34.
- Meyer, B., Wolf, T., and Grabaum, R. (2012). A multifunctional assessment method for compromise optimisation of linear landscape elements. *Ecological Indicators*, 22:53–63.
- Meyer, S., Wesche, K., Krause, B., and Leuschner, C. (2013). Dramatic losses of specialist arable plants in Central Germany since the 1950/60s – A cross-regional analysis. *Diversity and Distributions*, 19:1175–1187.

- Meyer, U. (2005). Fütterung der Milchkühe. In *Rinderzucht und Milcherzeugung Empfehlung für die Praxis*. Landbauforschung Völkenrode Sonderheft 289, pp. 111-127.
- Meyerhoff, E. (2011). *Hecken planen, pflanzen, pflegen*. Joint effort of Bioland Beratung GmbH, Kompetenzzentrum Ökolandbau Niedersachsen, Forschungsinstitut für biologischen Landbau und Bio Austria.
- Millenium Ecosystem Assessment (2005). Cultivated systems. In *Ecosystem and Human Well Being: Current States and Trends*. Island Press.
- Möller, D., Fohrer, N., and Steiner, N. (2002). Quantifizierung regionaler Multifunktionalität land- und forstwirtschaftlicher Nutzungssysteme. In *Berichte über Landwirtschaft*, pages 393–418. Zeitschrift für Agrarpolitik und Landwirtschaft, Themenheft 'Multifunktionalität der Landnutzung im Rahmen des Sonderforschungsbereiches 299'.
- Möller, D., Kirschner, m., Weinmann, B., and Kuhlmann, F. (1998). Regionale Landnutzungsplanung und GIS: Bio-ökonomische Modellierung zur Unterstützung politischer Entscheidungsprozesse mit ProLand. In *Berichte der Gesellschaft für Informatik in der Land-, Forstund Ernährungswirtschaft*, chapter 11, pages 98–104.
- Möller, D., Weinmann, B., Kirschner, M., and Kuhlmann, F. (2000). Zur Bedeutung von Umweltauflagen für die räumliche Verteilung land- und forstwirtschaftlicher Nutzungssysteme: GIS-basierte Modellierung mit ProLand. In *Agrarwissenschaft auf dem Weg in die Informationsgesellschaft*, volume 36, pages 213–220. Schriften der Gesellschaft für Wirtschaftsund Sozialwissenschaften des Landbaues.
- Moosburger, A. (1999). Struktur- und Effizienzwirkungen einer Kapitalsubventionierung im *Transformationsprozess am Beispiel des Agrarsektors Polens*. PhD thesis. Humboldt-Universität Berlin, Landwirtschaftlich-gärtnerische Fakultät.
- Morelli, F., Pruscini, F., Santolini, R., Perna, P., Benedetti, Y., and Sisti, D. (2013). Landscape heterogeneity metrics as indicators of bird diversity: Determining the optimal spatial scale in different landscapes. *Ecological Indicators*, 34:372–379.
- Mottet, A., Ladet, S., Coqué, N., and Gibon, A. (2005). Agricultural land-use change and its drivers in mountain landscapes: a case study in the Pyrenees. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 114:296–310.

- Mouysset, L., Doyen, L., and Jiguet, F. (2012). Different policy scenarios to promote various targets of biodiversity. *Ecological Indicators*, 14:209–221.
- Mouysset, L., Doyen, L., and Jiguet, F. (2013). How does economic risk aversion affect biodiversity. *Ecological Applications*, 23(1):96–109.
- Müller, F. (2005). Ecosystem indicator for the integrated management of landscape health and integrity. In Joergensen, S., Constanza, R., and Xu, F.-L., editors, *Ecological Indicators for Assessment of Ecosystem Health*. CRC Press, N.W.
- Murray-Rust, D., Robinson, D., Guillem, E., and Karali, E. (2014). An open framework for agent based modelling of agricultural land use change. *Environmental Modelling and Software*, 61:19–38.
- Naeem, S. and Li, S. (1997). Biodiversity enhances ecosystem reliability. Nature, 390:507-509.
- Naeem, S., Thompson, L., Lawler, S., Lawton, J., and Woodfin, R. (1994). Declining biodiversity can alter the performance of ecosystems. *Nature*, 368:734–737.
- Noss, R. (2007). Values are a good thing in conservation biology. *Conservation Biology*, 21(1):18–20.
- Nuppenau, E.-A. and Helmer, M. (2007). An ecological-economic programming approach to modelling landscape-level biodiversity conservation. In Kontoleon, A., Pascual, U., and Swanson, T., editors, *Biodiversity Economics*. Cambridge University Press, New York.
- Öckinger, E. and Smith, H. (2007). Semi-natural grasslands as population sources for pollinating insects in agricultural landscapes. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 44(1):50–59.
- Olden, J., LeRoy Poff, N., Douglas, M., Douglas, M., and Fausch, K. (2004). Ecological and evolutionary consequences of biotic homogenization. *Trends in Ecological Evolution*, 19:18–24.
- Oppermann, R., Fried, A., Lepp, N., Lepp, T., and Lakner, S. (2016). Fit, fair und nachhaltig. Studie im Auftrag des NABU-Bundesverbands, Institut für Agrarökologie und Biodiversität (ifab).
- Oppermann, R., Gelhausen, J., Matzdorf, B., Reutter, M., Luick, R., and Stein, S. (2012). Gemeinsame Agrarpolitik ab 2014: Perspektiven f
 ür mehr Biodiversit
 äts- und Umweltleistungen der Landwirtschaft? F&E Projekt, ifab, zalf, HFR, BfN. Reform der Gemeinsamen Agrarpolitik (GAP) 2013 und Erreichung der Biodiversit
 äts- und Umweltziele.

- Palmu, E., Ekroos, J., Hanson, H. I., Smith, H. G., and Hedlund, K. (2014). Landscape-scale crop diversity interacts with local management to determine ground beetle diversity. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 15(3):241 – 249.
- Parker, D., Manson, S., Janssen, M., Hoffmann, M., and Deadman, P. (2003). Multi-agent systems for the simulation of land-use and land-cover change. A review. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers*, 93:314–337.
- Parks, K. and Mulligan, M. (2010). On the relation between a resource based measure of geodiversity and broad scale biodiversity patterns. *Biodiversity Conservation*, 19:2751–2766.
- Patton, M., Kostov, P., McErlean, S., and Moss, J. (2008). Assessing the influence of direct payments on the rental value of agricultural land. *Food Policy*, 33:397–405.
- Pavlis, E. S., Terkenli, T. S., Kristensen, S. B., Busck, A. G., and Cosor, G. L. (2016). Patterns of agri-environmental scheme participation in Europe: Indicative trends from selected case studies. *Land Use Policy*, 57:800 – 812.
- Pearce, D. (2007). Do we really care about biodiversity? In *Biodiversity Economics*. Cambridge University Press, New York.
- Pearce-Higgins, J., Eglington, S., Martay, B., and Chamberlain, D. (2015). Drivers of climate change impacts on bird communities. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 84:943–954.
- Pe'er, G., Dicks, L. V., Visconti, P., Arlettaz, R., Baldi, A., Benton, T. G., Dieterich, M., Gregory, R. D., Hartig, F., Henle, K., Hobson, P. R., Ibisch, P. L., Kleijn, D., Neumann, R. K., Robeijns, T., Schmidt, J., Shwartz, A., Sutherland, W. J., Turbe, A., Wulf, F., and Scott, A. V. (2014). EU agricultural reform fails on biodiversity. *Science*, 344:1090–1092.
- Pe'er, G., Zinngrebe, Y., Hauck, J., Schindler, S., Dittrich, A., Zingg, S., Tscharntke, T., Oppermann, R., Sutcliffe, L. M., Sirami, C., Schmidt, J., Hoyer, C., Schleyer, C., and Lakner, S. (2016). Adding some green to the greening: Improving the EU's ecological focus areas for biodiversity and farmers. *Conservation Letters*, pages n/a–n/a.
- Pereira, H., Ferrier, S., Walters, M., Geller, G., Jongman, R., Scholes, R., Bruford, M., Brummitt, N., Butchard, S., Cardoso, A., Coops, N., Dulloo, E., Faith, D., Freyhof, J., Gregory, R., Heip, C., H"oft, R., Hurtt, G., Jetz, W., Karp, D., McGeoch, M., Obura, D., Onoda, Y., Pettorelli, N., Reyers, B., Sayre, R., Scharlemann, J., Stuard, S., Turak, E., Walpole, M., and Wegmann, M. (2013). Essential biodiversity variables. *Science*, 339:277–278.

- Perrings, C. (1998). Resilience in the dynamics of economy-environment systems. *Environmental* and Resource Economics, 11:503–520. Series 3-4.
- Petrick, M. and Zier, P. (2012). Common agricultural policy effects on dynamic labour use in agriculture. *Food Policy*, 37:671–678.
- Pimentel, D. (2009). Energy inputs in food crop production in developing and developed nations. *Energies*, 2:1–24.
- Potts, S., Biesmeijer, J., Kremen, C., Neumann, P., Schweiger, O., and Kunin, W. (2010). Global pollinator declines: Trends, impacts and drivers. *Trends in Ecological Evolution*, 25:345–353.
- Pufahl, A. and Weiss, C. (2009). Evaluating the effects of farm programmes: Results from propensity score matching. *European Review of Agricultural Economics*, 36:79–101.
- Pufal, G., Steffan-Dewenter, I., and Klein, A.-M. (2017). Crop pollination services at the landscape scale. *Current Opinion in Insect Science*, 21:91 97.
- Rickard, S. (2015). Food security and climate change: The role of sustainable intensification, the importance of scale and the CAP. *EuroChoices*, 14(1):48–53.
- Ricketts, T. H., Regetz, J., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Cunningham, S. A., Kremen, C., Bogdanski, A., Gemmill-Herren, B., Greenleaf, S. S., Klein, A. M., Mayfield, M. M., Morandin, L. A., Ochieng, A., and Viana, B. F. (2008). Landscape effects on crop pollination services: are there general patterns? *Ecology Letters*, 11(5):499–515.
- Rizzo, D., Marraccini, E., Lardon, S., Rapey, H., Debolini, M., Benoît, M., and Thenail, C. (2013). Farming systems designing landscapes: land management units at the interface between agronomy and geography. *Geografisk Tidsskrift - Danish Journal of Geography*, 113:2:71–86.
- Roland, J., Keyghobadi, N., and Fowners, S. (2000). Alpine parnassius butterfly dispersal: effects of landscape and population size. *Ecology*, 81:1642–1653.
- Romano, L. and Traù, F. (2017). The nature of industrial development and the speed of structural change. *Structural Change and Economic Dynamics*, 42(Supplement C):26 37.
- Rosenthal, R. (2017). GAMS A User's Guide. GAMS Development Corporation.
- Rossing, W., Zander, P., Josien, E., Groot, J., Meyer, B., and Knierim, A. (2007). Integrative modelling approaches for analysis of impact of multifunctional agriculture: A review for France, Germany and the Netherlands. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 120:41–57.

- Rounsevell, M., Reginster, I., Araújo, M., Carter, T., Dendoncker, N., Ewert, F., House, J., Kankaanpä, S., Leemans, R., Metzger, M., Schmit, C., Smith, P., and Tuck, G. (2006). A coherent set of future land use change scenarios for Europe. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 114:57–68.
- Rüdisser, J., Walde, J., Tasser, E., Frühauf, J., Teufelbauer, N., and Tappeiner, U. (2015). Biodiversity in cultural landscapes: Influence of land use intensity on bird assemblages. *Landscape Ecology*, 30:1851–1863.
- Rydberg, T. and Haden, A. (2006). Emergy evaluations of Denmark and Danish agriculture: Assessing the influence of changing resource availability on the organization of agriculture and society. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 117(2):145 158.
- Sanderson, F., Kloch, A., Sachanowicz, K., and Donald, P. (2009). Predicting the effects of agricultural change on farm bird populations in Poland. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 129:37–42.
- Scheffer, M. and Carpenter, S. (2003). Catastrophic regime shifts in ecosystems: linking theory to observation. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 12(18):648–656.
- Schnicke, H., Happe, K., and C., S. (2007). Structural change and farm labour adjustments in a dualistic farm structure: A simulation study for the region Nitra in southwest Slovakia. Discussion Paper 112, Institute of Agricultural Development in Central and Eastern Europe (IAMO), Halle.
- Schönhardt, M., Schmid, E., and Schneider, U. (2009). CropRota A model to generate optimal crop rotations from observed land use. Discussion paper 45-2009, Universität für Bodenkultur, Wien.
- Schönhart, M., Schauppenlehner, T., Schmid, E., and Muhar, A. (2011). Integration of biophysical and economic models to analyze management intensity and landscape structure effects at farm and landscape level. *Agricultural Systems*, 104:122–134.
- Schönhart, M., Schauppenlehner, T., Schmidt, E., and Muhar, A. (2010). Analysing the maintenance and establishment of orchard meadows at farm and landscape levels applying a spatially explicit integrated modelling approach. *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management*, 54(1):115–143.

- Schouten, M., Opdam, P., Polman, N., and Westerhof, E. (2013). Resilience-based governance in rural landscapes: Experiments with agri-environment schemes using a spatially explicit agent-based model. *Land Use Policy*, 30:934–943.
- Schreinemachers, P. and Berger, T. (2011). An agent-based simulation model of humanenvironment interactions in agricultural systems. *Environmental Modelling & Software*, 26:845– 859.
- Schroers, J. O. (2005). Zur Entwicklung der Landnutzung auf Grenzstandorten in Abhängikeit agrar-marktpolitischer, agrarstrukturpolitischer und produktionstechnologischer Rahmenbedingungen - eine Analyse mit dem Simulationsmodell ProLand. PhD thesis, Justus-Liebig-University Giessen. Institute of Farm and Agribusiness Management.
- Settele, J., Penev, L., Georgiev, T., Grabaum, R., Grobelnik, V., Hammen, V., Klotz, S., Kotarac, M., and Kühn, I. (2010). *Atlas of Biodiversity Risk*. Pensoft Publishers.
- Sheridan, P. (2010). Das Landnutzungsmodell ProLand Erweiterungen, Operationalisierungen, Anwendungen. PhD thesis, Justus-Liebig-University Giessen. Institute of Farm and Agribusiness Management.
- Simpson, E. (1949). Measurement of diversity. Nature, 163:688-688.
- Smale, M. and King, A. (2005). Genetic resource policies, what is diversity worth to farmers? Briefs 13-18. Research at a glance, International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI).
- Solazzo, R., Donati, M., and Arfini, F. (2015). CAP towards 2020 and the cost of political choices: The case of Emilia-romagna region. *Land Use Policy*, 48:575–587.
- Sorg, M., Schwan, H., Stenmans, W., and Müller, A. (2013). Ermittlung der Biomassen flugaktiver Insekten im Naturschutzgebiet Orbroicher Bruch mit Malaise Fallen in den Jahren 1989 und 2013. *Mitteilungen aus dem Entomolgischen Verein Krefeld*, 1:1–5.
- Spangenberg, J. H. and Settele, J. (2010). Precisely incorrect? Monetising the value of ecosystem services. *Ecological Complexity*, 7(3, SI):327–337.
- Statistische Ämter des Bundes und der Länder (2013a). Bevölkerungsstand: Bevölkerung nach Geschlecht -Stichtag 31.12.- regionale Tiefe: Gemeinden, Samt- und Verbandsgemeinden. URL: https://www.regionalstatistik.de/genesis (Access on 21/03/2013).

- Statistische Ämter des Bundes und der Länder (2013b). Landwirtschaftliche Betriebe und deren landwirtschaftlich genutzte Fläche nach der betriebswirtschaftlichen Ausrichtung. GENESIS-Datenbank. URL: https://www.regionalstatistik.de/genesis (Access on 24.04.2013).
- Statistisches Bundesamt (2012). Ausgewählte Zahlen der Landwirtschaft aus der Agrarstrukturerhebung 2010. Fachserie 3, Reihe 1, Wiesbaden.
- Statistisches Bundesamt (2013). Landwirtschaftliche Betriebe, landwirtschaftlich genutzte Fläche: Deutschland. Representative Agrarstrukturerhebung. Data received upon request on 08/08/2013.
- Steffan-Dewenter, I. (2003). Importance of habitat area and landscape context for species richness of bees and wasps in fragmented orchard meadows. *Conservation Biology*, 17(4):1036–1044.
- Strohm, R. (1998). Verlaufsformen der Faktormobilität im Agrarstrukturwandel ländlicher Regionen. Eine empirische Studie am Beispiel von Betriebsaufgaben in den Kreisen Emsland und Werra-Meissner. PhD thesis, Universität Göttingen. Wissenschaftsverlag Vauk, Kiel.
- Thrupp, L. (2000). Linking agricultural biodiversity and food security: the valuable role of agrobiodiversity for sustainable agriculture. *International Affairs*, 76(2):283–297.
- Tilman, D., Cassman, K., Matson, P., Naylor, R., and Polasky, S. (2002). Agricultural sustainability and intensive production practices. *Nature*, 418:671–677.
- Tischendorf, L. and Fahrig, L. (2000). How should we measure landscape connectivity? *Landscape Ecology*, 15(7):633–641.
- Tscharnke, T., Tylianakis, J. M., Rand, T. A., Didham, R. K., Fahrig, L., Batàry, P., Bengtsson, J., Clough, Y., Crist, T., Dormann, C. F., Ewers, R. W., Fründ, J., Holt, R. D., Holzschuh, A., Klein, A. M., Kleijn, D., Kremen, C., Landis, D. A., Laurance, W., Lindenmayer, D., Scherber, C., Sodhi, N., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Thies, C., van der Putten, W. H., and Westphal, C. (2012). Landscape moderation of biodiversity pattern and processes eight hypotheses. *Biological Reviews*, 87:661–685.
- Tscharntke, T., Batàry, P., and Dormann, C. (2011). Set-aside management: How do succession, sowing patterns and landscape context affect biodiversity? *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 143:37–44.
- Tscharntke, T., Klein, A., Kruess, A., Steffan-Dewenter, I., and Thies, C. (2005). Landscape perspectives on agricultural intensification and biodiversity ecosystem service management. *Ecology Letters*, 8:857–874.

- Uthes, S., A., P., Zander, P., Bienkowski, J., Ungaro, F., Dalgaard, T., Stolze, M., Moschitz, H., Schader, C., Happe, K., Sahrbacher, A., Damgaard, M., Toussaint, V., Sattler, C., Reinhardt, F.-J., Kjeldsen, C., Casini, L., and Müller, K. (2011). Regional impacts of abolishing direct payments: An integrated analysis in four European regions. *Agricultural Systems*, 104:110–121.
- Valerio, F., Basile, M., Balestrieri, R., Posillico, M., Di Donato, S., Altea, T., and Matteucci, G. (2016). The reliability of a composite biodiversity indicator in predicting bird species richness at different spatial scales. *Ecological Indicators*, 71:627–635.
- Van der Zanden, E., Verburg, P., and Müchner, C. (2013). Modelling the spatial distribution of linear landscape elements in Europe. *Ecological Indicators*, 27:125–136.
- Van Passel, S., Nevens, F., Mathijs, E., and Van Huylenbroeck, G. (2007). Measuring farm sustainability and explaining differences in sustainable efficieny. *Ecological Economics*, 62:149– 161.
- Van Wenum, J., Wossink, G., and Renkema, J. (2004). Location-specific modeling for optimizing wildlife management on crop farms. *Ecological Economics*, 48:395–407.
- Van Zanten, B. T., Zasada, I., Koetse, M. J., Ungaro, F., Häfner, K., and Verburg, P. H. (2016). A comparative approach to assess the contribution of landscape features to aesthetic and recreational values in agricultural landscapes. *Ecosystem Services*, 17:87 – 98.
- Vandermeer, J. (2011). The Ecology of Agroecosystems. Jones and Bartlett Publishers, LLC.
- Verburg, P. and Veldkamp, A. (2005). Introduction to the special issue on spatial modeling to explore land use dynamics. *International Journal of Geographic Information Science*, 19:99–102.
- Waş, A., Zawalinska, K., and Britz, W. (2014). Impact of 'greening' the common agricultural policy on sustainability of European agriculture: From perspective of the Baltic Sea countries. *Journal of Agribusiness and Rural Development*, 4:191–212.
- Wahl, J., Dröschmeister, R., Gerlach, B., Grüneberg, C., Langgemach, T., Trautmann, S., and Sudfeldt, C. (2015). Vögel in Deutschland. Dachverband Deutscher Avifaunisten. Münster.
- Waldhardt, R., Bach, M., Borresch, R., Breuer, L., Diekötter, L., Frede, H.-G., Gäth, S., Ginzler, O., Gottschalk, T., Julich, S., Krumpholz, M., Kuhlmann, F., Otte, A., Reger, B., Reiher, W., Schmitz, K., Schmitz, M., Sheridan, P., Simmering, D., Weist, C., Wolters, V., and Zörner, D.

(2010). Evaluating today's landscape multifunktionality and providing an alternative future: A normative scenario approach. *Ecology and Society*, 15(3):30. [online].

- Walker, B., Holling, C. S., Carpender, S. R., and Kinzig, A. (2004). Resilience, adaptability and transformability in social-ecological systems. *Ecology and Society*, 9(2). Series 5.
- Walker, B. and Meyers, J. (2004). Thresholds in ecological and social-ecological systems: a developing database. *Ecology and Society*, 2(3). Series 9.
- Walker, B. and Salt, D. (2006). *Resilience thinking Sustaining Ecosystem and People in a Changing World*. Island Press, Washington, DC.
- Wang, Y., Wu, C., and Yang, L. (2014). Oil price shocks and agricultural commodity prices. *Energy Economics*, 44(Supplement C):22 – 35.
- Wasson, J., McLeod, D., Bastian, C., and Rashford, B. (2013). The effects of environmental amenities on agricultural land values. *Land Economics*, 89:466–478.
- Watling, J. and Donnelly, M. (2006). Fragments as islands: a synthesis of faunal responses to habitat patches. *Conservation Biology*, 20:1016–1025.
- Weber, A., Fohrer, N., and Möller, D. (2001). Long-term land use change in a mesoscale watewater due to socio-economic factors - effects on landscape structures and functions. *Ecological Modelling*, 140:125–140.
- Weinmann, B. (2002). Mathematische Konzeption und Implementierung eines Modells zur Simulation regionaler Landnutzungsprogramme. PhD thesis, Justus-Liebig-Universität Giessen. Erschienen in Agrarwirtschaft, Sonderheft 174.
- Weinmann, B., Schroers, J. O., and Sheridan, P. (2006). Simulating the effects of decoupled transfer payments using the land use model ProLand. *Agrarwirtschaft*, 55(5/6):248–256.
- Wetterauische Gesellschaft (2012). Jahresberichte der Wetterauischen Gesellschaft für die gesamte Naturkunde zu Hanau, gegr. 1808 - Sonderband Tertiär. pp. 1-243, 162. Jg., Hanau.
- Wildtierschutz Deutschland e.V. (2015). Hasenbestände gehen dramatisch zurück. http://www.wildtierschutz-deutschland.de/2015/03/hasenbestande-gehen-dramatischzuruck.html (Access on 28/11/2016).

- Woodhouse, P., Howlett, D., and Rigby, D. (2000). A framework for research on sustainability indicators for agriculture and rural livelihoods. Working paper 2. ISBN: 1902518624, 39 pp.
- Woods, B., Nielsen, H., Pedersen, A., and Kristofersson, D. (2017). Farmers' perceptions of climate change and their likely responses in Danish agriculture. *Land Use Policy*, 65(Supplement C):109 – 120.
- Wossink, A., Jurgens, C., and van Wenum, J. (1998). Optimal allocation of wildlife conservation areas within agricultural land. In Dabbert, S., Dubgaard, A., Slangen, L., and Whitby, M., editors, *The Economics of Landscape and Wildlife Conservation*, pages 205–216. CAB International, London, UK.
- Wossink, G., de Koeijer, T., and Renkema, J. (1992). Environmental-economic policy assessment: A farm economic approach. *Agricultural Systems*, 39:421–438.
- Zhang, W., Ricketts, T., Kremen, C., Carney, K., and Swinton, S. (2007). Ecosystem services and dis-services to agriculture. *Ecological Economics*, 64(2):253–260.
- Zimmermann, A. and Britz, W. (2016). European farms' participation in agri-environmental measures. *Land Use Policy*, 50:214 228.
- Zimmermann, A. and Heckelei, T. (2012). Structural change of European dairy farms a cross-regional analysis. *Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 63(3):576–603.
- Zinngrebe, Y., Pe'er, G., Schueler, S., Schmitt, J., Schmidt, J., and Lakner, S. (2017). The EU's ecological focus areas How experts explain farmers' choices in Germany. *Land Use Policy*, 65:93 108.





Figure A.1.: Landscape transformation via GIS: aggregated farms and rectangular stylized decision units within the study area.

Appendix B. Data: Model parameters

Model parameter	Unit	Value	Source
Off-farm wage	Euros per hour	9.8	Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2014b)
Family labour	hours per year	<i>L</i> 66	Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2012i)
Farm wage (permanent)	Euros per hour	15.5	LLH (2015)
Farm wage (seasonal)	Euros per hour	7.4	LLH (2015)
AES budget	Euros per year	1,027	BLE (2014)
Payments for AES	Euros per ha	750	HMUKLV (2015b)
Variable costs AES	Euros per ha	160	Calibration
Labour input coefficient AES	Euros per ha	2.78	Ktbl (2013a)
Capital input coefficient AES	Euros per ha	10.41	Ktbl (2013a)
Variable costs hedges	Euros per ha	5,407	Calculated on the base of Beiersdorf (2012)
Direct payments	Euros per ha	275.6	Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2012i)
Land rent	Euros per ha	214	Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2012c)
Rented land	Percentage	64	Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2012j)
Dry matter requirements cows	dt per year and stable place	60.6	Meyer (2005)
Energy requirements pigs	GJ per year and stable place	10.4	GfE (2006)
Protein requirement pigs	kg per year and stable place	78.5	GfE (2006)

Table B.1.: Model parameters: scalars and their units, values, and references.

Appendix C. Data: Farm sizes

Table C.1.: Initial farm sizes of the baseline model and field lengths of the stylized rectangular farms.

Farm	Field length [m]	Farm size [ha]
1	671.63	37.64
2	671.63	48.82
3	774.68	52.03
4	774.68	45.81
5	591.34	59.95
6	591.34	54.54
7	922.30	40.98
8	922.30	36.68
9	702.50	64.79
10	702.50	57.7
11	900.00	36.41
12	900.00	45.3
13	900.00	43.71
14	950.00	60.48
15	950.00	72.92
16	482.63	32.03
17	482.63	37.02
18	482.63	45.85
19	647.05	61.47
20	647.05	111.31
21	910.90	32.49
22	910.90	58.94
23	910.90	52.80
24	910.90	47.41

Appendix D.

Data: Grain price volatilities



Figure D.1.: Density functions for grain prices: Darmstadt district (2000/01 - 2014/15). Source: Ktbl (2016).

Appendix E. Data: Crop prices

Table E.1.: Crop prices used as parameters for the model in Euros/dt, their year of collection, regional scale, and references.

Activity	Price [Euros/dt]	Year	Regional scale	Source
Winter wheat	20	2010/11	Darmstadt district	Ktbl (2016)
Sugar beets	2.98	2010/11	Darmstadt district	Ktbl (2016)
Rapeseed	40.72	2010/11	Darmstadt district	Ktbl (2016)
Winter barley	17.8	2010/11	Darmstadt district	Ktbl (2016)
Permanent grassland - grass silage	2.594	2011	Hesse	LLH (2012)
Permanent grassland - hay	9	-	-	Internal farm price*
Potatoes	25.08	2010/11	Darmstadt district	Ktbl (2016)
Winter rye	19.15	2010/11	Darmstadt district	Ktbl (2016)
Fallow	0	-	-	-
Silo maize	2.8	2010/11	Darmstadt district	Ktbl (2016)
Silo maize for biogas plants	3.75	2011	Hesse	LLH (2012)
Corn cob mix	8.7	2012	Germany	Ktbl (2013a)
Corn maize	16.2	2015	Hesse	LLH (2015)
Weeds - grass silage	6.8	2011	Hesse	LLH (2012)
Triticale	17.7	2010/11	Darmstadt district	Ktbl (2016)
Summer peas	17.82	2010/11	Darmstadt district	Ktbl (2016)
Dairy	2,368**	2012	Germany	Ktbl (2013b)
Pig fattening	1,047.2***	2012	Germany	Ktbl (2013b)

*calibrated

**revenue (including milk, slaughter, and calves per stable place per year)

***revenue per stable place per year

Appendix F. Data: Fodder crops

Fodder crop	Energy [GJ/dt]	Proteins [kg/dt]	RNB	Dry matter [kg/dt]
Winter wheat	0.7421	14.79	-5	0.87
Winter barley	0.7038	14.18	-6	0.87
Permanent grassland - grass silage	0.2448	5.4	3	0.4
Permanent grassland - hay	0.4764	11.09	2	0.86
Winter rye	0.7325	14.09	-8	0.87
Silo maize	0.2352	4.69	-8	0.35
Corn cob mix	0.4764	9.54	-9	0.6
Corn maize	0.7291	14.62	-10	0.87
Weeds - grass silage	0.1957	4.59	3	0.17
Triticale	0.7212	14.09	-6	0.87
Summer peas	0.7378	16.18	12	0.87

Table F.1.: Fodder crops and their nutritional contents. Source: LfL (2017).



1			1	
Crop	Yield	Year	Regional scale	Source
	[dt/ha]			
Winter wheat	79.6	2011	Wetterau county	Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2012d)
Sugar beets	791	2011	Wetterau county	Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2012d)
Rapeseed	38.5	2011	Wetterau county	Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2012d)
Winter barley	69.8	2011	Wetterau county	Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2012d)
Permanent grassland - grass silage	280	2011	Hesse	LLH (2012)
Permanent grassland - hay	57.5	2012	Germany	Ktbl (2013a)
Potatoes	444.8	2011	Wetterau county	Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2012d)
Winter rye	58.3	2010/11	Darmstadt district	Ktbl (2016)
Fallow	0	·		1
Silo maize	473	2010/11	Darmstadt district	Ktbl (2016)
Silo maize for biogas plants	500	2011	Hesse	LLH (2012)
Corn cob mix	94.8	2011	Hesse	Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2012d)
Corn maize	93.7	2010/11	Darmstadt district	Ktbl (2016)
Weeds - grass silage	360	2011	Hesse	LLH (2012)
Triticale	60	2010/11	Darmstadt district	Ktbl (2016)
Summer peas	30.9	2011	Hesse	Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt (2012d)

Table G.1.: Yield levels used as parameters for the model in dt per ha, their year of collection, regional scale, and references.

Appendix H. Data: Labour coefficients

Table H.1.: Labour coefficients of the model activities in Akh/ha or stable place and year for different field sizes and livestock keeping activities. Source: Ktbl (2013a,b)

Model activity	2 ha	5 ha	10 ha	per stable place and year
Winter wheat	7.67	5.75	5.13	-
Sugar beets	5.91	4.56	4.06	-
Rapeseed	6.64	4.96	4.39	-
Winter barley	7.13	5.41	4.83	-
Permanent grassland - grass silage	12.09	10.42	10.42	-
Permanent grassland - hay	10.13	8.47	7.62	-
Potatoes	28.1	24.57	23.31	-
Winter rye	6.58	4.97	4.44	-
Fallow*	0.66	0.66	0.66	-
Silo maize	10.58	9.33	8.52	-
Silo maize for biogas plants	9.79	8.57	7.78	-
Corn cob mix	7.07	6.04	5.65	-
Corn maize	6.66	5.39	4.93	-
Weeds - grass silage	19.2	17.03	16.23	-
Triticale	6.69	5.06	4.53	-
Summer peas	5.9	4.51	3.99	-
Dairy	-	-	-	44.33
Pig fattening	-	-	-	1.02

*maintenance: mulching (5.5 m working width)

Appendix I. Data: Proximity functions

Table I.1.: Proximity functions for each crop: machine costs per labour hour. Calculated based on data from Ktbl (2013a).

Crop	Machine costs per labour hour	R^2
Winter wheat	f(x) = 12.975x + 106.97	0.9998
Sugar beets	f(x) = 18.365x + 147.93	0.9988
Rapeseed	f(x) = 13.386x + 117.98	0.9999
Barley	f(x) = 13.1x + 103.84	0.9999
Potatoes	f(x) = 12.465x + 302.02	0.9995
Maize (silage)	f(x) = 11.036x + 142.41	0.9945
Corn cob mix	f(x) = 13.673x + 115.61	0.9998
Permanent grassland (silage)	f(x) = 10.625x + 319.16	0.9997
Permanent grassland (hay)	f(x) = 10.865x + 161.16	0.9998
Grasses (silage)	f(x) = 11.535x + 549.36	0.9995
Triticale	f(x) = 13.64x + 97.961	0.9992
Rye	f(x) = 13.731x + 99.393	0.9993
Maize (silage biogas)	f(x) = 10.714x + 152.57	0.9748
Corn maize	f(x) = 12.649x + 375.21	0.9989
Summer peas	f(x) = 14.408x + 98.955	0.9996

Table I.2.: Logarithmic proximity functions for each crop: labour hours per field size. Calculated based on data from Ktbl (2013a).

Crop	Labour hours per field size	R^2
Winter wheat	f(x) = -1.833ln(x) + 9.5183	0.8956
Sugar beets	f(x) = -1.257ln(x) + 7.1173	0.9053
Rapeseed	f(x) = -1.58ln(x) + 8.2004	0.899
Barley	f(x) = -1.637ln(x) + 8.7727	0.8952
Potatoes (permanent employees)	f(x) = -2.733ln(x) + 20.646	0.8892
Potatoes (seasonal workers)	f(x) = -0.926ln(x) + 11.3	0.928
Maize (silage)	f(x) = -1.382ln(x) + 12.061	0.872
Corn cob mix	f(x) = -0.988ln(x) + 8.0582	0.8944
Permanent grassland (silage)	f(x) = -1.631ln(x) + 13.832	0.8657
Permanent grassland (hay)	f(x) = -1.58ln(x) + 11.715	0.893
Grasses (silage)	f(x) = -2.14ln(x) + 21.487	0.8661
Triticale	f(x) = -1.534ln(x) + 8.2179	0.8962
Rye	$f(x) = -1.515\ln(x) + 8.0837$	0.8979
Maize (biogas)	f(x) = -1.349ln(x) + 11.253	0.8637
Corn maize	f(x) = -1.241 ln(x) + 7.9384	0.8871
Summer peas	f(x) = -1.334ln(x) + 7.2316	0.8962

Appendix J.



labour hours per ha approximated for an average field size of 3 ha.		
Table J.1.: Labour requirement equations for each crop:	Calculations based on data from Ktbl (2013a).	

Crop	equation
Winter wheat	$labreq_wheat_{g,f} \geq 5.67154367 + 5.499 \div Xfix_{g,f,'wheat'} \cdot gwnn_size_g$
Sugar beets	$labreq_sugarbeets_{g,f} \ge 4.479344353 + 3.771 \div Xfix_{g,f,'sugarbeets'} \cdot gwnn_size_g$
Rapeseed	$labreq_rapeseeds_{g,f} \geq 4.88459258 + 4.74 \div Xfix_{g,f',rapeseeds'} \cdot gwnn_size_g$
Barley	$labreq_barley_{g,f} \geq 5.33727168 + 4.911 \div Xfix_{g,f,'barley'} \cdot gwnn_size_g$
Potatoes (permanent employees)	$labreq_pP_{g,f} \ge 14.9104926 + 8.199 \div Xfix_{g,f,'pP'} \cdot gwnn_size_g$
Potatoes (seasonal workers)	$labreq_sP_{g,f} \geq 11.391315 + 2.778 \div Xfix_{g,f',sP'} \cdot gwnn_size_g$
Maize (silage)	$labreq_maizes ilage_{g,f} \geq 9.16071782 + 4.146 \div Xfix_{g,f,maizes ilage'} \cdot gwnn_size_{g}$
Corn cob mix	$labreq_ccm_{g,f} \geq 4.741644014 + 4.635 \div Xfix_{g,f'ccm'} \cdot gwnn_size_g$
Permanent grassland (silage)	$labreq_pGsilage_{g,f} \geq 10.9904571 + 3.15 \div Xfix_{g,f'pGsilage'} \cdot gwnn_size_g$
Permanent grassland (hay)	$labreq_pGhay_{g,f} \geq 8.93065432 + 3.144 \div Xfix_{g,f'pGhay'} \cdot gwnn_size_g$
Grasses (silage)	$labreq_grasses_{g,f} \ge 17.7990568 + 4.014 \div Xfix_{g,f',grasses'} \cdot gwnn_size_g$
Triticale	$labreq_triticale_{g,f} \geq 5.50782379 + 3.078 \div Xfix_{g,f,'triticale'} \cdot gwnn_size_g$
Rye	$labreq_rye_{g,f} \geq 5.40770575 + 3.039 \div Xfix_{g,f,'rye'} \cdot gwnn_size_g$
Maize (silage biogas)	$labreq_maizeBG_{g,f} \geq 8.9979838 + 2.343 \div Xfix_{g,f'maizeBG'} \cdot gwnn_size_{g}$
Corn maize	$labreq_corn_{g,f} \geq 5.73777123 + 2.532 \div Xfix_{g,f,'corn'} \cdot gwnn_size_g$
Summer peas	$labreq_peas_{g,f} \geq 4.87443923 + 2.679 \div Xfix_{g,f,'peas'} \cdot gwnn_size_g$

Appendix K. Data: Financial and cost coefficients

Table	K.1.:	Financial	and cost	coefficients	of the	model	activities.	Source:	Ktbl ((2013a,ł))
										() -	

Activity	Financial coeffi-	Variable costs	Direct costs	Machine cost
	cients [Euro/ha]	[Euro/ha]	[Euro/ha]	coefficients
				[Euro/ha]
Winter wheat	64.76	992.08	766.47	12.975
Sugar beets	61.14	1371.84	1096.10	18.365
Rapeseed	61.21	987.64	759.45	13.386
Winter barley	58.38	799.08	593.03	13.100
Permanent grassland - grass silage	50.5	834.25	386.22	10.625
Permanent grassland - hay	32.14	295.37	100.37	10.865
Potatoes	328.88	3270.81	2584.28	12.465
Winter rye	56.32	740	536.19	13.731
Fallow	2.97	638.04*	638.04	-
Silo maize	97.22	867.5	620.45	11.036
Silo maize for biogas plants	63.86	714.58	435.15	10.714
Corn cob mix	68.68	834.53	506.58	13.673
Corn maize	61.69	951.85	488.32	12.649
Weeds - grass silage	79.85	915.67	501.94	11.535
Triticale	56.32	737.86	532.13	13.640
Summer peas	54.4	535.21	349.36	14.408
Dairy	59.11	1032	-	-
Pig fattening	3.77	1016.4	-	-

*Opportunity costs for wheat production plus machine costs for mulching

Appendix L. Results: Land use patterns

Table L.1.: Baseline land use results of the linear programming iterations as a % of the cropping area at the municipality level compared to statistical data of the calibration year (received from HLUG).

			thi neration	
50.0	51.7	50.0	50.0	
16.4	16.4	16.4	16.4	
22.3	10.6	22.3	24.2	
0.7	7.9	0.7	0.7	
2.3	2.3	2.3	2.3	
-	1.3	0	0	
0.5	0.6	0.5	-	
1.0	0.6 (n.d)	1.0	1.0	
0.9	0.4	0.9	0.3	
-	0.2	-	-	
-	-	-	-	
-	-	-	-	
1.1	n.d (5 %)	1.1	-	
3.9	n.d (5 %)	3.9	5.0	
0.8	-	0.8	-	
-	-	-	-	
0.11	n.d	0.11	0.11	
	50.0 16.4 22.3 0.7 2.3 - 0.5 1.0 0.9 - - - 1.1 3.9 0.8 - 0.11	50.0 51.7 16.4 16.4 22.3 10.6 0.7 7.9 2.3 2.3 - 1.3 0.5 0.6 1.0 0.6 (n.d) 0.9 0.4 - 0.2 - - 1.1 n.d (5 %) 3.9 n.d (5 %) 0.8 - - - 0.11 n.d	50.0 51.7 50.0 16.4 16.4 16.4 22.3 10.6 22.3 0.7 7.9 0.7 2.3 2.3 2.3 - 1.3 0 0.5 0.6 0.5 1.0 0.6 (n.d) 1.0 0.9 0.4 0.9 - 0.2 - - $ 1.1$ $n.d$ (5 %) 3.9 0.8 $ 0.8$ - $ 0.11$ $n.d$ 0.11	
Table L.2.: Land use result	s of the linear program	ming iterations as	s a % of the	cropping area at
-----------------------------	----------------------------	--------------------	--------------	------------------
the municipality	y level for the sensitivit	y analysis on grai	n prices.	

Crop [%]	1st iteration	2nd iteration	4th iteration
Wheat	0.2	0.2	0.1
Sugar beets	16.4	16.4	16.4
Rapeseed	25.0	25.0	25.0
Barley	0.7	0.7	0.4
Potatoes	2.3	2.3	2.3
Silage maize	0.4	0.4	-
Silage maize (biogas)	1.0	1.0	1.0
Corn maize	46.7	48.1	49.6
Corn cob mix	-	-	-
Grass silage (permanent grassland)	0.8	1.2	-
Hay (permanent grassland)	4.2	3.8	5.0
Weed silage	0.4	0.8	-
Summer peas	1.7	-	-
Flowering strips	0.11	0.11	0.11

Table L.3.: Land use results of the linear programming iterations as a % of the cropping area at the municipality level for the sensitivity analysis on higher and lower land rent prices.

Crop [0]	1st iteration		2nd iteration		4th iteration	
	High	Low	High	Low	High	Low
Wheat	50	50	50	50	50	50
Sugar beets	16.4	16.4	16.4	16.4	16.4	16.4
Rape seeds	22.3	22.3	22.3	22.3	24.2	24.5
Barley	0.7	0.7	0.7	0.7	0.7	0.5
Potatoes	2.3	2.3	2.3	2.3	2.3	2.3
Silage maize	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	-	-
Silage maize (biogas)	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0
Corn maize	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.3	0.2
Corn-Cobb mix	-	-	-	-	-	-
Grass silage (permanent grassland)	1.1	1.1	1.1	1.1	-	-
Hay (permanent grassland)	3.9	3.9	3.9	3.9	5	5
Weed silage	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	-	-
Summer peas	-	-	-	-	-	-
Flowering strips	0.11	0.11	0.11	0.11	0.11	0.11

Table L.4.: Land use results of the 2nd and 4th iterations for all three scenarios as a percentage of the agricultural area at the municipality level.

	CAP I		CA	P II	'Nature-focus'	
Crop type	2nd iteration	4th iteration	2nd iteration	4th iteration	2nd iteration	4th iteration
Wheat	49.8	50.0	49.8	50	46.8	50
Sugar beets	16.4	16.4	16.4	16.4	16.4	16.4
Rape seeds	14.7	16.3	12.0	13.6	3.9	2.4
Barley	0.7	0.7	0.7	0.5	0.7	0.7
Potatoes	2.3	2.3	2.3	2.3	2.3	2.3
Rye	-	-	-	-	-	-
Silage maize	0.6	-	0.6	-	0.6	-
Silage maize (biogas)	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0
Corn maize	0.4	0.03	0.3	0.06	0.3	0.06
Triticale	-	-	-	-	-	-
Corn-Cobb mix	-	-	-	-	-	-
Grass silage (permanent	0.9	-	0.8	-	0.8	-
grassland)						
Hay (permanent grass-	4.1	5.0	4.1	5.0	4.2	5.0
land)						
Weed silage	0.8	-	0.8	-	0.8	-
Summer peas	7.1	7.1	10.0	10.0	10.0	10.0
Flowering strips/fields	0.09	0.09	0.09	0.09	11.1	11.1

Appendix M. Results: Grassland farms

Table M.1.: Farms with permanent grassland in ha and distribution to farm types. Results are the same for the baseline model as well as for the sensitivity analyses on lower and higher land rents.

Farm	Grassland area [ha]	Farm type
Farm 9	17.4	Dairy producing farm
Farm 17	9.7	Dairy producing farm
Farm 19	17.4	Dairy producing farm
Farm 22	17.4	Dairy producing farm

Table M.2.: Farms with permanent grassland in ha from the 1st iteration of the sensitivity analysis on grain prices and distribution to farm types.

Farm	Grassland area [ha]	Farm type
Farm 2	1.3	Arable farm
Farm 6	2.4	Arable farm
Farm 9	10.5	Dairy producing farm
Farm 17	14.6	Dairy producing farm
Farm 19	14.0	Dairy producing farm
Farm 21	1.1	Pig farm
Farm 22	17.9	Dairy producing farm

Appendix N. Results: Total gross margins

Table N.1.: Total gross margins (TGMs) of the 1st and 2nd iterations of the baseline model per farm in Euros.

Farm	Farm size [ha]	TGM 1st iteration [Euros]	TGM 2nd iteration [Euros]
1	37.7	38,435	42,942
2	48.8	70,337	47,772
3	52.0	48,625	118,199
4	45.8	44,657	45,428
5	60.0	70,947	76,529
6	54.5	51,306	52,224
7	41.0	40,979	41,668
8	36.7	37,013	38,321
9	64.8	66,526	66,871
10	57.7	52,944	53,920
11	36.4	79,109	37,347
12	45.3	66,473	45,031
13	43.7	50,090	43,030
14	60.5	63,314	56,848
15	72.9	65,305	164,294
16	32.0	34,162	34,701
17	37.0	50,528	51,537
18	45.9	68,075	41,571
19	61.5	63,010	64,727
20	111.3	93,419	96,427
21	32.5	33,743	34,294
22	58.9	61,654	64,710
23	52.8	96,755	50,870
24	47.4	44,693	46,674

XXXVIII

Table N.2.: Total gross margins (TGMs) of the 4th iteration of the baseline model per farm in Euros.

Farm	TGM [Euros]	Farm size [ha]
1	73,147	74.4
2	14,182	12.1
3	93,124	97.8
4	0	0
5	107,011	114.5
6	0	0
7	43,869	43.1
8	36,560	34.5
9	0	0
10	100,023	122.5
11	20,152	18.1
12	163,357	74.8
13	32,961	32.5
14	0	0
15	122,652	133.4
16	62,471	73.6
17	0	0
18	97,889	41.3
19	0	0
20	183,990	172.8
21	76,820	91.43
22	0	0
23	53,637	55.5
24	44,474	44.7

Appendix O. Results: Feeding practices

Table	0.1.:	Feeding	practices	of all	pig	fattening	farms	for the	linear	program	ning i	iterations.
ruore	0.1	recume	practices	or un	P ¹ 5	rationing	raims	ioi une	moui	programm	ining i	noracions.

Farm	Wheat [dt]	Barley [dt]	Corn maize [dt]	Hay [dt]
1st iteration				
3	210.3	118.3	99.7	-
10	210.3	118.3	99.7	-
11	210.3	118.3	99.7	-
13	210.3	118.3	99.7	-
21	210.3	118.3	99.7	-
2nd iteration				
3	210.3	118.3	99.7	-
10	210.3	118.3	99.7	-
11	210.3	118.3	99.7	-
13	210.3	118.3	99.7	-
21	210.3	118.3	99.7	-
4th iteration				
3	210.3	118.3	99.7	-
10	210.3	118.3	-	152.7
11	210.3	118.3	99.7	-
13	210.3	118.3	99.7	-
21	210.3	118.3	-	152.7

Ist iteration 34.7 820.9 796.7 9 34.7 195.1 $1,344.$ 17 34.7 820.9 796.7 19 34.7 820.9 796.7 22 34.7 820.9 796.7 20d iteration 34.7 820.9 796.7 9 34.7 820.9 796.7 17 34.7 820.9 796.7 9 34.7 820.9 796.7 19 34.7 820.9 796.7 19 34.7 820.9 796.7 10 34.7 820.9 796.7 117 22 34.7 820.9 796.7 117 $ -$ 12 $ -$ 19 $ -$ 19 $ -$ 22 34.7 820.9 796.7 23 $ -$ 19 $ -$ 19 $ -$ 22 $ -$ 23 $ -$ 24 $ -$ 22 $ -$ 23 $ -$ 24 $ -$ 25 $ -$ 26 $ -$ 27 $ -$	ce maize [dt] Grass silage [dt]	Hay [dt]	Weed silage [dt]	Corn maize [dt]
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$				
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	820.9 796.7	835.9	891.2	
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	195.1 1,344.3	281.8	891.2	554.1
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	820.9 796.7	835.9	891.2	
2nd iteration 34.7 820.9 796.7 9 34.7 820.9 796.7 17 34.7 820.9 796.7 19 34.7 820.9 796.7 22 34.7 820.9 796.7 22 34.7 820.9 796.7 17171922232422232422232425	820.9 796.7	835.9	891.2	ı
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$				
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	820.9 796.7	835.9	891.2	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	195.1 1,344.3	281.8	891.2	554.1
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	820.9 796.7	835.9	891.2	·
4th iteration - - 9 - - 17 - - 19 - - 22 - -	820.9 796.7	835.9	891.2	ı
9 17 19 19 10 11 10 11 10 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11				
17 - - 19 - - 22 - -	1	ı	·	ı
19	1	ı	ı	ı
22	1	ı	ı	ı
	1	ı	I	ı

JS.	×
ig iteration	Hay [dt]
lear programmin	Grass silage [dt]
farms for the lin	Silage maize [dt]
of all dairy	Wheat [dt]
[able 0.2.: Feeding practices	Farm
Г	



Table P.1.: Off-farm and hired labour per farm for the 1st iteration of the baseline model.

Farm	Farm size [ha]	Off-farm labour [hours]	Hired labour [hours]	
1	37.64	734	-	
2	48.82	579	-	
3	52.03	600	-	
4	45.81	677	-	
5	59.95	527	-	
6	54.54	616	-	
7	40.98	711	-	
8	36.68	733	-	
9	64.79	-	673	
10	57.7	561	-	
11	36.41	569	-	
12	45.3	590	-	
13	43.71	633	-	
14	60.48	550	-	
15	72.92	488	-	
16	32.03	773	-	
17	37.02	-	453	
18	45.85	599	-	
19	61.47	-	656	
20	111.31	208	-	
21	32.49	737	-	
22	58.94	-	635	
23	52.80	473	-	
24	47.41	653	-	

Farm	Farm size [ha]	Off-farm labour [hours]	Hired labour [hours]	
1	37.64	783	-	
2	48.82	740	-	
3	52.03	485	-	
4	45.81	756	-	
5	59.95	622	-	
6	54.54	710	-	
7	40.98	781	-	
8	36.68	804	-	
9	64.79	-	563	
10	57.7	661	-	
11	36.41	772	-	
12	45.3	759	-	
13	43.71	734	-	
14	60.48	679	-	
15	72.92	322	-	
16	32.03	828	-	
17	37.02	-	387	
18	45.85	710	-	
19	61.47	-	545	
20	111.31	412	-	
21	32.49	793	-	
22	58.94	-	527	
23	52.80	719	-	
24	47.41	748	-	

Table P.2.: Off-farm and hired labour per farm for the 2nd iteration of the baseline model.

Farm	Farm size [ha]	Off-farm labour [hours]	Hired labour [hours]	
1	73,147	647	-	
2	14,182	940	-	
3	93,124	507	-	
4	0	-	-	
5	107,011	461	-	
6	0	-	-	
7	43,869	795	-	
8	36,560	835	-	
9	0	-	-	
10	100,023	327	-	
11	20,152	870	-	
12	163,357	386	-	
13	32,961	812	-	
14	0	-	-	
15	122,652	373	-	
16	62,471	586	-	
17	0	-	-	
18	97,889	645	-	
19	0	-	-	
20	183,990	0	-	
21	76,820	476	-	
22	0	-	-	
23	53,637	737	-	
24	44,474	787	-	

Table P.3.: Off-farm and hired labour per farm for the 4th iteration of the baseline model.

Farm size [ha] Off-farm labour [hours] Hired labour [hours] Farm 1 37.64 749 -2 48.82671 _ 3 52.03 621 _ 4 45.81 697 _ 5 59.95 587 54.54 6 620 _ 7 40.98 731 _ 8 753 36.68 7 9 64.79 -10 57.7 309 _ 11 36.41 566 _ 12 45.3 695 _ 13 43.71 679 -14 60.48 599 -15 72.92 470 _ 789 16 32.03 -17 37.02 107 _ 18 45.85 648 _ 19 61.47 600 20 111.31 266 -21 32.49 675 _ 593 22 58.94 23 52.80 651 -24 47.41 690 -

Table P.4.: Off-farm and hired labour per farm for the 1st iteration of the sensitivity analysis on grain prices.

Off-farm labour [hours] Hired labour [hours] Farm Farm size [ha] 1 37.64 798 -2 48.82506 _ 3 52.03 700 _ 4 45.81 762 _ 5 59.95 690 -54.54 701 6 _ 7 40.98 780 -8 36.68 809 9 64.79 509 -10 57.7 671 -11 36.41 731 _ 12 45.3 765 _ 13 43.71 735 -14 60.48 677 -15 72.92 624 -16 32.03 827 _ 17 37.02 387 -18 45.85 586 _ 507 19 61.47 20 111.31 427 -21 32.49 673 507 22 58.94 727 23 52.80 -24 47.41 754 -

Table P.5.: Off-farm and hired labour per farm for the 2nd iteration of the sensitivity analysis on grain prices.

Farm size [ha] Off-farm labour [hours] Hired labour [hours] Farm 1 ---2 86.46 329 -3 23.51 856 -4 74.33 650 -5 114.49 461 -6 --_ _ 7 _ _ 8 77.66 634 9 --_ 10 122.49 202 _ 125.42 387 11 _ 12 --_ 13 ---14 _ -_ 279 15 133.4 _ 16 ----17 _ _ 18 114.9 406 _ 19 -_ 20 172.78 127 -21 91.43 496 _ 22 ---23 739 55.48 -24 44.73 790 -

Table P.6.: Off-farm and hired labour per farm for the 4th iteration of the sensitivity analysis on grain prices.

Table P.7.: Farm sizes in ha and off-farm labour in hours of the 4th iteration of the alternate policy designs.

	CAP I		CAP II		'nature-focused'	
Farm	Size [ha]	Off-farm [hours]	Size [ha]	Off-farm [hours]	Size [ha]	Off-farm [hours]
1	-	-	86.5	350	37.8	641
2	86.5	573	-	-	48.7	723
3	97.8	259	97.8	454	56.7	719
4	-	-	-	-	41.2	610
5	-	-	62.6	704	114.5	411
6	114.5	463	51.8	559	-	-
7	-	-	77.7	635	43.1	809
8	77.7	635	-	-	34.5	847
9	-	-	-	-	-	-
10	122.5	156	122.5	341	122.5	341
11	39.1	783	8.2	926	8.3	927
12	53.2	749	59.1	722	80.5	648
13	33.1	811	58.2	694	36.6	698
14	54.4	608	133.4	377	133.4	419
15	79.0	629	-	-	-	-
16	54.1	744	37.7	822	37.7	833
17	-	-	-	-	-	-
18	60.8	679	77.2	601	77.2	628
19	-	-	-	-	-	-
20	172.8	127	172.8	-	172.8	110
21	91.4	483	91.4	483	91.4	494
22	-	-	-	-	-	-
23	45.1	786	74.8	650	85.3	622
24	55.1	697	25.4	878	14.9	931





Figure Q.1.: Spatially explicit Simpson's diversity index calculation for the 2nd (*left*) and 4th iterations (*right*) of CAP I.



Figure Q.2.: Spatially explicit Simpson's diversity index calculation for the 2nd (*left*) and 4th iterations (*right*) of CAP II.



Figure Q.3.: Spatially explicit Simpson's diversity index calculation for the 2nd (*left*) and 4th iterations (*right*) of the 'nature-focused' policy design.



Figure Q.4.: Spatially explicit semi-natural habitat index calculation for the 2nd (*left*) and 4th iterations (*right*) of CAP I.



Figure Q.5.: Spatially explicit semi-natural habitat index calculation for the 2nd (*left*) and 4th iterations (*right*) of CAP II.



Figure Q.6.: Spatially explicit semi-natural habitat index calculation for the 2nd (*left*) and 4th iterations (*right*) of the 'nature-focused' policy design.



Figure Q.7.: Spatially explicit number of patches index calculation for the 2nd (*left*) and 4th iterations (*right*) of CAP I.



Figure Q.8.: Spatially explicit number of patches index calculation for the 2nd (*left*) and 4th iterations (*right*) of CAP II.



Figure Q.9.: Spatially explicit number of patches index calculation for the 2nd (*left*) and 4th iterations (*right*) of the 'nature-focused' policy design.